TURUN YLIOPISTON JULKAISUJA ANNALES UNIVERSITATIS TURKUENSIS

SARJA - SER. D OSA - TOM. 966 MEDICA - ODONTOLOGICA

# **FRACTURES IN OLDER PEOPLE** – incidence, predictors and consequences

by

Maarit Piirtola

TURUN YLIOPISTO UNIVERSITY OF TURKU Turku 2011 From the Institute of Clinical Medicine, Family Medicine, University of Turku, Turku, Finland; the Unit of Family Medicine, Turku University Hospital, Turku, Finland; The Satakunta Central Hospital, Pori, Finland; the Härkätie Health Centre; Lieto, Finland; and the Turku City Hospital, Turku, Finland.

#### **Supervisors**

Professor Sirkka-Liisa Kivelä (MD, PhD, Chief Physician) University of Turku, Institute of Clinical Medicine, Family Medicine, Turku, Finland Satakunta Central Hospital, Pori, Finland Turku University Hospital, Unit of Family Medicine, Turku, Finland

Professor Raimo Isoaho (MD, PhD, Chief Physician) University of Turku, Institute of Clinical Medicine, Family Medicine, Turku, Finland Malax-Korsnäs Health Centre, Malax, Finland Nordic School of Public Health, Gothenburg, Sweden

Professor Ismo Räihä (MD, PhD, Chief Physician) University of Turku, Institute of Clinical Medicine, Family Medicine, Turku, Finland Turku University Hospital, Unit of Family Medicine, Turku, Finland Department of Internal Medicine, Turku City Hospital, Turku, Finland

#### Reviewed by

Adjunct professor Ilona Nurmi-Lüthje (PhD, Head of the Centre) University of Helsinki, Hjelt Institute, Department of Public Health, Helsinki, Finland Centre for Injury and Violence Prevention (Start), Kouvola, Finland

and

Adjunct professor Risto Honkanen (MD, PhD) University of Eastern Finland, Department of Public Health, Finland University of Eastern Finland, Bone and Cartilage Research Unit, Clinical Research Center, Kuopio Campus, Kuopio, Finland

#### **Opponent**

Professor Jaakko Valvanne (MD, PhD) University of Tampere, Tampere, Finland

ISBN 978-951-29-4636-5 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-4637-2 (PDF) ISSN 0355-9483 Painosalama Oy – Turku, Finland 2011

To my dearest family

# ABSTRACT

Maarit Piirtola

#### FRACTURES IN OLDER PEOPLE

- incidence, predictors and consequences

The Institute of Clinical Medicine, Department of Family Medicine, University of Turku, Finland. Annales Universitatis Turkuensis, Medica – Odontologica Series D.

In older populations, fractures are common and the consequences of fractures may be serious both for an individual and for society. However, information is scarce about the incidence, predictors and consequences of fractures in population-based unselected cohorts including both men and women and a long follow-up.

The objective of this study was to analyse the incidence and predictors of fractures as well as functional decline and excess mortality due to fractures, among 482 men and 695 women aged 65 or older in the municipality of Lieto, Finland from 1991 until 2002. In analyses, Poisson's, Cox proportional Hazards and Cumulative Logistic regression models were used for the control of several confounding variables.

During the 12-year follow-up with a total of 10 040 person-years (PY), 307 (26%) persons sustained altogether 425 fractures of which 77% were sustained by women. The total incidence of fractures was 53.4 per 1000 PY (95% confidence intervals [95% CI]: 47.9 - 59.5) in women and 24.9 per 1000 PY (95% CI: 20.4 - 30.4) in men. The incidence rates of fractures at any sites and hip fractures were associated with increasing age. No significant changes in the age-adjusted incidence rates of fractures were found in either gender during the 12-year follow-up.

The predictors of fractures varied by gender. In multivariate analyses, reduced handgrip strength and body mass index (BMI) lower than 30 in women and a large number of depressive symptoms in men were independent predictors of fractures. A compression fracture in one or more thoracic or upper lumbar vertebras on chest radiography at baseline was associated with subsequent fractures in both genders.

Lower body fractures independently predicted both short- (0-2 years) and long-term (up to 8 years) functional decline in mobility and activities of daily living (ADL) performance during the 8-year follow-up. Upper body fractures predicted decline in ADL performance during long-term follow-up.

In the 12-year follow-up, hip fractures in men (Hazard Ratio [HR] 8.1, 95% CI: 4.4-14.9) and in women (HR 3.0, 95% CI: 1.9-4.9), and fractures at the proximal humerus in men (HR 5.4, 95% CI: 1.6-17.7) were independently associated with excess mortality. In addition, leisure time inactivity in physical exercise predicted independently both functional decline and excess mortality.

Fractures are common among older people posing serious individual consequences. Further studies about the effectiveness of preventing falls and fractures as well as improving care and rehabilitation after fractures are needed.

Keywords: Aged, activities of daily living, consequence, follow-up, fractures, functional decline, elderly, incidence, mobility, mortality, older people, physical exercise, population-based, predictors, risk factors.

# TIIVISTELMÄ

Maarit Piirtola

#### IKÄÄNTYVIEN JA IÄKKÄIDEN HENKILÖIDEN MURTUMAT

- ilmaantuvuus, ennustavat tekijät ja seuraukset

Lääketieteellinen tiedekunta, kliininen laitos, yleislääketiede, Turun yliopisto. Annales Universitatis Turkuensis, Medica – Odontologica Series D.

Murtumat ovat iäkkäillä henkilöillä yleisiä ja niiden seuraukset voivat olla sekä yksilölle että yhteiskunnalle vakavia. Murtumien ilmaantuvuudesta, vaaratekijöistä ja seurauksista on kuitenkin olemassa vain vähän edustaviin väestöaineistoihin perustuvia kohorttitutkimuksia, joissa sekä miehiä että naisia on seurattu pitkään.

Liedon läkkäät - tutkimuksen tavoitteina oli analysoida murtumien ilmaantuvuutta, vaaratekijöitä sekä murtumien yhteyttä ennenaikaisen toimintakyvyn heikkenemisen ja kuoleman vaaraan 65 vuotta täyttäneillä henkilöillä. Kahdentoista vuoden seurantatutkimukseen (1991–2002) osallistui 482 lietolaista miestä ja 695 naista (n=1177), ja heistä 616 henkilöä kuului toimintakyvyn muutosta kuvaavaan kahdeksan vuoden (1991-1999) seurantaan. Tutkimuksen analysoinneissa käytettiin Poissonin, Coxin ja kumulatiivisia logistisia regressiomalleja. Luunmurtumien ilmaantuvuus, vaaratekijät ja yhteys ennenaikaisen kuoleman vaaraan analysoitiin erikseen miehillä ja naisilla.

Seuranta-aikana (10 040 henkilövuotta [HV]), 307 (26 %) henkilöä sai yhteensä 425 murtumaa. Murtumista 77 % sattui naisille. Minkä tahansa murtuman ilmaantuvuus oli naisilla 53.4 / 1000 HV (95 %:n luottamusväli [95 % CI]: 47.9 – 59.5) ja miehillä 24.9 / 1000 HV (95 % CI: 20.4 – 30.4). Kaikkien murtumien ja lonkkamurtumien ilmaantuvuus kasvoi iän myötä, mutta rannemurtumien ilmaantuvuus ei ollut yhteydessä ikään. Kahdentoista seurantavuoden aikana ei havaittu tilastollisesti merkitsevää muutosta murtumien ikävakioidussa vuosittaisessa ilmaantuvuudessa.

Murtumien vaaratekijät liittyvät kaatumisiin sekä luun haurastumiseen liittyviin tekijöihin, ja niissä oli eroja miesten ja naisten välillä: naisilla käden heikko puristusvoima ja normaali tai alhainen kehon painoindeksi (BMI) sekä miehillä depressiivisten oireiden suuri määrä. Kompressiomurtuma yhdessä tai useammassa rintarangan tai ylemmän lannerangan nikamassa ennusti itsenäisesti tulevia luunmurtumia sekä miehillä että naisilla.

Kahdeksan vuoden seuranta-aikana alakehon murtumat lisäsivät ongelmia liikkumiskyvyssä ja päivittäisistä toiminnoista selviytymisessä (ADL) sekä lyhyen (0-2 vuotta) että pitkän (2-8 vuotta) seurannan aikana. Yläkehon murtumat ennustivat ongelmia päivittäisistä perustoiminnoista selviytymisessä pitkän seurannan aikana.

Miesten (Hazard Ratio [HR] 8.1, 95 % CI: 4.4-14.9) ja naisten (HR 3.0, 95 % CI: 1.9-4.9) lonkkamurtumat sekä miesten olkavarren yläosan murtumat (HR 5.4 95 % CI: 1.6-17.7) lisäsivät ennenaikaisen kuoleman vaaraa. Vapaa-ajan fyysisessä harjoittelun vähäisyys ennusti itsenäisesti sekä ennenaikaista toimintakyvyn heikkenemistä että kuolemaa.

Murtumat ovat iäkkäillä henkilöillä yleisiä ja niillä on vakavia seurauksia. Tarvitaan lisää tutkittua tietoa tehokkaista kaatumisten ja murtumien ehkäisymenetelmistä. Myös murtumapotilaiden hoitoa ja kuntoutusta tulee kehittää.

Avainsanat: Ikääntyvät ja iäkkäät henkilöt, ilmaantuvuus, fyysinen harjoittelu, kuolleisuus, liikkumiskyky, murtumat, päivittäiset toiminnot, seuraukset, seurantatutkimus, toimintakyvyn lasku, vaaratekijät, väestötutkimus.

# CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	4
TIIVISTELMÄ	5
CONTENTS	6
ABBREVIATIONS	8
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	9
1. INTRODUCTION	10
2. BONE PHYSIOLOGY AND PATHOLOGY	. 11
2.1 Bones	. 11
2.1.1 Age-related changes	. 12
2.1.2 Osteoporosis	13
2.2 Fractures	. 13
2.2.1 Diagnosis	. 13
2.2.2 Classification and coding	. 14
2.2.3 Treatment and healing process	. 19
3. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	. 21
3.1 Incidence of fractures	. 21
3.1.1 Hip	21
3.1.2 Forearm and wrist	22
3.1.3 Proximal humerus	23
3.1.4 Vertebra	. 24
3.1.5 Secular change	. 25
3.2. Predictors for falls and fractures	. 26
3.2.1 Fall-related risk factors	. 27
3.2.2 Falling and environmental hazards	. 30
3.2.3 Bone-related risk factors	. 32
3.3 Functional decline and fractures	. 33
3.3.1 Short-term follow-up	. 36
3.3.2 Long-term follow-up	. 37
3.4 Excess mortality and fractures	. 40
3.4.1 Hip fractures	. 40
3.4.2 Fractures of the proximal humerus	. 42
3.4.3 Vertebral fractures	. 42
3.4.4 Forearm and wrist fractures	43
3.4.5 Other fractures	. 43
3.5 Summary and need for further research	. 43
4. AIMS OF THE STUDY	. 45
5. MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 46
5.1 Study settings and subjects	. 46
5.2 Informed consent and ethical approvals	. 46
5.3 Data collection	. 46
5.3.1 Baseline interviews, tests and measurements	. 48
5.3.2 Fractures	49

5.3.3 Functional ability in the 8-year follow-up	. 50
5.3.4 Mortality	. 50
5.4 Statistical analyses	. 51
5.4.1 Incidence rates of fractures	. 51
5.4.2 Predictors (risk factors) of fractures	. 52
5.4.3 Fractures and functional ability	. 52
5.4.4 Fractures and mortality	. 53
6. RESULTS	. 55
6.1 Background data	. 55
6.2 Sustained fractures	. 55
6.2.1 During the 8- and 12-year follow-ups	. 55
6.2.2 Before the baseline	. 58
6.2.3 During the whole lifespan	. 58
6.3 Incidence of fractures (Study I)	. 58
6.3.1 Incidence of the first fracture	. 60
6.3.2 Incidence of upper limb fractures	. 60
6.3.3 Incidence of lower limb fractures	. 61
6.3.4 Incidence of other fractures	. 62
6.3.5 Changes in number and incidence of fractures over time	. 62
6.4 Predictors of fractures (Study II)	. 63
6.5 Functional ability in the 8-year follow-up	. 64
6.5.1 Change in functional ability	. 64
6.5.2 Fractures and functional decline (Study III)	. 65
6.5.3 Other predictors of functional decline (Study III)	. 65
6.5.4 Drop-out analysis	. 65
6.6 Mortality (Study IV)	. 67
6.6.1 General predictors of excess mortality	. 67
6.6.2 Fractures as predictors of excess mortality	. 67
7. DISCUSSION	. 69
7.1 Strengths and limitations of the study	. 69
7.2 Results	. 72
7.2.1 All fractures	. 72
7.2.2 Hip fractures	. 78
7.2.3 Proximal humerus	. 82
7.2.4 Other fractures	. 83
7.3 Implications for further studies	. 85
8. CONCLUSIONS	. 86
9. RECOMMENDATIONS	. 87
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	. 88
REFERENCES	. 92
APPENDICES	111
ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	119

## **ABBREVIATIONS**

ADL	Activities of daily living
ASA	American Society of Anesthesiologists
BMD	Bone Mineral Density
BMI	Body Mass Index
COR	Cumulative Odds Ratio
DXA	Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry
GEE	Generalised estimation equations
HR	Hazard Ratio
HV	Henkilövuosi
ICD-9	International Classification of Diseases version 9
ICD-10	International Classification of Diseases version 10
IADL	Instrumental activities of daily living
kPa	KiloPascal
MMSE	Mini- Mental State Examination
ns	Statistically non significant
OR	Odds Ratio
PY	Person year
RR	Risk Ratio
SD	Standard Deviation
ZSDS	Zung Self-rating Depression Scale
WHO	The World Health Organization
95%CI	95% Confidence Interval

## LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- I Piirtola M, Vahlberg T, Isoaho R, Aarnio P, Kivelä S-L. Incidence of fractures and changes over time among the aged in a Finnish municipality: a population-based 12-year follow-up. Aging Clinical and Experimental Research 2007;19(4):269-276.
- II Piirtola M, Vahlberg T, Isoaho R, Aarnio P, Kivelä S-L. Predictors of fractures among the aged a population-based study with 12-year follow-up in a Finnish municipality. Aging Clinical and Experimental Research 2008;20(3):242-52.
- III Piirtola M, Löppönen M, Vahlberg T, Isoaho R, Kivelä S-L, Räihä I. Fractures as independent predictors of functional decline in older people a population-based study with an 8-year follow-up. Submitted.
- IV Piirtola M, Vahlberg T, Löppönen M, Räihä I, Isoaho R, Kivelä S-L. Fractures as predictors of excess mortality in the aged - a population-based study with a 12-year follow-up. European Journal of Epidemiology 2008;23(11):747-55.

The published original articles have been reproduced with the kind permission of the copyright holders.

These articles are referred to in the text by Roman numerals I-IV.

### 1. INTRODUCTION

Falls and fall-related injuries are common among older persons all over the world (Kannus et al. 2005a; Stevens et al. 2006). Out of all fall-related injuries needing medical attention in older people, every second injury is reported to be a fracture (Johansson 1998). In 2000, the worldwide occurrence of fragility fractures in adults aged 50 years or older was estimated as 9 million (Johnell & Kanis 2006). In Finland, the annual number of hip fractures has been around 7000 in people aged 50 years or older during the years 2000 and 2006 (Kannus et al. 2006; Sund 2006). Because the number of old people is increasing, the number of fractures has been estimated to double (Piirtola et al. 2001) and the number of hip fractures to double or even triple by the year 2030 (Kannus et al. 2006).

The costs of fracture care are high (Piirtola et al. 2002; Nurmi et al. 2003; Borgström et al. 2006). In Finland, the average total cost of one hip fracture patient during the first post-operative year was 14 410 euros in 2003 (Nurmi et al. 2003) and 19 150 euros in 2010, but as much as 47 100 euros if a previously home-dwelling person is placed into a nursing home (Nurmi-Lüthje 2011 unpublished data). Of the fracture costs, 88% are due to fractures in women (Piirtola et al. 2002). Also in the US, the medical expenditures have been reported to be 2-3 times higher for women than for men (Stevens et al. 2006). In the future, however, the number (Piirtola et al. 2001) and the costs of fall-related injuries will rise more rapidly in older men than women (Piirtola et al. 2002).

The impact of fractures on functional performance can be serious (Nurmi et al. 2004; Johnell & Kanis 2006) and lead also to excess mortality (Bliuc et al. 2009). In addition to physical performance and management in activities of daily living (ADL) tasks, hip fractures may seriously affect health-related quality of life (Willig et al. 2001; Borgström et al. 2006). Thus, fracture prevention is an important public health issue.

Falls and fractures can be prevented (Gillespie et al. 2009; Karinkanta et al. 2010). There has, however, been inconsistency regarding the role of fall-related factors and bone fragility in sustaining fractures (Kanis et al. 2005a; Kannus et al. 2005b). Furthermore, it has been reported that factors associated with an increased risk of falls differ between men and women (Campbell et al. 1989). Thus, more detailed information about the gender-specific predictors of fractures is needed in order to make prevention of fractures more effective. Furthermore, more information about the independent impact of fractures on functional decline and excess mortality is needed for planning health and social care services for the aged fracture patients both in acute and long-term care. Lastly, information on gender- and age-specific incidences of fractures as well as secular change of incidence over time and distribution of fractures by type of fracture is also needed to follow the effect of preventive actions.

## 2. BONE PHYSIOLOGY AND PATHOLOGY

#### 2.1 Bones

There are over 200 bones in a human skeleton (Bjålie et al. 2008). They provide protection for vital organs and form a rigid framework, the skeleton, both for standing and locomotion (Morgan et al. 2008). Bone marrow is the source for blood cells (hematopoiesis) and there is interplay between the bone organ system and the immune system. In addition, bones are involved in metabolic pathways associated with mineral homeostasis of calcium, phosphorus and magnesium. (Morgan et al. 2008).

Bone tissue is not only strong and stiff but also living and dynamic (Morgan et al. 2008). Bone consists of an organic component mainly composed of collagen, bone cells and noncollagenous proteins (20-30% by weight) together with an inorganic component formed by calcium and phosphate (60-70% by weight) and 8-10% water. It is constantly undergoing change: small amounts of bone tissue are continuously being broken down and rebuilt in co-operation between bone resorbing cells (osteoclasts) and bone forming cells (osteoblasts). This is called the remodelling process. In normal states, remodelling serves to balance the load especially in areas where the loading demands are repeatedly high. (Morgan et al. 2008). Two types of bone can be identified according to the pattern of collagen forming the osteoid ("bone unit"): woven bone and lamellar bone (Khan et al. 2001). Woven bone is produced in newborns and in adults after fracture. It is later replaced by stronger lamellar bone.

The skeleton is composed of two parts: the axial skeleton including the head and the trunk, and the appendicular skeleton including bones of the limbs (extremities) and the pelvic girdle (Morgan et al. 2008). Bones can be classified according to their shapes into four types: long, short, flat, or irregular (Bjålie et al. 2008). Long bones include the arm and leg bones; short bones include the bones of the wrist and the ankle; flat bones include ribs, sternum, pelvic, and most of the bones in the skull; and the irregular bones include vertebras along our spine and some small cranial bones.

Long bones, as the tibia, femur, and humerus, can be divided into three parts: the epiphysis, metaphysis, and diaphysis (Morgan et al. 2008). The hard outer layer of bones is composed of compact bone tissue (cortical bone). The interior of the bone epiphysis and metaphysis is filled with trabecular bone tissue, which composes a network for rod- and plate-like elements that make the overall organ lighter and allow room for blood vessels. Trabecular bone accounts only for 20% of the total bone mass but has nearly ten times the surface area of compact bone (Morgan et al. 2008). The proportion of trabecular bone is highest in vertebra (up to 80%) (Ferrari & Ringe 2010) and in the intertrochanteric region of proximal femur (50%), whereas in the middle of radius the proportion of it is only 1% (Khan et al. 2001). The inner and outer surfaces of cortical bones are covered by membranes: endosteum (inner surface) and periosteum

(outer side of bone), each playing an important role in bone modelling and remodelling, as well as in the process of healing after fractures (Morgan et al. 2008).

The mechanical, biological and biochemical demands as well as the microstructure of the bones varies across anatomic sites (Currey 2003; Morgan & Bouxsein 2008). Because bones adapt to the loads imposed on them (Currey 2003; Morgan & Bouxsein 2008), the elastic properties of the bone (collagen fibrae) orient themselves according to the load (Bouxsein 2008). Thus bone is generally strongest in the primary loading direction and, for example, cortical bone in the femoral diaphysis has a high modulus when loaded in the longitudinal direction and trabecular bone in the vertebra body is stronger in the vertical direction compared with transverse direction (Bouxsein 2008). This is why different bone sites bear load (stress) differently and are more easily broken if stress comes from an unusual loading direction (Currey 2003; Morgan & Bouxsein 2008).

#### 2.1.1 Age-related changes

Bones change with development and aging (Boskey & Coleman 2010). The length and diameter of bone increase with age, ending at early adulthood when peak bone mass is attained (Morgan et al. 2008; Seeman 2008). Males generally exhibit a longer growth period, resulting in bones of greater size, mass and overall bone strength. After the age of around 20 years, the adaptive modelling and remodelling capacity of bone diminishes which results to a negative balance: each time slightly less bone is deposited than has been resorbed. In males after the age of 20, bone resorption becomes predominant, and bone mineral content declines about 4% per decade. Females tend to maintain peak mineral content until menopause, after which it declines about 15% per decade and the remodelling process is accelerated. With increasing age, areal and volumetric bone mineral densities decline both in cortical and trabecular bone (Beck et al. 2000). In addition to the age-related increased mineralisation of the matrix, these material changes lead to stiffer but more brittle bones (Bouxsein 2008). However, it is noticeable that not all individuals' bones age similarly (Boskey & Coleman 2010).

There are also structural changes in bone: the thickness of the cortex decreases but the diameter of the bone increases (Morgan & Bouxsein 2008; Aro & Kettunen 2010). More likely, this change in bone geometry allows the bone to resist bending and torsional loads better (Beck et al. 2000; Aro & Kettunen 2010). Changes occur also in the microarchitecture of trabecular bone and vertebra; for example, it becomes more vulnerable in twisting movements of the body (Bouxsein 2008).

With all age-related changes together, bones' mechanical properties, as ability for deformation and absorption of energy while loaded (stressed), decrease and bones become more brittle and less tough. These changes lead to fragility of bone, e.g. presence of osteopenia and osteoporosis (Seeman 2008). However, even a fragile bone copes well with normal living and will break only by external force (Currey 2003).

#### 2.1.2 Osteoporosis

Osteoporosis is an extremely "aging" condition of bones (Boskey & Coleman 2010) and is defined as "a systemic skeletal disease characterised by low bone mass and microarchitectural deterioration of bone tissue with a consequent increase in bone fragility and susceptibility to fractures" (Consensus development conference: diagnosis, prophylaxis, and treatment of osteoporosis 1993; The WHO Study Group 1994). Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA) with the cut-off values set by the working group of the World Health Organization (WHO) is used as the gold-standard for diagnosing osteoporosis and monitoring changes in bone mineral density (BMD) over time. BMD is commonly expressed as a T-score, the standard deviation variance of the patient's BMD compared to a young normal reference population (Miller 2006a; Kanis et al. 2008a). Osteoporosis is defined with as a BMD that lies 2.5 standard deviations (SD) or more below the average for young healthy women (a T-score of <-2.5 SD) (Kanis et al. 1994).

The prevalence of osteoporosis increases with age after the age of 50 years, more rapidly in females than in males (Kanis et al. 1994). In older age, osteoporosis is three times more common in women than in men, partly because women have a lower peak bone mass and partly because of the hormonal changes that occur after the menopause (Miller 2006a; Kanis et al. 2008a). It has been estimated that altogether 30% of the fractures in men, 66% in women and altogether 70% of all inpatient fractures are potentially "osteoporotic" (Court-Brown & Caesar 2006). In 2000, the worldwide estimation of fragile fractures was 9 million in the population of 50 years old or older (Johnell & Kanis 2006).

#### 2.2 Fractures

Fracture is a break or crack in bone. Typical types of fractures are greenstick, spiral, comminuted, transverse, compound and compression fractures (Aro & Kettunen 2010). Fractures occur when an area of bone cannot withstand the force exerted on it (Kannus et al. 2005b; Aro & Kettunen 2010). A normal and healthy bone does not break without external force (injury). However, a fracture might occur more easily due to minimal trauma by an acquired disease of bone such as osteoporosis, osteomalasia, or by abnormal formation of bone in a disease such as osteogenesis imperfecta ("brittle bone disease"), fatigue breakage (a stress fracture) because of repeated micro-trauma, or tumours (Aro & Kettunen 2010). Therefore, there are two critical factors in determining why a fracture occurs: the strength of the bone and the energy of the event (Kannus et al. 2005b; Bouxsein 2008; Aro & Kettunen 2010).

#### 2.2.1 Diagnosis

A diagnosis of a fracture is based on the history and circumstances of an injury, and the physical signs and symptoms. Often a fracture is easy to detect because there is obvious deformity, swelling and local tenderness. Usually, the patient cannot bear weight or pressure on the injured area and may be unable to move the injured limb without severe pain. In lower extremities, even a slightly broken bone is tender to

pressure and thus fracture patients complain pain in standing and walking. (Aro & Kettunen 2010).

A fracture can be displaced or non-displaced. If the skin over the fracture is lacerated or torn, the term "open fracture" is used. An X-ray is taken to confirm the diagnosis and to clarify the type of fracture in order to define the treatment method. (Aro & Kettunen 2010). However, a normal X-ray does not necessarily exclude a probability of a fracture, and for example in hip fracture patients, initial X-ray images have appeared to be completely normal for 1% of the patients (The British Orhopaedic Association 2007; Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network 2009). Besides, approximately 15% of hip fractures are non-displaced, and therefore produce no shortening or external rotation of the limb (The British Orhopaedic Association 2007). Where there is doubt about the diagnosis, other diagnostic imaging tests, such as computed tomography and magnetic resonance should be used (Vandevenne et al. 2000; Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network 2009). These methods are also used to rule out other causes of pain, such as pathologic fractures (Vandevenne et al. 2000).

#### 2.2.2 Classification and coding

The main issue in classification of fractures is the location: a bone and a region of the bone that need to be identified (The WHO 1995; Marsh et al. 2007). Also classification about the severity of a fracture for the purpose of clinical treatments has been developed (Neer 1970; Marsh et al. 2007). For clinical purposes, fractures are classified according to their location, character and severity (AO Foundation 2009).

*The International Classification of Diseases (ICD)* has been used in coding and recording diseases and injuries as fractures (The WHO 2009). In Finland, the ICD -9 set of codes has been used during the years 1990-1995. From the year 2005 onwards the version number 10 has been used (The WHO 1995). In ICD-10, fractures are coded in chapter XIX section S.

In the ICD-10 version, the first axis of the numbered code is categorising the site of body and the second axis the type of injury. In fractures, the third digit specifies the bone(s) and the fourth code, 1 or 0, shows if or not there is an open wound related to the fracture. Category S02 includes fractures of the skull and face, S12 fractures of cervical vertebras, S22 fractures of rib(s), sternal bone and thoracic area, S32 fractures of the pelvic, S42 all fractures of collar bone, shoulder blade, humerus fractures and other shoulder fractures, S52 forearm and wrist fractures (radius and ulna), S62 small wrist bones and hand fractures, S72 hip and femur fractures, S82 knee and tibia (tibial, fibular, patella and inner and outer malleolus) fractures and S92 foot fractures. In the subcategories, hip fractures with S52, tibia and ankle fractures with S82, rib(s) fractures with S22.3 and S22.4, proximal humerus fractures with S42.2, and thoracic and lumbar compression fractures with S22.0 and S32.0. Even though the external causes of injuries may be used in ICD-10 coding, they are rarely used in the Finnish clinical health care system.

#### Hip fractures (S72.0, S72.1, S72.2)

The term hip fracture refers to a fracture of the upper end of the femur, above a point 5 cm below the distal part of the lesser trochanter (Gillespie 2001). Fractures are categorised according to which part of the bone is involved: femoral neck or cervical fractures (*fractura colli femoris*, S72.0), fractures around the trochanteric region, i.e. inter-/ pertrochanteric fractures (*fractura pertrochanterica, intertrochanterica femoris*, S72.1) and subtrochanteric fractures (*fractura subtrochterica femoris*, S72.2) (Picture 1) (The WHO 1995; Sund et al. 2009). Hip fractures can also be classified into intracapsular (proximal to the point at which the hip joint capsule is attached to the femur, S72.0) and extra-capsular fractures (distal to the hip joint capsule, S72.1 and S72.2) (Gillespie 2001; Parker 2008; Sund et al. 2009). Intracapsular fractures can be subdivided into displaced and non-displaced fractures (Parker 2008). Besides femoral bone, damage or deformity of the acetabulum or injury to the cartilage is connected with hip fractures (Committee of the Institute of Medicine Division of Health Care Services 1990).



Picture 1. Classification of hip fractures.

#### Fractures of the proximal humerus (S42.2)

Fractures of the proximal humerus are called fractures involving the glenohumeral articulation (Picture 2). Most of them (80%) are non-displaced or minimally displaced (Court-Brown et al. 2001).

#### Fractures of the forearm and wrist (S52)

Wrist fractures can be defined as fractures in the distal part of the radius (Hagino et al. 1999) whereas distal forearm fractures including both radius and ulna (Melton et al. 1998; O'Neill et al. 2001; Thompson et al. 2004; Brogren et al. 2007) (Picture 2).

Sometimes, fractures in the scaphoid bone (S62.0), other carpus (S62.1) and even proximal forearm (S52.0-S52.4) have been included in the category of forearm fractures (Thompson et al. 2004). In addition, the code for unspecified parts of wrist and hand fractures has been used (S62.8) (Lofthus et al. 2008). For this reason, the fractures included in forearm and wrist fractures vary widely between the studies.



Picture 2. Fractures of the upper extremity.

#### Vertebral compression fractures (S22.0 and S32.0)

Vertebral compression fractures include a wide range of vertebral deformations of cancellous bone (Genant et al. 1993; O'Neill et al. 1996). However, there is no golden standard for the definition of vertebral fractures (Ferrar et al. 2005). Assessment of spine deformity is best accomplished with a lateral view of the thoracic and lumbar spines. One approach is to measure the anterior, middle, and posterior heights of the vertebral body. A fracture can be diagnosed if any single measurement is reduced by 20% or more compared with the other measurements or "normal" vertebra (Genant et al. 1993; Burshell & Victores 2000). The deformities of vertebra can be defined as: a) wedge-shaped b) biconcave or "fish" shaped and c) crushed or collapsed vertebra (Picture 3) (Genant et al. 1993; Tamayo-Orozco et al. 1997; Vandevenne et al. 2000; Haczynski & Jakimiuk 2001).

In wedge fractures, the anterior (or posterior) height of vertebra body has been reduced, whereas the central portions of both vertebra body endplates have collapsed in biconcave fractures. In crushed fractures, the whole vertebra is collapsed compared with a "normal" vertebra (Genant et al. 1993; Haczynski & Jakimiuk 2001). In addition to the type of compression, the vertebral fractures can be graded by their severity (mild, moderate, severe); severity of deformity increases as the of height loss increases (Genant et al. 1993; Burshell & Victores 2000).



**Picture 3.** Genant's classification of vertebral compression fractures by the reduction of vertebra's height (Genant et al. 1993).

Wedge-shaped deformity is most frequent in thoracic vertebra, whereas concave depressed deformities are more common in the lumbar spine (Vandevenne et al. 2000). It is noticeable that a single vertebra may display the characteristics of more than one type of compression. In women, the most frequent types of vertebral fractures have been reported to be: wedge (51%), biconcave (17%), crush (13%), wedge and crush (7%), wedge and biconcave (6%), crush and biconcave, and all three types of deformity (4%) (Ismail et al. 1999). In men, the frequency distribution is alike (Ismail et al. 1999). As a result of several collapsed anterior vertebra, the vertebras fuse together and the spine bends forward causing a kyphotic deformity (Picture 4) (Old & Calvert 2004). Over time, multiple compression fractures may result in significant loss of height (Old & Calvert 2004).



Picture 4. Wedge-shaped deformity of vertebras causing a kyphotic deformity.

In addition to ICD-10 coding, the most commonly used classification of long bone fractures is *AO classification* (AO Foundation 2009). The AO classification is based on the location of the fractures, the presence of impaction, angulation, translation or comminution of the surgical neck and the presence or absence of a dislocation. The Orthopaedic Trauma Association has also launched *OTA classification*, developed on the basis of the AO classification (Marsh et al. 2007). In addition, several other fracture-based classifications are used. For example, proximal humerus fractures can also be classified according to the *Neer classification* (Neer 1970). The Neer classification system is based on the location and displacement of the fracture, the number of fracture fragments and the presence or absence of a dislocation (Neer 1970) and it is simpler compared with the AO classification.

#### Severity of an injury

The terminology and classification of the type of injuries behind any accidental event varies. In using the word trauma or accident (external force) in categorisation, it is common to group accidents at least to "severe" and "moderate" (Johansen et al. 2000; Olsson et al. 2004). Usually severe accidents include accidents that could conceivably lead to a fracture in anyone (as traffic accidents, falling objects and falls from higher level), whereas moderate accidents usually include falls from standing or lower heights (Johansen et al. 2000). Another method in categorisation is to use energy related to the event when terms "high-", "moderate-" and "low-" energy falls/injuries have been used (Kannus et al. 2005b; Bergström et al. 2008). Low-energy falls have been rated either falls from standing or lower heights (Kannus et al. 2005b) or falls from a lower level than 1 metre (Bergström et al. 2008). In practice, very few fragility-related fractures among older persons are related to severe accidents (Johansen et al. 2000; Bergström et al. 2008) and for example, 95% of hip fractures are due to falling from standing height or a lower level (Formiga et al. 2004). However, the direction of a fall, even in a "low-energy" fall-related accident, can create high-impact force towards

the site of bone and thus the term "fall-induced high-impact injuries" has been suggested to be used in fractures sustained by older people (Kannus et al. 2005b).

There is evidence that the type of fracture differs by the severity of injury and gender. In women, the majority (73%) of wrist fractures are sustained with an aetiology of moderate injury, whereas in men over 51% of wrist fractures are caused by severe injuries like falling from a high level or by traffic accidents (Brogren et al. 2007).

#### 2.2.3 Treatment and healing process

The treatment and healing of the fracture depends on the severity of the fracture (the condition of the blood and nerve supply), type of the bone (cortical or cancellous bone), condition of the bone (age and the presence of osteoporosis), immobilisation after a fracture, presence of an infection or complications and presence of other injuries (Gruber et al. 2006).

One of the most important factors in the healing process is the amount of damage in blood vessels (Aro & Kettunen 2010). All fractures result in blood vessel disruption and tearing around the broken bone, and the ensuing blood clot fill the fracture site leading to localised hypoxia and acidosis (Gruber et al. 2006). The fractures may damage skin, nerves, blood vessels, ligaments, cartilage and internal organs. Open fractures may result in severe blood loss and infection. The nerve endings that surround bones contain pain fibres becoming irritated when the bone is broken or bruised. In addition, the muscles that surround the injured area may go into spasm when they try to hold the broken bone fragments in place, and these spasms cause further pain. Thus, initial treatment for fractures of the arms, legs, hands and feet in the field include splinting the extremity in the position it is found, elevation and ice. Immobilisation is essential as well as control of bleeding and pain. (Aro & Kettunen 2010).

The aim of the medical treatment of fractures is to reposition the fragments correctly. The location of the fracture, as well as its severity, influences the choice of treatment (Committee of the Institute of Medicine Division of Health Care Services 1990; Parker 2008). The most common conservative treatment of fractures is reposition and immobilisation of the body part (usually a plaster/cast, brace, splint, or sling in distal parts of limbs) (Handoll et al. 2007; Aro & Kettunen 2010). More serious and displaced fractures need to be placed under local or general anaesthesia. Operative reduction may be considered for the most seriously displaced fractures as hip fractures (Parker 2008; Aro & Kettunen 2010).

At the beginning of the healing process, blood clots are formed on the broken ends of bone. Over three to 12 weeks, the two bone portions are fused together with a combination of fibrous cells and cartilage (callus). This bridge is temporary and not as strong as real bone (Gruber et al. 2006; Aro & Kettunen 2010). Over the next months, the temporary bone (woven bone) is gradually replaced with real bone (lamellar bone) (Gruber et al. 2006). The process is described as "bony substitution" (Khan et al. 2001). The healing process after a fracture takes on average 48 weeks to complete (Aro

& Kettunen 2010). The process is longer in lower extremities compared with upper extremities. Unlike skin, broken bones heal without forming scar tissue. Clinically a fracture is healed when the broken area is firm. During a fracture, the muscle strength and power in addition to range of motion tend to decrease in immobilised extremities.

# **3. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

#### 3.1 Incidence of fractures

Fractures are common all over the world (Johnell & Kanis 2004a; 2006) but especially high incidence rates of fractures have been shown in Scandinavia (Gullberg et al. 1997; Ismail et al. 2002). In Asian and African populations, the incidence of fractures has been lower compared with the white population living in North America or northern Europe (Hagino et al. 1999; Zebaze & Seeman 2003). Similarly, the fracture incidence rates are higher for white than for black population in the US (Baron et al. 1996).

At younger ages, males have a higher incidence of fractures compared with females, but after the age of 45-54 years the incidence of fractures in women overtakes that of men (Johansen et al. 1997; van Staa et al. 2001; Bergström et al. 2008; Ahmed et al. 2009). The rates start to rise especially at the age of 60 years (Baron et al. 1996; Melton et al. 1999b; Kanis et al. 2000; Ismail et al. 2002), after which the number and incidence of fractures are shown to increase with age all over the world (Jones et al. 1994; Baron et al. 1996; Gullberg et al. 1997; Ismail et al. 2002).

The incidences of "osteoporotic fractures" or "fragilily fractures" such as hip, spine, wrist, pelvic and upper humeral fractures, increase after the age of 50 years (Jones et al. 1994; Kannus et al. 1999; Rogmark et al. 1999; Sanders et al. 1999; Kanis et al. 2000; Lofthus et al. 2001; Chang et al. 2004). However, in the population under 70 years of age upper extremity fractures are dominating, whereas in the population 70 years and older hip and vertebral fractures become more predominant (Bergström et al. 2008) and fractures are located more centrally to the body (proximal fractures) (Baron et al. 1996; Sakuma et al. 2008). Advanced age and age-related factors also increase the severity of injuries after a fall (Sterling et al. 2001; Bouxsein 2008).

In Europe, the age-standardised incidence of any limb fractures in the population aged 50 to 79 years is reported to be 7.3 per 1000 PY (95% CI: 6.1 to 8.5) in men and 19.0 per 1000 PY (95% CI: 17.1 to 20.8) in women (Ismail et al. 2002). The incidence rate of foot or ankle fractures seems to be unrelated to age (Seeley et al. 1996; Johansen et al. 1997).

#### 3.1.1 Hip

The age-standardised incidence of hip fractures in the population aged 50 to 79 years in Europe is reported to be 0.8 per 1000 PY (95% CI: 0.4 to 1.0) in men and 1.3 per 1000 PY (95% CI: 0.8 to 1.7) in women (Ismail et al. 2002).

The incidence of hip fractures increases with age both in men and women all over the world (Sanders et al. 1999; Ismail et al. 2002; Moayyeri et al. 2006) (Figure 1). The female/male ratio varies in different populations from 0.9 to 2.9 (Moayyeri et al. 2006).

However, in the majority of studies covering data from the last two decades, the female/male ratio in sustaining hip fractures has been reported to be around 2.5 (Moayyeri et al. 2006). In the Finnish PERFECT data in the years 2005, 2006 and 2007, the ratios reported are 2.4, 2.3 and 2.1, respectively (Sund et al. 2008).

The site of hip fractures is distributed rather equally both to left and right sides (Endres et al. 2006; Melton et al. 2009). Among Finnish patients at 50 years or over, approximately 61-63% of the hip fractures have been reported to be cervical, i.e. intracapsular fractures (S72.0), and 37-39% trochanteric, i.e. extracapsular fractures (S72.1 or S72.2) (Lönnroos et al. 2006; Sund et al. 2009). The amount of cervical fractures is reported to be higher compared with trochanteric fractures also in some other studies (Lofthus et al. 2001; Endres et al. 2006; Melton et al. 2009).



**Figure 1.** Age- and gender-specific incidence rates of hip fractures per 1000 person years. References: 1) (Kannus et al. 2006); 2) (Icks et al. 2008); 3) (Sanders et al. 1999); 4) (Moayyeri et al. 2006); 5) (Lofthus et al. 2001); 6) (Hagino et al. 1999); 7) (Melton et al. 2009); 8) (Kanis et al. 2000).

#### 3.1.2 Forearm and wrist

Forearm and wrist fractures belong to the most common fractures in people 65 years or over (Hagino et al. 1999; Ismail et al. 2002; Thompson et al. 2004). The incidence of upper limb fractures is higher in Scandinavia compared with other European countries but wrist fractures are reported to be at least as common in Eastern Europe as in Scandinavia (Ismail et al. 2002). In Africa, the incidence of wrist fractures is reported to be very low (Zebaze & Seeman 2003). Among the persons aged 50 to 79 years recruited from population-based registers in 31 European centres and standardised to

the European population at the same age, the incidence of forearm fractures is reported to be 1.7 per 1000 PY (95% CI: 1.1 to 2.3) in men and 7.3 per 1000 PY (95% CI: 6.2 to 8.5) in women (Ismail et al. 2002).

Forearm and wrist fractures are especially common in older women (Kaukonen 1985; O'Neill et al. 2001; Ismail et al. 2002; Flinkkilä et al. 2010). Overall, distal forearm fractures are reported to be three to four times more common in women compared with men (Kaukonen 1985; Melton et al. 1998; Thompson et al. 2004; Flinkkilä et al. 2010). The site of distal forearm fractures is distributed rather equally both to left (52-59%) and right (41-48%) sides (Melton et al. 1998; Hagino et al. 1999; O'Neill et al. 2001; Endres et al. 2006; Brogren et al. 2007).

The incidence of distal forearm fractures is reported to increase with age both in men and women after the age of 65 years, especially in older women (Melton et al. 1998; O'Neill et al. 2001; Thompson et al. 2004) (Figure 2). However, an age-related increase in the incidence has not been reported in all countries (Seeley et al. 1996; Johansen et al. 1997) and the incidence of wrist fractures in aged men has remained low and plateau in England (O'Neill et al. 2001) and in Sweden (Brogren et al. 2007). Similarly, no increase in the incidence has been found in Japan (Hagino et al. 1999).



**Figure 2.** Age- and gender-specific incidence rates of forearm and wrist fractures per 1000 person years. References: 1) (Lofthus et al. 2008); 2) (Kanis et al. 2000); 3) (Thompson et al. 2004); 4) (O'Neill et al. 2001); 5) (Melton et al. 1998); 6) (Hagino et al. 1999).

#### 3.1.3 Proximal humerus

Fractures of the proximal humerus are shown to be three times (Cooley & Jones 2001; Ismail et al. 2002) or even seven times (Sakuma et al. 2008) more common in older

women compared with older men. In the European population aged 50 to 79 years, the age-adjusted incidence of proximal humerus fractures is reported to be 0.7 per 1000 PY (95% CI: 0.4 to 1.1) in men and 2.0 per 1000 PY (95% CI: 1.4 to 2.6) in women (Ismail et al. 2002). In Southern Tasmania, the gender-specific rates have been 0.5 and 1.6, respectively (Cooley & Jones 2001). In European men, the incidence rates are highest in Scandinavia (1.1 per 1000 PY) and Southern Europe (1.2 per 1000 PY) and, in women in Scandinavia (5.2 per 1000 PY) and in Western Europe (1.9 per 1000 PY) (Ismail et al. 2002).

The incidence of proximal humerus fracture increases with age (Kelsey et al. 1992; Baron et al. 1996; Kanis et al. 2000) (Figure 3) especially after the age of 40 (Court-Brown et al. 2001). More than 70% of proximal humerus fracture patients are older than 60 years and the incidence is especially high in women 80 to 89 years of age (Baron et al. 1996; Court-Brown et al. 2001). In Japan, the incidence is reported to rise especially after the age of 89 years (Sakuma et al. 2008) but the same phenomenon has not been seen either in England (Court-Brown et al. 2001) or in Finland (Kannus et al. 2009b).



**Figure 3.** Age- and gender-specific incidence rates of proximal humerus fractures per 1000 person years. References: 1) (Kannus et al. 2009b; Kannus 2010 unpublished data); 2) (Kanis et al. 2000); 3) (Court-Brown et al. 2001); 4) (Melton et al. 1999b); 5) (Hagino et al. 1999).

#### 3.1.4 Vertebra

Due to permanent deformities in the vertebral body, the term prevalence, instead of incidence, is commonly used with vertebral fractures. Only 30% of vertebral

deformities are clinically diagnosed (Greendale & Barrett-Connor 2008). The prevalence of vertebral fractures varies due to identification criteria of the deformities and due to the population included in the studies. In a population-based sampling obtained from 36 centres in 19 European countries with 15 570 males and females aged 50-79 years, an average prevalence of vertebral deformity was 12% of females and 12% of males (O'Neill et al. 1996). The prevalence increases with age, and the increase is more marked in women (Santavirta et al. 1992; O'Neill et al. 1996; Ismail et al. 1999; Cooley & Jones 2001; Felsenberg et al. 2002). At the age of 75 to 79 years, the prevalence was 29.3 per 1000 PY in women and 13.6 in European men (Felsenberg et al. 2002). A male-to-female ratio in vertebral fractures is reported to vary from 1:1.5 in Tasmania (Cooley & Jones 2001) and 1:2 in Europe (Felsenberg et al. 2002) to 1:3 in Japan (Sakuma et al. 2008). There is some evidence about geographic variation in fracture prevalence: rates have been shown to be higher in Scandinavian countries than elsewhere in Europe (O'Neill et al. 1996; Felsenberg et al. 2002).

#### 3.1.5 Secular change

The number of fractures or even the age-specific incidence rates of different fracture types are anticipated to increase in the future (Kannus et al. 1996a; Gullberg et al. 1997; Melton et al. 1998; Kannus et al. 1999; Lönnroos et al. 2006). Regardless of prognostic studies dealing with the incidence of fractures in the future, there are not many population-based or cohort-based secular trend studies about the change in the incidence of all types of fractures during the past decades.

In Finland, several types of fractures needing hospital care show a stabilised or decreasing trend (Kannus et al. 2006; Kannus et al. 2009a; Kannus et al. 2009b). Although some studies support the increasing trend in age-specific rates of several osteoporosis-related fractures in women 40 to 69 years (Islam et al. 2009), there is also evidence that the prevalence of age-specific osteoporosis has not increased during the last decades, at least in Swedish postmenopausal women (Ahlborg et al. 2010). The rate of low-trauma fractures of the proximal humerus among 80-year-old or older women in Finland has been reported to have stabilised (Kannus et al. 2009b). Therefore, it is most likely that the number of the most common age-related fractures will increase mainly due to demographic changes in the population, i.e. the numerical increase of older persons (Boufous et al. 2004; Kannus et al. 2006). At the same time, there is also some evidence that the number of fall-induced severe cervical spine injuries seems to have risen alarmingly, at a rate that cannot be explained merely by demographic changes (Kannus et al. 2007).

The mean age of patients sustaining hip fractures has increased over time world-wide: it was 73 years in the 1960s and 79 years in the 1990s (Haleem et al. 2008). In Finland, the average age of hip fracture patients was 78.5 years in 2005 (Sund et al. 2008). Even though the mean age of hip fracture patients has increased, there is rather strong evidence suggesting that at least the age-specific incidence of hip fractures has stopped to increase or stabilised (Huusko et al. 1999; Lofthus et al. 2001; Boufous et al. 2004) or even declined (Kannus et al. 2006; Chevalley et al. 2007; Brauer et al. 2009; Leslie

et al. 2009; Melton et al. 2009). However, a slight overall increase in the incidence rates has been noticed in Central Finland (Lönnroos et al. 2006) and in Germany (Icks et al. 2008). The results are somewhat controversial in aged men with hip fractures; the incidence rates have either stabilised or even increased (Chevalley et al. 2007; Icks et al. 2008; Fisher et al. 2009; Melton et al. 2009). Since the 1960s, the proportions of males and females sustaining hip fractures has, anyhow, been stable during the last decades (Haleem et al. 2008). However, because the number of old people is increasing, the total number of hip fractures is predicted to increase in the future (Piirtola et al. 2001; Johnell & Kanis 2006; Kannus et al. 2006).

#### 3.2. Predictors for falls and fractures

Every third person aged 65 years or older and living in a community falls annually, but among those living in institutional care at advanced age and/or declined functional level, the rate is much higher (Tinetti et al. 1988; Luukinen et al. 1994). In average, every second fall leads to an injury (Nevitt et al. 1991) and 5-10% cause fractures (Tinetti et al. 1988; Nevitt et al. 1991; Nachreiner et al. 2007). In falling accidents with loss of consciousness, the risk for a severe injury is even higher (Nevitt et al. 1991).

Risk factors for falls (Tinetti et al. 1988; Campbell et al. 1989; Bergland et al. 2003) and injurious falls (Nevitt et al. 1991; Tinetti et al. 1995; Bergland & Wyller 2004) have been studied widely. Fractures are caused by multiple factors, depending both on the force of a fall and the strength of a bone (Figure 4) (Woolf & Åkesson 2003; Kannus et al. 2005b; Sambrook et al. 2007; Silva 2007; Boonen et al. 2008). It is noticeable that even though only a small percentage of all falls cause fractures, the majority of all fractures occur as a consequence of a fall (Kannus et al. 2005a; Sambrook et al. 2007; Kelsey & Samelson 2009). Thus, the strongest single factor and determinant of a fracture seems to be the actual fall rather than bone fragility (Kannus et al. 2005b; Järvinen et al. 2008; van Helden et al. 2008).

Risk factors can be classified as intrinsic risk factors such as medical conditions, psychological or bone-related factors, and extrinsic hazard related factors such as slippery road conditions (Close 2009). A great number of risk factors, such as advanced age, low body mass index and female gender, are related to both falls (Kannus et al. 2005a; The American Geriatrics Society 2010; Tinetti & Kumar 2010) and reduced bone strength (Nordin 2008; Papaioannou et al. 2009; Sweet et al. 2009; Waugh et al. 2009; Wu et al. 2009). Risk factors may vary and interact individually (Woolf & Åkesson 2003; van Helden et al. 2008; Close 2009) and at least the variables associated with falls differ between the genders (Campbell et al. 1989). The individual probability of falling (Close 2009) and fractures (Tromp et al. 1998) increases as the number of individual risk factors increases. Thus, persons at advanced age with multiple risk factors for falls or low bone strength have an especially high risk for sustaining fractures. Gender-specific predictors of fractures in the prospective cohort studies are shown in table 1.

In addition to age-related biological changes both for fall- (Close 2009) and bonerelated factors (Pietschmann et al. 2008), fractures are also associated with the Caucasian race (Kannus et al. 1996b) and lifestyle or behaviour factors (Kannus et al. 1996b; Bergström et al. 2008). For example smoking, low level of physical activity and poor nutrition are associated with both falls and fractures (Kanis et al. 2005c). Because the age- and gender-adjusted incidence of hip fractures seems to be lower in rural populations, there has been some debate about the influence of rural and urban living conditions on the risk of sustaining hip fractures (Kannus et al. 1996b). However, the difference in incidence rates between rural and urban populations has not been reported in all studies (Lüthje et al. 1995c).

Even though a fracture predicts subsequent fractures (Honkanen et al. 1997; Johnell et al. 2004b), the strength of predictors depends on the type and mechanism of fracture (Honkanen et al. 1997). The loading conditions are determined crucially by the type and severity of fall as fall height and energy, fall direction and mechanism, anatomical site of the impact (direction of external force towards a bone), energy absorption capacity, and impact force attenuation of the body-landing surface (Kannus et al. 2005b; Aro & Kettunen 2010). Fall biomechanics and characteristics of the fall have thus an important impact on the occurrence and severity of a fracture (Greenspan et al. 1994; Aro & Kettunen 2010), and the fall height increases the energy in an injury (Aro & Kettunen 2010).

In community-dwelling fallers, the potential energy of the fall (the height of the centre of body's gravity from the ground) has been proven to be a risk factor for sustaining hip fractures (Greenspan et al. 1994). In addition, fall direction (falling to the side) has been shown as an independent risk factor for sustaining hip fractures both in community-dwelling (Greenspan et al. 1994) and frail institutionalised (Greenspan et al. 1999) older people. However, in older individuals, almost all upper extremity fractures occur as a result of a fall, the most typical fall direction being forward and the main impact of the fall straight to the fracture site (Palvanen et al. 2000; Kelsey & Samelson 2009).

#### 3.2.1 Fall-related risk factors

A history of previous falls predicts future falls (Ganz et al. 2007), hip fractures (Cumming & Klineberg 1994) and proximal humerus fractures (Lee et al. 2002). The relationship of previous falls in sustaining fractures has been reported to been stronger among older men than older women (Cumming & Klineberg 1994). It is noticeable that the association between previous falls and future falls is shown to be stronger when the number of previous falls is two or more (Leclerc et al. 2008).



Figure 4. Risk factors for falls and factures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>\*</sup>Adapted and modified from literature (Kannus et al. 2005a; Nordin 2008; Papaioannou et al. 2009; Sweet et al. 2009; Waugh et al. 2009; Wu et al. 2009; Karinkanta et al. 2010; The American Geriatrics Society 2010; Tinetti & Kumar 2010). <sup>\*\*</sup> Bone strength is determined by bone geometry (size and shape) and structure (architecture) and material properties.

Table 1. Prec	dictors of fractures in the pros	spective cohor	rt studies by gender.			
Study	Participants	Follow-up in vears	Adjustments *	Independent predictors (protectors) for fr	actures (p<0.05)	Comments
		III years		Men (Ratio: RR, OR, HR)	Women (Ratio: RR, OR, HR)	
Hippisley- Cox et al. 2009, England	1 113 663 women and 1 174 232 men aged 30-85 y, free of fractures at baseline.	9	Both genders: age. BMI, smoking, use of alcohol, rheuntaiol arthritis, cardovascular diseases, type 2 diabets, sathma, current tricyclic articlepressants, current articlepressants, current tricyclic articlepressants, current articlepressants, current articlepressants, current articlepressants, current tricyclic articlepressants, current tricyclic artic	Osteoporotic fractures': high age, BMI, moliting, use a factoriol, internatioid arthifishis, cardiovascular diseases, type 2 diabetes, asthma, current tricyclic antidepressants, current tricyclic, history of falls, liver disease.	Osteoporotic fractures <sup>1</sup> : age. BM, solicy, use a clochol, immadod arthistis, cardiowasue and a clochol, immadod arthistis, cardiowase ular diseases, type 2 dishetes, asthma, current contocateroids, history of falls, inter disese, no use of HKT, parental history of osteoporosis, memopausal symptoms, gastrointestial melabsorptions and other endocrinology disorders.	Fractures were recorded from general practice records. Multiple imputation to replace missing values in the data.
White et al. 2006, USA	13978 participants (2101 men and 8877 women), age 44- 101 y. Mean age: 74.9 years in men, 73.7 years in women.	Median time 4.7 to 11.8	Gender and fracture site-specific adjustement. Age and previous fracture were included in all models in both genders and + BMI in women.	Hip & wrist & spine fractures: age per 10 years (HR 12 to 3.2), previous fracture (HR 1.8 to 3.2), Hip & spine fractures: ever or currents moker (HR 1.3 to 2.1), positive attitude (HR 0.7 to 0.8)	Hip & wrist & spine fractures: age per 10 yeas (HR 1, 3 to 2.4), previous fracture (HR yeas (HR 1, 3 to 2.4), previous fracture (HR 1, 1, 10, pointer fractures: current smoker (HR 1, 5 to 1,8), positive attitude (HR 0.7 to 0.9)	Fractures were identified from health surveys, hospital disharge records and death certificates.
Nguyen et al. 2007, Australia	1647 (924 women, 723 men) without osteoporosis, mean age: women 70 (SD $\pm$ 6.4), men 72.2 (SD $\pm$ 6.3) y.	up to 15	Age, postural sway, quadriceps strenght, femoral neck BMD, fall, prior fracture.	Any fracture: Age (HR 1.4, 1.1-1.6); postural instability (HR 1.2, 1.1-1.3); history of fall (HR 1.9, 1.2-3.0); femoral neck BMD↓ (HR 1.2, 1.0-1.5).	Any fracture: advanced age (HR 1.2); postural instability (HR 1.1); history of fail (HR 2.1); pnfor fracture (HR 1.7); femoral neck BMD ( (HR 1.6).	Fractures were identified through radiologists' reports.
Huopio et al. 2000, Finland	3068 perimenopausal women (53.1-53.9 y) and 1931 random sample of women (53.2-54.2 y)	3.6	exception height, menopasal status, BMD, history of previous fracture, matemal hip fracture, use or HRT, smoking, inake of calsium, multiple chronic health disorders.		Osteoporotic fractures <sup>2</sup> : Low BMD (RR In provide fractures <sup>2</sup> : Low BMD (RR nonues of HRT (RR 2.2). Other fractures: no NDI (RR 1.3-1.4); history of previous fracture (RR 1.6); 23 chronic illnesses (RR 1.6); smoking (RR 1.6).	Self-reported fractures were validated by radiological reports.
Whooley et al. 1999, USA	7414 women at least 65 y, mean age 74.5 y with depression, 73 3 y without depression	6 (SD ± 2)	Monvertebral fractures: Medical history, habits, current medication use, health and functional status, meuromuscular function. Vertebral fractures: history of failing, packets, steroid use, estrogen use, supplemental calsium use, cognitive function, hip BMD.		Nonvertebral fractures: depression (HR 1.3). Vertebral fractures: depression (OR 2.1).	Self-reported fractures were validated by radiological reports. Falls explained part of sustaining a nonvertebral fracture.
Albrand et al. 2003, France	672 healthy, postmenopausal women, meaa age: 67 y (SD ± 9.3) without fracture .58.1 y (SD ± 9.3) without fracture	5.3 (SD ±1.1)	All variables statistically significant (p-0.05) and the univariate analyses, to were considered of interest a priori (not mentioned in detailed). At least age, years mentioned in detailed). At least age, years fractures, all prevalent fractures after 45 years. HTT, maternal his boy of fracture, fat years. HTT, maternal his boy of fracture, fat his boy of fat his boy of fracture, fat his boy of fat his boy of fat		Fragility fractures <sup>3</sup> : BMD total hip $\leq 0.736$ g/cm2 (DR 33); phistony of fragility fracture (OR 33); physical activity score 414 (DR 21); low grip strenth (DR 2.1); age 265 years (DR 1.9); maternel history of fragility fractures (OR 1.8); past falls (RR 1.8).	Fractures confirmed by radiologist Include type of fractures that are not nessesary related to fragility.
Kelsey et al. 1992, USA	9704 caucasian women at ast 65 y (42% were 65-69 y, 31% 7074 y, 16% 75-79 y, 10% ≥80 y).	mean 2.2	Forearm fractures: Age, BND, previous retrainues since age 50, blocks waiked per week, corrected visual acuity score, previous fails, use of estrogen, weight, age at morpause. Foroximal humerus fractures: age, BND, height biss, headth status, diabetes treated with insulin, blocks waiked there is valated, corrected visual acuity, wast to hip ratio, chidren breast-fed.		Forearm fracture: high BND (RR 06), blocks wakee gren week (RR 12, higher age at menopause (RR 0.9), proximal humerus fractures: high BND (RR 0.5), height loss (RR 1.1, diabetes treated with insulin (RR 3.8), waist to hip ratio (RR 1.4).	Fractures validated by radiological reports.
* At baseline uni	less stated otherwise. 1) Osteopor	rotic fract .: verte	bral, distal radius, hip; 2) Osteoporotic fract : vert	ebral, hip, proximal humerus, wrist; 3) Fragility frae	ict .: vertebral, wrist, hip, humerus, ankle, rib, patella,	, metatarsal, pelvis, sacrum.

The most common independent risk factors of falls have been listed in a consensus paper by the American and British Geriatric Societies, and the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons in year 2001 (The American Geriatrics Society et al. 2001) (Table 2) updated with the clinical practice guidelines and a review in 2010 (Figure 4) (The American Geriatrics Society 2010; Tinetti & Kumar 2010).

In the updated consensus paper, the strongest individual risk factors for falling include previous falls (fall history) (RR range 1.9-6.6), decreased muscle strength (RR range 2.2-2.6), impairment in balance (RR range 1.2-2.4) and gait (RR range 1.2-2.2), visual impairment (RR range 1.5-2.3), and the use of four or more medications or the use of psychoactive medications (RR range 1.1-2.4), (Figure 4) (Karinkanta et al. 2010; The American Geriatrics Society 2010; Tinetti & Kumar 2010).

For injurious falls, the risk factors are reported to be impaired ability to walk, and a variety of diseases and medications (especially opioids, benzodiazepines, neuroleptics, antidepressive medications, calcium blockers, digitalis and some anti-inflammatory drugs) (Koski et al. 1996).

Risk Factor	Significant of total <sup>†</sup>	Mean RR / OR**	Range of RR or OR
Muscle weakness	10 / 11	4.4	1.5 to 10.3
History of falls	12 / 13	3.0	1.7 to 7.0
Gait deficit	10 / 12	2.9	1.3 to 5.6
Balance deficit	8 / 11	2.9	1.6 to 5.4
Use of assistive device	8 / 8	2.6	1.2 to 4.6
Visual deficit	6 / 12	2.5	1.6 to 3.5
Arthritis	3 / 7	2.4	1.9 to 2.9
Impaired ADL	8 / 9	2.3	1.5 to 3.1
Depression	3 / 6	2.2	1.7 to 2.5
Cognitive impairment	4 / 11	1.8	1.0 to 2.3
Age $> 80$ years	5 / 8	1.7	1.1 to 2.5

Table 2. The most common risk factors for fall identified in 16 studies\*.

\* Adapted from the American Geriatrics Society (2001).

<sup>†</sup> Number of studies with significant odds ration (OR) or relative risk ratio (RR) in univariate analysis of the total number of studies included each factor.

\*\* RR for prospective and OR for retrospective studies.

#### 3.2.2 Falling and environmental hazards

The majority of falls (Leclerc et al. 2008) and fragility fractures (Bergström et al. 2008) occur indoors, especially among the oldest olds (Bergström et al. 2008). Among community-dwelling and persons aged 70 years or older, about 50% of the falls occur in home environments (Luukinen et al. 1994). Among those with a high risk of falling,

the proportion of falls in home environments increases from 60% (Nachreiner et al. 2007) up to 82% (Leclerc et al. 2008). In case of hip fractures, 70% of fractures occur indoors in patients 50 to 59 years of age and the amount of indoors-related hip fractures rises up to 90% in persons 80 years of age (Lönnroos et al. 2006).

In community-dwelling persons, falls occur primarily during the daytime (Luukinen et al. 1994; Nachreiner et al. 2007), especially in the afternoons (Luukinen et al. 1994). In institutionalised persons, the proportion of falls is reported to be equal both during dayand night-time (Luukinen et al. 1994). In addition to falls, a majority (77%) of hip fractures are sustained during daytime (Formiga et al. 2004). This is true also in Finland, where the majority of hip fractures are reported to be sustained during active day-time and only 22% during night-time (Lönnroos et al. 2006).

In both institutionalised and community-dwelling persons, a majority of falls (Nachreiner et al. 2007), injurious falls (Luukinen et al. 1995) and fractures (Johansson 1998) occur during daily routines, especially in relation to walking (54% - 64%) but also while standing, rising to stand up, carrying objects, and reaching or leaning. In institutionalised persons, there are more unknown circumstances related to falls compared to home-dwelling older adults (20% vs. 2%, p<0.001) (Luukinen et al. 1995). It has been reported that falls from lower than 1 metre level are associated with a more proximal fracture location both in upper and lower extremities, whereas slipping tend to cause more distal extremity fractures (Bergström et al. 2008). In hip fracture patients, over 90% of fractures are sustained by falling from standing or sitting level (Honkanen 1990; Lönnroos et al. 2006). Falling less than one metre causes 53% of all fractures in persons 50 years and older but in those over 75 years of age, fall-related injuries cause over 80% of the fractures and in persons 90 years and over, the proportion is over 90% (Bergström et al. 2008).

The contribution of environmental hazards in sustaining falls that predispose fractures is most evident (Kannus et al. 2005a; Close 2009). However, prospective studies specifically aimed to detect home hazards in relation to falls have failed to demonstrate a clear association between the environment and falls (Close 2009). The influence of home hazards on falling has been shown to be contradictory (Lord et al. 2006). However, home environmental hazards have been found in 91% of homes among seniors receiving home-care services and the presence of hazards is significantly associated with all falls and fall-related medical consultations (Leclerc et al. 2010).

During a 12-month follow-up, falls have not been found to be strongly associated with the presence of home hazards among 325 voluntary and ambulatory persons aged 60 years or older with a history of previous falls (Northridge et al. 1995). However, in their study vigorous older persons living with home hazards were more likely to fall compared with those with fewer home hazards. The association between the amount of home hazards and falls was not found in frail older persons. In a population-based cohort study of persons 85-years of age, participants without a history of preceding falls were more prone to fall compared with those with a history of falls i.e. a higher

overall risk of falling (van Bemmel et al. 2005). After adjustments for confounders, the risk of falling was 4-fold in the presence of six or seven home hazards in those without a history of falls compared with those with previous falls (van Bemmel et al. 2005). However, environmental hazards, when considered in isolation, are unlikely to predict falls (Close 2009).

As one part of the environmental hazards in sustaining fractures, seasonal variation, especially due to slippery weather conditions, has been shown (Bulajic-Kopjar 2000; Bischoff-Ferrari et al. 2007). During the winter or the autumn months, more distal radius fractures (Jacobsen et al. 1999; Bulajic-Kopjar 2000; O'Neill et al. 2001; Thompson et al. 2004; Bischoff-Ferrari et al. 2007; Flinkkilä et al. 2010) and hip fractures (Bulajic-Kopjar 2000; Mirchandani et al. 2005) have been reported.

It is noticeable that weather affects hip fracture risk differently compared with risk of sustaining distal forearm, proximal humerus or ankle fractures (Bischoff-Ferrari et al. 2007). According to the Finnish register data, small but clear seasonal variation in sustaining hip fractures has been recorded in persons aged 50 or older; 53.5% occurred during the winter/spring seasons compared with 46.5% during the summer/fall season (Sund 2007). However, this variation was almost completely due to non-institutionalised persons, and no seasonal variation in hip fractures was reported among institutionalised persons (Sund 2007). No seasonal variations in the incidence rates of hip fractures have been found in Oslo, Norway (Lofthus et al. 2001) and Tottori prefecture, Japan (Hagino et al. 1999) with rather similar climate conditions to southwestern Finland.

#### 3.2.3 Bone-related risk factors

Bone breaks when the applied load (force affecting bone) is greater than bone strength (Hayes et al. 1996; Silva 2007; Bouxsein 2008). Thus, low bone mineral density (BMD), less optimal bone geometry and less optimal bone architecture leading to bone fragility (osteoporosis) have an important role in sustaining fractures (Hayes et al. 1996; The WHO 2003). It has been shown that at least a low level of femoral neck bone mineral density (BMD) and that of calcaneal bone measured by ultrasound speed are associated with an increased risk of a proximal humerus fracture in women (Lee et al. 2002) and that of hip fracture in both genders (Greenspan et al. 1994; Greenspan et al. 1998). In community-dwelling fallers, the energy of a fall is reported to be associated with sustaining a hip fracture (Greenspan et al. 1994) but in more frail older individuals, the strength of the bone seems to become more important (Greenspan et al. 1998).

The risk factors for low bone strength (Nordin 2008; Papaioannou et al. 2009; Sweet et al. 2009; Waugh et al. 2009; Wu et al. 2009) and the risk between low bone strength and fractures (Seeley et al. 1991; Cummings et al. 1993; Kröger et al. 1995) are rather well reported. Risk factors for bone mass loss are presented in Table 3 and their association with fractures in Figure 4 (Espallargues et al. 2001).

Moderate risk (1< RR <2)
- Female
- Active smoking
- Low sunlight exposure
- Family history of osteporotic fracture
- Surgical menopause
- Early menopause (<40 years)
- Short fertile period (<30 years)
- Late menarche (>15 years)
- No lactation
- Low calcium intake (<500-850 mg/day)
- Hyperparathyroidism
- Hyperthyroidism
- Diabetes mellitus type II
- Rheumatoid arthritis

Table 3. Risk factors for fractures related to bone mass loss in a meta-analysis\*

\* Adapted from a systematic review and meta-analysis of Espallargues and colleagues including 94 cohort and 72 case-control studies (Espallargues et al. 2001).

#### 3.3 Functional decline and fractures

In older persons, the development of functional decline and disability is a dynamic process (Verbrugge & Jette 1994) with considerable diversity (Gill & Kurland 2003). In the disablement process (Verbrugge & Jette 1994), disease or injury is defined as an activator (pathology) leading to dysfunction and structural abnormalities in a special body system (impairment). Such impairment can lead to functional limitations that are restrictions in performing fundamental physical and mental actions used in age- and gender-specific daily life (e.g walking). Disability is experienced as difficulty in doing activities in any domain of age- and gender-specific life (ADL, IADL, hobbies etc.). Due to functional limitations and reduced abilities to perform individual-based activities, functional disabilities lead to some kinds of compensatory activities: either to activity accommodation or reduction in individual-based activities by individuals themselves (intra-individual factors) or a need for external support by others as personal assistance in one or more activities of daily living (extra-individual factors) (Verbrugge & Jette 1994; Ferrucci et al. 1996; Gill et al. 2004).

The most used and internationally validated tests/questionnaires for assessing domestic daily living are Katz's (Katz et al. 1963) and Barthel's (Mahoney & Barthel 1965) indexes for assessing ADL tasks (ability of bathing, dressing, toileting, transfer, continence and feeding) and Lawton and Brody's scale for IADL tasks (Lawton & Brody 1969). Also the abilities to move (mobility) within the home, the immediate neighbourhood and the larger community are usually assessed (German 1981). The IADL tasks include a variety of tasks; self-medicating, phone use, handling money,

shopping, etc. In the 2000s, many variations in tests and questionnaires have been used in describing disability and function in different studies (Freedman et al. 2002; Rockwood 2007). However, there is no golden standard for measuring functional abilities after a fracture.

Most types of fractures are reported to be associated with long-standing pain, functional decline or dependence in activities of daily living (ADL) and admission into institutional care (Braithwaite et al. 2003; Melton 2003; Kannus et al. 2005b; Greendale & Barrett-Connor 2008). After a hip fracture, about every fifth to fourth of the patients who were independent before a fracture needed long-term institutional care, and about half of the patients were able to return to their own homes. In a study conducted in the southeast of Finland, 12.5% of those who survived after a sustained hip fracture and were living independently before a fracture needed long-term institutional care one year after a hip fracture (Nurmi et al. 2004). The increased risk of long-term institutionalisation is due to reduced mobility and ability to perform activities of daily living after a fracture, at least in hip fracture patients (Willig et al. 2001; Kirke et al. 2002). The impact of fractures on the process of functional decline and dependency is illustrated in Figure 5.

Recovery after a hip fracture (Young et al. 1997; Ingemarsson et al. 2003; Alegre-Lopéz et al. 2005; Hawkes et al. 2006; Pande et al. 2006) and a proximal humerus fracture (Gaebler et al. 2003) have been reported to be dependent on the person's health and functional status before the fracture. Therefore, a poor outcome after a fracture has been explained by the patient's pre-fracture status. The diversity in the study designs have left the independent impact of fractures on post-fracture functional performance unclear: only a few population-based studies (Willig et al. 2001; Magaziner et al. 2003; Alegre-Lopéz et al. 2005; Hasserius et al. 2005; Olsson et al. 2005) or studies with a comparison group without fractures and information about comorbidities (Willig et al. 2001; Magaziner et al. 2003) have been published.

Among all fractures, a sustained hip fracture has a special role in the development of functional decline and dependency in ADL tasks. The hip joint and the muscles attached to the region are critical for the ability to stand and walk. For this reason, a fracture at proximal femur has a great impact on managing activities of daily living. (Committee of the Institute of Medicine Division of Health Care Services 1990). The majority of the studies have focused on the consequences of hip fractures (Magaziner et al. 2000; Willig et al. 2001; Kirke et al. 2002; Magaziner et al. 2003; Alegre-Lopéz et al. 2005; Endo et al. 2005; Hawkes et al. 2006; Pande et al. 2006; Tsuboi et al. 2007; Givens et al. 2008; Holt et al. 2008).



#### 3.3.1 Short-term follow-up

The short-term outcomes of lower body fractures on locomotion and physical performance are mainly reported in hip fracture patients. A variety of study designs have been used, ranging from a population-based case-control (Leibson et al. 2002; Magaziner et al. 2003), a case-control (Kirke et al. 2002; Pande et al. 2006) to a follow-up of fracture patients (Magaziner et al. 2000; Hannan et al. 2001; Ingemarsson et al. 2003; Rosell & Parker 2003; Alegre-Lopéz et al. 2005; Endo et al. 2005; Hawkes et al. 2006; Givens et al. 2008). In the follow-up studies ("cohorts"), the follow-up periods have varied from one month (Givens et al. 2008) up to two years (Magaziner et al. 2000; Kirke et al. 2002; Magaziner et al. 2003; Pande et al. 2006).

According to a well-designed population-based case-control study, hip fracture patients (n=594) are reported to be twice as disabled in walking, transferring from bed to chair and grooming (brushing hair and teeth, or washing face) compared with their matched controls from three different cohorts both in 12- and 24-month follow-ups after the fracture (Magaziner et al. 2003) (Table 4). Interestingly, hip fractures decreased also independent ability in managing ADL tasks related to upper body performances, such as grooming (Magaziner et al. 2003).

In other case-control studies, hip fracture patients are reported to be more disabled in mobility-related tasks after a hip fracture compared with gender- and age-matched controls without hip fractures (Kirke et al. 2002; Pande et al. 2006) (Table 4). In a 12-month follow-up, only 36% of hip fracture male patients could walk independently compared with 84% of the controls without a hip fracture (Pande et al. 2006). During a 2-year follow-up, more hip fracture patients have been reported not to get out of the house less than before the fracture compared with controls (80% hip vs. 46% controls) and more hip fracture patients have been reported to walk less than before (73% hip vs. 54% controls) (Kirke et al. 2002). Also the mean level of independence in ADL tasks has decreased significantly more in hip fracture patients in contrast to their controls with no history of hip fractures (Kirke et al. 2002) (Table 4).

Patients living in long-term care facilities are at much higher risk of not returning to prefracture functional levels following hip fracture compared with communitydwelling residents (Nurmi et al. 2004; Beaupre et al. 2007), even if not adjusted for age, baseline function, comorbidities or cognitive status (Beaupre et al. 2007). Six months after a hip fracture, more than half of long-term care residents are no longer ambulating without the help of another person, and they also require assistance in transfer (Beaupre et al. 2007). In contrast, the majority (over 77%) of community-dwelling patients remain independent in ambulation and transfer (Beaupre et al. 2007).

A second hip fracture has a significant further impact on the decline of patients' mobility and social independence in a three month follow-up (Pearse et al. 2003). It has also been reported that intertrochanteric hip fracture patients are functionally more impaired compared with femoral neck patients after a fracture but the functional outcome has been reported to be similar among surviving patients after one year
(Haentjens et al. 2007). On the other hand, is has been shown that patients with extracapsular hip fractures are more likely to need long-term care compared with intracapsular hip fracture patients (Sund et al. 2009).

Little information is available about the impact of fractures other than hip fracture on functional abilities. In follow-up studies, tibial shaft (Skoog et al. 2001) and ankle fracture (Nilsson et al. 2007) patients are reported to experience functional limitations in using stairs as late as one year after the trauma. Less than half of the ankle fracture patients returned to their pre-activity level (Nilsson et al. 2007). In hospital-treated vertebral fracture patients, the decrease in ADL tasks and quality of life at 4 and 12 months after a fracture is similar compared with hip fracture patients (Theander et al. 2004). In contrast, a good or excellent result evaluated by the patients was achieved in 77% of distal forearm fracture patients with a follow-up of 6 months (Kaukonen et al. 1988).

It is noticeable that after minimally displaced humerus fractures in 507 cases with a one-year follow-up, poor outcome was related to other factors, such as co-morbidities and high age, rather than to the fracture itself (Gaebler et al. 2003). However, it has been shown that hip fractures, vertebral fractures and wrist fractures are all associated with the loss of quality of life one year after a fracture (Borgström et al. 2006).

## 3.3.2 Long-term follow-up

In a follow-up of seven years, patients sustaining a hip, arm or spine fracture have demonstrated to have a declined physical performance in balance, turning 360° circle, walking, chair standing and grip strength compared with subjects without fractures but similar to age and mean number of medical conditions at baseline (Greendale et al. 2000). However, the number of sustained fractures was very small (7 wrist fractures and 16 hip, arm or spine fractures) in the Greendale (2000) study. A retrospective case-control study with a 10-year follow-up showed that balance and gait were poorer in women who sustained a hip, vertebra or proximal humerus fracture compared with those without a fracture (Gerdhem et al. 2006). In older women, each additional fracture was associated with slower gait, and poor physical performance has been noticed especially in patients who have sustained several fractures (Gerdhem et al. 2006).

The evidence of functional decline is stronger after a hip fracture compared with other fractures. In hip fracture patients, mobility and physical performance has been shown to be impaired for up to 10 years (Willig et al. 2001; Gerdhem et al. 2006; Tsuboi et al. 2007). A 7-year follow-up showed that hip fracture patients have substantially more disability in ADL and physical performance compared with their age- and gender-matched controls without fractures (Willig et al. 2001) (Table 4). A study with a 10-year follow-up showed that the proportion of those able to walk independently outdoors decreased most during the first year after a hip fracture (Tsuboi et al. 2007). In their study, the proportion of those able to walk outdoors before a hip fracture was

68%, decreased to 56% one year after the fracture, and remained stable at 63% thereafter.

A case-control study showed physical performance to be impaired most commonly in women with hip and multiple fractures (Gerdhem et al. 2006). In a population-based cohort of 218 hip fracture patients in Spain, one year after a hip fracture women had more difficulties in functioning compared with men (Alegre-Lopéz et al. 2005). In a Finnish one-year cohort study in male and female hip fracture patients, no association was found between the female or male gender and poorer functional outcome at 2 or 4 months after the fracture. However, the women needed more help in transferring from or into bed, turning in bed and getting up from bed (Nurmi et al. 2004).

Upper extremities fractures limit old persons' joint function, physical performances and reduce their independence in activities of daily living (ADL) tasks for up to 13 years (Olsson et al. 2005; Földhazy et al. 2007). Wrist, forearm and proximal humerus fractures limit the functional ability and reduce the independence in daily living for up to 13 years (Greendale et al. 2000; Olsson et al. 2005; Földhazy et al. 2007). Almost one half of female patients with vertebral fractures report recurrent back pain and impaired health status for as long as 12 years after the fracture (Hasserius et al. 2005).

In the USA, the cumulative incidence of nursing home admission at 3 months after baseline was 60% (95% CI = 54-67) for hip fracture patients living outside a nursing home before a hip fracture versus 3% (95% CI 1-5) for similar controls (Leibson et al. 2002). The cumulative incidence at 1 year was 64% in hip fracture patients versus 7% for controls. The risk of nursing home admission remained elevated at least 5 years after the fracture (Leibson et al. 2002). In a Finnish study with a mean of 7-year follow-up, 27% of those who survived hip fracture were living in a nursing home or chronic care hospital compared with 2% of their age- and gender-matched controls randomly selected from the Finnish Population Register (Willig et al. 2001).

An increased risk for changing from home or sheltered housing into long-term institutional care is also associated with vertebral fractures (Greendale & Barrett-Connor 2008), whereas in forearm fracture patients there is no reported change in the living situation after a fracture (Endres et al. 2006). However, a subsequent injurious fall after a serious fall-related fracture increases the risk for further injurious falls, readmitting to hospital and transferring to nursing home (Lord et al. 1992; Tinetti & Williams 1997).

Authors, year and country	Participants	Controls	Follow-up period	Measures of outcome	Adjusted variables	Results	Comments
Magaziner et al. 2003, USA	65+ y, n=594, mean 0.5 y, 75% women, community- dwelling	65+ y, three cohorts (n= 594 in each), 75% women, community- dwelling	24 mo 24 mo	Disabled or dependent in - walking indoors (3 m), - tansferring from bed to chair, - grooming (hair, teeth)	age.sex, comorbidities, ability of walking	After 12.mo: dependent in walking 54% hip fr.p. vs. 21-22% controls; in 54% hip fr.p. vs. 21-22% controls; in transfering 38% hip fr.p. vs. 7-11% controls; hig fr.p. vs. 7-11% controls. After 24 mo dependent in walking 53% hip fr.p. vs. 25-29% controls; in transferring 39% hip fr.p. vs. 14-18% controls; in 39% hip fr.p. vs. 10-14% controls	8% of patients had a history of a previous hip fracture. Controls from a prospective study of its factors for chronic disease, loss of fuctioning and mortality including three cohorts (n= from 2539 to 3492) from three US states. Controls matched from the original cohorts by sex, age and ability to walk indoors.
Leibson et al. 2002, USA	Mean age 81 y, n=312, 81% women, 18% in institution	Mean age 81 y, n=312, 81% women, 28% in institution	12 mo	Ranking disability score (1=no significant disability, 5=severe disability)	age, se x	<b>Score at 12 mo:</b> 3.2 +/- 1.2 in hip fr.p. vs. 2.3 +/- 1.3 in controls (p<0.001)	Isolated trochanteric and subtrachenteric fractures were excluded. Controls from Mayo Clinic of whom 18 sustained a hip fracture during the follow-up.
Pande et al. 2006, United Kindom	50+ y, n=100, mean age 80 y,100% men, 15% in institution	50+ y, n= 100, me an age 75 y, 100% men, 2% in institution	12 mo 24 mo	Inability to walk independently. Functional ability Health Assessment Questionaire (HAQ) (range 0-3; higher score indicating more difficulties).	age, se x	After <b>12 mo insule to walk</b> : 15% hip fr.p. vs. 1% controls , <b>24 mo insule to</b> walk: 20% hip fr.p. vs. 0% controls, Mean <b>HAQ score</b> at 12 and 24 mo: 12 in hip fr.p. vs. 0.39 in controls	Controls from a local general practioner register with no history of a hip fracture.
Kirke et al. 2002, Ireland	50+ y, n=106, mean age 80 y, 100% women, 24% in institution (no moderate or severe dementia)	50+ y, n=89, me an age 77.8 y, 100% women, 20% in institution (no moderate or severe dementia)	24 mo	Inability to walk 100 yards unaide d	age, se x	<b>Inable to valk</b> . 38% hip fr.p. vs. 11.5% controls, p-c0.001, <b>Change in ADL</b> <b>score</b> +1.4 (from 0.56 to 1.95) in hip fr.p. vs. +0.23 (from 0.36 to 0.58) in controls (p-c0.001)	Controls with no history of hip fractures attended accident & emergency or in- plient department of the hospital or lived in communityresidence for older people in the catchment area of a hospital. Hip fr.p. and controls did not differ from controls in place of residence, social class or marital status.
Willig et al. 2001, Finland	Original n=200. At follow-up: n=62, mean age 79 y, 81% women	Original n=200. At follow-up: n=92, mean age 77 y, 81% women	Mean 7 y (from 4.5 to 10.5 y)	Ability in walking and in ADL functions. Need for care/assistance at home.	age, se x	Ability to walk alone outdoors: 42 (36%) of the hip fr.p. VS. 73 (79%) in controls. Ability in hip fr.p. vs. norse in every* task in hip fr.p. vs. in controls (p < at least 0005), No need for care/assistance at home: 28 (45%) in hip fr.p. VS. 53 (58%) in controls.	Included only trochanteric hip fracture patients. Controls from Finnish Population Register (the sampling method from the register is not informed).
y= years, mo= month, hi	ip fr.p. = hip fracture	e patient(s), ADL= ac	ctivities of daily l	iving			

\* Worse in all tasks except in eating.

## 3.4 Excess mortality and fractures

Several types of fractures are associated with excess mortality (Center et al. 1999; Bliuc et al. 2009). The standardised mortality rate of sustaining any fracture is 1.76 (95% CI, 1.59 - 1.95) for women and 1.96 (95% CI, 1.69 - 2.28) for men compared with general Australian population aged 60 years or older (Bliuc et al. 2009).

The term excess mortality is used to describe deaths which are connected with a special event (e.g. a hip fracture) and which could be prevented without the accelerating impact of the event in the process of dying (Tosteson et al. 2007). The difficulty in attributing excess impact of fractures to excess death, especially as to the hip fracture *per se*, is related to the fact that increased risk of fractures is associated with advanced age (Endres et al. 2006; Bergström et al. 2008; Ahmed et al. 2009). Especially hip fractures occur in those individuals who are already at an increased risk of dying from other causes (Browner et al. 1996; Tosteson et al. 2007). In a Dubbo population-based study among individuals 60 years or older with a follow-up of 18 years, an increased mortality risk was found during the first 5 years following all major (femur, pelvic, proximal humerus) fractures, except for hip fractures where the impact of a fracture on mortality remained elevated even longer (Bliuc et al. 2009). A subsequent fracture resulted in an elevated mortality risk for 5 years (Bliuc et al. 2009).

In addition to advanced age, quadriceps weakness and subsequent fracture but not comorbidities are shown to be associated with excess mortality after any fragility facture for both older men and women (Bliuc et al. 2009). After a fracture, low bone mineral density, previous smoking and increased body sway are also predictors for accelerated death in older women, and less physical activity in older men (Bliuc et al. 2009).

### 3.4.1 Hip fractures

Hip fractures have a significant impact on excess mortality (Melton 1995; Lüthje et al. 1995a; Roberts & Goldacre 2003; Nurmi-Lüthje et al. 2009; Haentjens et al. 2010). In a Finnish register-based data, mortality has proven to be similar among patients with an intra- or extracapsular hip fracture (Sund et al. 2009), but noticeably high mortality is reported in inter- or pertrochanteric hip fracture patients (Endres et al. 2006; Haentjens et al. 2007).

About 6 to 14% of the hip fracture patients die after the first admission to the hospital (Rissanen & Noro 1999; Roberts & Goldacre 2003; Sund et al. 2008) and 22 to 40% of the patients die within the first year (Rissanen & Noro 1999; Leibson et al. 2002; Roberts & Goldacre 2003; Nurmi et al. 2004; Haleem et al. 2008; Sund et al. 2009). Global geographic (Haleem et al. 2008) and even within-country (Sund et al. 2008) variations exist in the mortality rates.

In the most recently published meta-analysis including 24 prospective cohort studies in hip fracture patients aged 50 years or older, with 578 436 women and 154 276 men, patients with a hip fracture have 5 to 8-fold risk of mortality during the first 3 months after hip fracture compared with those without a hip fracture (Haentjens et al. 2010) (Table 5). The excess mortality risk after a hip fracture decreases over time, especially during the first 2 years after fracture (Haentjens et al. 2010), but the risk of dying remains elevated for up to 10 years when compared with age- and gender-matched population without hip fractures (Bliuc et al. 2009; Haentjens et al. 2010).

Follow-				
up	Women		Men	
	RH (95% CI)	p-value	RH (95% CI)	p-value
0-3 mo	5.75 (4.95 - 6.69)	<0.001	7.95 (6.13 - 10.30)	<0.001
3-6 mo	3.32 (2.18-5.07)	<0.001	3.56 (2.64-4.80)	<0.001
6-9 mo	1.92 (1.59-2.32)	<0.001	2.33 (1.91-2.85)	<0.001
9-12 mo	1.59 (1.26- 2.00)	<0.001	2.30 (1.81- 2.93)	<0.001
0-1 y	2.87 (2.52 - 3.27)	<0.001	3.70 (3.31 - 4.14)	<0.001
1-2 y	1.86 (1.60 - 2.16)	<0.001	1.90 (1.58 - 2.30)	<0.001
2-3 y	1.58 (1.09 - 2.29)	0.016	1.69 (1.36 - 2.10)	<0.001
3-4 у	1.71 (1.35 - 2.16)	<0.001	1.76 (1.44 - 2.14)	<0.001
4-5 y	1.91 (1.53 - 2.38)	<0.001	1.71 (1.37 - 2.13)	<0.001
5-6 y	1.81 (1.30 - 2.53)	<0.001	1.51 (1.33 - 2.71)	<0.001
6-7 у	1.50 (1.23 - 1.83)	<0.001	1.29 (0.98 - 1.72)	0.073
7-8 y	1.69 (1.16 - 2.45)	0.006	1.66 (0.96 - 2.87)	0.069
8-9 y	1.96 (1.30 -2.95)	<0.001	1.91 (1.32 -2.78)	<0.001
9-10 y	1.99 (1.42 -2.78)	0.001	1.79 (1.14 -2.81)	0.012

**Table 5.** Relative hazard of all-cause mortality for women and men with hip fracture compared with control patients over a 10-year follow-up \*.

\* Table adapted from the meta-analysis of Haentjens et al 2010.

The mortality rate after a hip fracture increases with age (Haentjens et al. 2010) and is the highest in the oldest age groups (Roberts & Goldacre 2003; Tosteson et al. 2007; Bliuc et al. 2009; Haentjens et al. 2010). There is strong evidence that mortality after a hip fracture is higher among older men than women (Roberts & Goldacre 2003; Bruyere et al. 2008; Bliuc et al. 2009; Haentjens et al. 2010). However, there are also studies in which women are found to be at higher risk of mortality (Nurmi et al. 2004; Nurmi-Lüthje et al. 2009), especially when adjusted for pre-fracture health status (Tosteson et al. 2007). The gender-specific excess mortality rates have also been reported to vary between health care regions in Finland (Lüthje et al. 1995a).

Other independent conditions associated with excess hip fracture mortality are reported to be osteoarthritis and related conditions, dementia, no surgical procedure, and 2 or

more co-morbid conditions at baseline (Bentler et al. 2009) as well as severe systemic diseases according to American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) classification (Owens et al. 1978), and increasingly severe cognitive dysfunction (Söderqvist et al. 2009). The existence of chronic lung disease is associated with increased risk of death after a hip fracture (Panula et al. 2009).

Recent studies have shown a decline in the subsequent mortality rates after a hip fracture both in men and women aged 65 years or older from 1986 to 2004 in the US (Brauer et al. 2009) and from the early 1980s to 1998 in England (Roberts & Goldacre 2003). In Finland, the proportion of deaths within one year after a hip fracture was about 20% in year 2007 (Sund et al. 2008).

#### 3.4.2 Fractures of the proximal humerus

In many studies, the association of proximal humerus fractures with excess mortality has been analysed by combining humerus fractures to a group of other fractures, usually to a group of "major fractures" including also distal femur, pelvic, proximal tibia and multiple rib fractures (Center et al. 1999; Bliuc et al. 2009). In these studies, gender-specific and standardised five-year (Center et al. 1999) and 18-year (Bliuc et al. 2009) mortality ratios have been significantly higher in persons who have sustained any of the major fractures compared with mortality in the general population. Nevertheless, proximal humerus fractures themselves have been shown to increase mortality both in women (Browner et al. 1996; Johnell et al. 2004c; Shortt & Robinson 2005) and in men (Johnell et al. 2004c; Shortt & Robinson 2005) older than 60 years of age (first year HR ratios have varied from 1.4 to 1.9 in persons over 65 years of age) (Shortt & Robinson 2005). The association is highest during the first year after a fracture (Johnell et al. 2004c; Shortt & Robinson 2005).

### 3.4.3 Vertebral fractures

There is evidence that a vertebral fracture in the thoracic or lumbar spine increases mortality in men and women along with age (Cooper et al. 1993; Center et al. 1999; van Staa et al. 2001; Hasserius et al. 2003; Johnell et al. 2004c; Pongchaiyakul et al. 2005). After a vertebral fracture, the age- and gender-specific standardised mortality rate per 100 PY is 1.82 (95% CI, 1.52-2.17) for women and 2.12 (95% CI, 1.66-2.72) for men compared with the overall mortality rate of Dubbo population aged 60 years or older in Australia (Bliuc et al. 2009).

Mortality rate is reported to be especially high in those with a vertebral deformity who had had a subsequent symptomatic fracture (HR 9.0, 95% CI: 3.1-26.0) (Pongchaiyakul et al. 2005). A part of this excess mortality is explained by health and lifestyle factors (Ismail et al. 1998), and it is shown that the risk of death decreases after 5 years after a sustained vertebral fracture (Johnell et al. 2004c).

### 3.4.4 Forearm and wrist fractures

Previous studies have not shown forearm and wrist fractures to be associated with higher mortality in an older population (Cooper et al. 1993; Browner et al. 1996; Johnell et al. 2004c). There is even evidence that persons sustaining a wrist fracture may have significantly improved survival rates compared with general population in a five-year follow-up (Shortt & Robinson 2005). However, somewhat controversial results have been reported in studies which included distal forearm and wrist fractures in a group of "minor fractures" including also lower leg fractures (Center et al. 1999; Bliuc et al. 2009). In these studies gender-specific and standardised five-year mortality in men (Center et al. 1999) and 18-year mortality in women (Bliuc et al. 2009) who have sustained any of the minor fractures have been significantly higher compared with mortality in the general population.

#### 3.4.5 Other fractures

In nursing home residents at least 65 years of age, an excess mortality has been found during the first months in both genders after pelvic fracture (in women: HR 1.83, 95% CI: 1.42-2.37, and in men: HR 2.95, 95% CI: 1.57-5.54 for the first month). The increased mortality appeared to last longer in men than in women (Rapp et al. 2010).

Rib fractures are related to both mild and severe traumas (Sirmali et al. 2003). In patients with high age and high Injury Severity Score, they are shown to be associated with both high mortality and the presence of pneumonia (Bulger et al. 2000; Brasel et al. 2006). Pneumonia is more common in older patients compared with young ones (Bulger et al. 2000). In addition, other complications have been noted in rib fracture patients, also in older patients who have sustained their fractures either in traffic or fall-related accidents (Sirmali et al. 2003). The greater the number of fractured ribs, the higher the mortality rate (Bulger et al. 2000; Sirmali et al. 2003) even though this association has not been noticed in all studies (Brasel et al. 2006). The overall mortality in rib fracture patients admitted to trauma centres has been reported to be 4% (Brasel et al. 2006) and in patients 65 years and over as high as 22% (Bulger et al. 2000) compared with patients without rib fractures.

There is no clear evidence of excess mortality risk associated with other fracture types.

### 3.5 Summary and need for further research

The number of fractures is high among older people causing many challenges both for the individual and society. Incidence data on fractures obtained from population-based studies have been published (Melton et al. 1998; Sanders et al. 1999; Ismail et al. 2002; Chang et al. 2004; Jonsson et al. 2004) but updated information about the rates, trends, risk factors and consequences of fractures is needed. In addition, only a few studies have been published concerning the incidence of all kinds of fractures (Jones et al. 1994; Baron et al. 1996; Johansen et al. 1997; Sanders et al. 1999; Melton et al. 1999b; Jonsson et al. 2004). This information is needed for evaluating the trends in all kinds of

fractures to facilitate allocating public health resources for the prevention and treatment of fractures.

In previous studies, the inclusion or exclusion criteria of fractures have varied. For example, only 'osteoporotic fractures' have been included (Jones et al. 1994; Kanis et al. 2000; Ismail et al. 2002; Chang et al. 2004) or fractures due to high-impact accidents have been excluded (Jones et al. 1994; Chang et al. 2004). Thus, the influence of osteoporosis on fracture rates may have been overestimated (Sanders et al. 1998). In most studies, only the first fracture has been taken into account (Baron et al. 1996; Sanders et al. 1999; Kanis et al. 2000; Ismail et al. 2002) although all patients with a fracture need at least some medical attention. In many studies the incidence of hip fractures has been derived from hospital discharge registers (Baron et al. 1996; Gullberg et al. 1997; Kannus et al. 1999; Schwartz et al. 1999) leading to possible inaccuracies (Langley et al. 2002). There are studies in which only people with health care insurance have been included (Baron et al. 1996). Using only self-reported information on fractures (Honkanen et al. 1999; Ismail et al. 2002) the accuracy of fracture data is poor, at least in the case of minor, vertebral and rib fractures. Based on previous studies, the loading impact of fractures on emergency treatment departments and health services may have been underestimated.

Information is available about the risk factors of fractures. There is even a series of meta-analyses published on some specific risk factors of fractures (Kanis et al. 2004a; Kanis et al. 2004b; De Laet et al. 2005; Kanis et al. 2005b; Kanis et al. 2005c), but there are rather few prospective population-based studies (Jacqmin-Gadda et al. 1998; Huopio et al. 2000; Stel et al. 2004; Nguyen et al. 2007) on predictors of all types of fractures both in men and women. Gender-based differences have been noticed in predictors of falls (Campbell et al. 1989) and fractures (White et al. 2006; Hippisley-Cox & Coupland 2009). However, more information about gender-specific risk factors of fractures is needed.

Some information about the consequences of fractures, predictors of survival after fracture or predictors of decline in functional ability due to fracture have been reported, but a majority of the studies have focused on hip fracture (Magaziner et al. 2000; Willig et al. 2001; Ingemarsson et al. 2003; Magaziner et al. 2003; Rosell & Parker 2003; Alegre-Lopéz et al. 2005; Endo et al. 2005; Olsson et al. 2005; Hawkes et al. 2006; Pande et al. 2006; Tsuboi et al. 2007; Holt et al. 2008). There are rather few prospective population-based studies reporting consequences (Stel et al. 2004) of all types of fractures both in men and women. More research in this field is needed.

# 4. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The aims of the present study were to describe incidence, predictors and consequences of fractures among Finnish people aged 65 years or older during long-term follow-up.

In detail, the aims were:

- 1. To describe the age-specific incidence of fractures by type of fracture among older men and women (study I).
- 2. To analyse secular changes in the age-adjusted incidence of fractures among the older people (study I).
- 3. To identify gender-specific predictors of fractures among the older people (study II).
- 4. To analyse independent associations between fractures and functional ability in an unselected older population both in short- and long- term follow-ups (study III).
- 5. To analyse gender-specific factors predicting mortality after fractures among older people (study IV).

# **5. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 5.1 Study settings and subjects

This study is part of a larger, longitudinal, population-based study of subjects aged 65 years or older living in the semi-industrialised municipality of Lieto, south-western Finland (Isoaho et al. 1994a; Isoaho et al. 1994b; Ahto et al. 1998; Linjakumpu et al. 2002; Löppönen et al. 2003). The baseline data were collected between 1990 (October 1) and 1991 (December 31) (Lieto Study I) (Isoaho et al. 1994a). The original population consisted of all residents in Lieto born in 1926 or earlier (N=1283), of whom 1196 (93%), 488 men and 708 women, participated.

The occurrence of fractures among the participants of the Lieto Study I were derived from medical records from October 1990 to the end of December 2002. The fracture data was obtained for 1177 (92%) persons, 482 men and 695 women. These 1177 persons formed the study population for the studies I, II and IV (Figure 6).

The second wave of the Lieto study (Lieto Study II) was carried out between March 1998 and September 1999 (n=1260) (Löppönen et al. 2003). Re-examinations were performed for 616 participants (241 men, 375 women), who had participated in the Lieto Study I. These 616 persons having taken part both in the Lieto Study I and in the Lieto Study II formed the subjects for this dissertation's study III (Figure 6).

5.2 Informed consent and ethical approvals

The study was conducted according to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki. Informed consent was obtained from all participants or their caregivers. The Joint Ethics Committee of the University of Turku and the Hospital District of Southwest Finland approved the study plan. The Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, the Finnish National Research and Development Centre for Welfare and Health, and the Lieto District Health Authority approved the collection of fracture and mortality data during the follow-ups.

#### 5.3 Data collection

Wide-ranging data about socio-demographic, education, previous occupation, economical, functional abilities, health behaviour, cognitive and psychological abilities, health, illnesses and other clinical factors in the Lieto Study were collected by structured interviews, tests and measurements (Isoaho et al. 1994a; Ahto et al. 1998; Löppönen et al. 2003). In addition, information was gathered from the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register and Cause of Death Statistics.



Figure 6. Study flow of the Lieto study of fractures.

The participants made two visits to the Lieto Health Centre during both data collection waves (Lieto Study I and Lieto Study II). The interviews, tests and measurements were carried out by two trained nurses and the clinical examinations were performed by two experienced general practitioners, GPs (Raimo Isoaho in 1990-1991 and in 1998-1999, Minna Löppönen in 1998-99). If a person was not able to visit the Health Centre, a home visit or a visit to the nursing home was made. Proxy interviews were carried out for 75 (6%) out of 1177 subjects in 1990-1991 and for 79 (13%) out of 616 subjects in 1998-1999.

The author of this doctoral thesis was not involved in planning and collecting the baseline data for the original Lieto cohort studies implemented in 1990-1991 (Lieto I) and 1998-1999 (Lieto II). However, the author of this doctoral thesis planned the study protocol and data collection of the Lieto Study of fractures and acquired all necessary permissions for data collection from the authorities of The Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, the Finnish National Research and Development Centre for Welfare and Health, and the Lieto District Health Authority. She collected, recoded and re-checked the data of fractures from 1990 to the end of 2002 individually for 1177 study subjects and added the data into the original databases of Lieto Study I and II.

5.3.1 Baseline interviews, tests and measurements

Socio-economic factors included information about gender, age, marital status, accommodation, education, previous occupation and economical status.

The interview included 14 questions about functional abilities (Heikkinen et al. 1983; Waters et al. 1989). Mobility was assessed by questions about ability to walk outdoors, walk between rooms, negotiate stairs, and walk at least 400 metres. Managing activities of daily living (ADL) was assessed with questions of abilities to go to toilet, wash and bath, dress and undress, get in and out of bed, and eat. Managing instrumental activities of daily living (IADL) was assessed with questions about abilities to prepare meals, do light housework, do heavy housework, carry a 5-kg load at least 100 metres, and cut one's toe nails. The use of mobility aids was recorded.

Health behaviour was assessed by questions about smoking and engagement in physical activity. Smoking was categorised as non-smoker, ex-smoker and current smoker. Leisure time physical exercise was assessed by one dichotomised question "In addition to your ordinary household work, do you do physical exercise as a hobby?"

Cognitive abilities were measured with the Mini-Mental State Examination test (MMSE) (Folstein et al. 1975) and depressive symptoms with the Zung Self-rating Depression Scale (ZSDS) (Zung 1965). Subjects were coded as having a large number of depressive symptoms if they scored 45 or more points on the ZSDS (Rainio 1991; Salminen et al. 2005).

Questions about health and medical status included information about diagnosed diseases, symptoms, and use of drugs. All prescription and non-prescription drugs used in the previous seven days were recorded. Medical diagnoses and the use of prescription drugs were confirmed from the health centre medical records. The number of drugs was used as an indicator of co-morbidity (Perkins et al. 2004).

Weight, height, visual acuity, hearing ability, blood pressure and handgrip strength were measured. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as kilograms per height squared (kg/m2) and categorised according to the WHO recommendations as <25, 25-29.9 and  $\geq 30$ . Binocular visual acuity was tested with the Snellen E-Chart. Subjects using glasses were asked to wear them in the test. The ability to read normal print (font 12) was tested in a sitting position from a distance of 40 cm. The ability to hear normal speech with or without a hearing aid at a distance of one to five metres was tested. Diastolic and systolic blood pressures were measured in a sitting position and categorised using quartiles. Handgrip strength was measured with an Elmed Vigorimeter  $\circledast$  (hand dynamometer) consisting of three different-sized rubber balls, and the measurement was used as an index of muscle strength. The research nurse selected a suitable rubber ball for each person. One technically successful attempt was accepted for both hands. If a subject could not use one or the other hand, only one hand was tested.

#### 5.3.2 Fractures

Information about fractures (date, type and cause of fracture, type and place of accident, type of dwelling at the time of fracture, treatment and rehabilitation) confirmed with radiology reports from October 1990 until the end of December 2002 was collected from the medical records of the Lieto and Turku Health Centre units, from the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register and Cause of Death Statistics. Data on fractures from all sources were obtained for 1177 of the 1196 subjects (98 %). The double calculation error of fractures due to hospital transfers was eliminated by following the treatment path of each fracture individually during the whole 12-year follow-up period. Twenty-three of the subjects (6 men and 17 women) sustained more than one fracture within the same accident. In these cases, the main fracture contributing to the need for treatment and rehabilitation was taken into account.

Chest roentgenograms were taken from two different angles during the Lieto Study I baseline examination (1990-1991), and the pictures were checked by one experienced GP (RI). A compressed fracture in thoracic and upper lumbar (mainly L1) vertebra was diagnosed if the vertebra was obviously compressed to a wedge shape. In addition to roentgenograms, possible information about kyphotic spine and history of back pain were obtained. Only definite compression fractures (all severe and most of moderate deformities in Genant's classification) were recorded (Genant et al. 1993). One or more compression fractures in the thoracic and upper lumbar vertebra were used as an indicator of bone fragility in this study.

Fractures were categorised according to the International Classification of Diseases (ICD), by 9 codes during 1990-1995 and by ICD 10 codes from 1996 onwards. All codes were converted into ICD 10 codes (The WHO 1995), and fractures were grouped as follows: all fractures, hip fractures (S72.0, S72.1, S72.2), forearm and wrist fractures (S52), tibial and ankle fractures (S82), thoracic and upper lumbar vertebral compression fractures (S 22.0, S 32.0) and other fractures (all fractures other than S72.0, S72.1, S72.2, S52, and S82) (Studies I-III). In addition, proximal humerus fractures (S42.2) and rib fractures (S22.3, S22.4) were used in analysing the association of fractures with excess mortality (study IV). In analysing the impact of fractures on functional abilities, the fractures were grouped by the impact of a fracture site on managing mobility or ADL or IADL tasks and were therefore divided into lower body fractures (S32, S72, S82, S92) and upper body fractures (S22, S42, S52, S62) (Study III). Lumbar vertebral compression fractures were included into lower body fractures of their influence on weight-bearing and mobility-related tasks.

Accidents were coded according to ICD-9 injury codes (E-codes), and also the place of accident was recorded. Fractures were marked as fall-induced injuries in cases of moderate accidents (falling from standing height or less). Fractures due to falling from stairs or higher than standing height, but not higher than two metres, were classified as serious high-impact injuries. Fractures sustained in traffic accidents or falling from higher than two metres were coded as extremely serious high-impact injuries.

The review of medical records also covered information about previous fractures sustained by subjects before the follow-up period, from their early childhood up to the age of 65 years. All information about these previous fractures was collected. Data on fractures sustained by the subjects after the age of 45 years but before the baseline examination (1990-91) were not included in the calculations of incidence rates, but they were used as a covariate in studies II-IV. The age limit of 45 years was chosen to coincide with the beginning of the menopause in women and to exclude wartime injuries (1939-1945) especially in men.

### 5.3.3 Functional ability in the 8-year follow-up

Functional abilities were recorded during the Lieto Study II in 1998-1999. The interview included the same 14 questions about functional abilities (Heikkinen et al. 1983; Waters et al. 1989) as used in the baseline interview.

## 5.3.4 Mortality

Causes of deaths during the follow-up were collected from the Finnish Cause of Death statistics and coded according to the ICD 10 codes (The WHO 1995). The main cause of death was included in the analyses.

#### 5.4 Statistical analyses

Continuous baseline variables were categorised using clinical cut-off points reported in literature when possible or using quartiles (blood pressure and grip strength). In studies I, II and IV, analyses were performed separately for men and women. In analysing the association of fractures with functional abilities, gender was used as one of the covariates.

Pathological fractures caused by cancer etc. (n<5) were excluded from all analyses. In analysing risk factors for fractures (study II), consequences of fractures on functional ability (study III) and impact of fractures on mortality (study IV), fractures caused by the most serious accidents (falling from higher than two metres, impact of a falling object, or traffic accident) were excluded (n=14 in studies II and IV; n=12 in study III).

Differences between categorical variables were analysed by the Chi Square Test or Fisher's Exact Test. Statistical analyses were performed with the SAS System for Windows, version 8.2 or 9.1. (SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC). In the analyses, p-values of less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

#### 5.4.1 Incidence rates of fractures

Incidence rates were calculated for all sustained fractures and for the first fracture of each subject during the 12-year follow-up. Analyses were performed by gender, type of fracture, and age (five-year age groups). Ninety-five per cent confidence intervals (95% CI) for incidences were calculated, based on the assumption that the number of fractures followed the Poisson distribution (Breslow & Day 1987). Person-years (PY) for all fractures were calculated from the beginning of participants' individual follow-up to the end of 2002, or death. Person-years for first fractures during follow-up were calculated from the beginning of follow-up to the occurrence of the first fractures sustained by the subject, to the end of year 2002 or to death. Incidences of fractures were calculated by dividing the number of all fractures or the number of first fractures that occurred during follow-up by person-years (number of fractures/PY).

In addition to the standard Poisson method, the confidence intervals of the incidence were calculated by the generalised estimation equations (GEE) by taking into account the correlation between fractures sustained by the same persons (Agresti 2002). However, the GEE analyses showed similar confidence limits compared with those obtained by the standard method, and these results are not reported here.

Age-adjusted incidences were calculated for all fractures in each year of follow-up. In these analyses, person-years were calculated for each calendar year of follow-up, or to death. Age was determined as age at the time of the fracture or at the end of the corresponding year. The differences in fracture incidences between follow-up years (categorical independent variable) were analysed using Poisson's regression. Age (continuous) was used as a covariate in Poisson regression calculations.

Incidence rates were also analysed by the season of the year. Seasons were categorised as winter (December 1 to the end of February), spring (March to May), summer (June to August) and autumn (September to November).

## 5.4.2 Predictors (risk factors) of fractures

A 12-year follow-up period (October 1, 1990 – December 31, 2002) was used in analysing the predictors of fractures. Those who had sustained at least one fracture during the follow-up made up a group of fractured persons and those who had sustained no fractures served as a reference group. The first fracture of each individual was included into the analyses.

Diagnosed diseases and health behaviour variables with evidence from literature or otherwise potential to serve as predictors of fractures were included in the analyses. The ability to manage ADL and IADL functions was categorised into three classes: 1) independent, 2) independent with difficulties, and 3) dependent. Handgrip strength was calculated as the mean of both hands' best values. Systolic and diastolic blood pressures and handgrip strength recordings were categorised as follows: the lowest quartile, the second and the third quartiles combined, and the highest quartile, separately by gender.

Univariate and age-adjusted Poisson regression analyses (Breslow & Day 1987) were applied first. The variables showing significant associations with fractures in age-adjusted analyses were further included in multivariate analyses. Age was used as a continuous variable in age-adjusted and multivariate analyses. All analyses were made separately for men and women. Follow-up periods in each analysis were calculated as person-years (PY). Person-years were calculated from the beginning of the follow-up to the occurrence of a fracture or, for persons with no fractures, to the end of the follow-up period (2002) or to death. The results were presented using relative risks (RR) with their 95% confidence intervals (95% CI).

### 5.4.3 Fractures and functional ability

Mobility, ADL, and IADL functions were categorised in three levels: 1) independent, with no difficulties in any of the included tasks, 2) able to carry out the tasks independently but having difficulties in at least one task and 3) dependent on at least one task. In analysing the impact of fractures on functional abilities, the question of cutting one's toe nails was left out from IADL tasks.

The follow-up period comprised the time from the first baseline measurement in 1990-91 to the re-examination in 1998-99. Functional decline in mobility, or ADL, or IADL performance was detected if the ability to perform tasks at the baseline was changed into a lower level at the re-examination. The 8-year follow-up was split into two periods (Figure 7). The long-term consequences of fractures were analysed for fractures sustained between the years 1990 and 1997. The short-term consequences of fractures were analysed for fractures sustained over the most recent two years before the re-examination in 1998-1999. One fracture of each individual per a follow-up period was included. If the same person sustained more than one fracture during the period, hip or proximal humerus fractures were favoured. In case of several fractures that were likely to have an equal effect on functional decline, the most recent fracture before re-examination in 1998-1999 was included in the analyses.

Cumulative logistic regression model was used in the analyses (Agresti 2002). The dependent variables (mobility, ADL and IADL) consisted of three, ordinal-type categories, and thus cumulative logistic models (proportional odds models) instead of binary logistic regression were used. Variables showing significant associations with a decline in mobility, or ADL or IADL tasks after adjusting age and functional ability at baseline were further included in the multivariate analyses. If there were several variables significantly related to a functional decline and highly correlating with each other, the variables with the strongest relationship with the decline were included in the final multivariate models to avoid multicollinearity. The results were presented using cumulative odds ratios (COR) with their 95% confidence intervals (95% CI).

#### 5.4.4 Fractures and mortality

The follow-up months were calculated from the first baseline measurement to the end of the follow-up period (December 31, 2002) or death. One-year mortality in hip fracture patients was calculated from the date of the fracture. Potential confounding factors for survival at the baseline were analysed using age-adjusted Cox Proportional Hazards model (Collett 2003). The assumptions of proportional hazards were checked by using the plots of log minus log survival functions against log time. The variables showing significant associations with mortality in the age-adjusted analyses were included in the multivariate analyses. The variables with the strongest relationship with excess mortality within a given subcategory in age-adjusted analyses were included in the final multivariate models. Age was used as a continuous variable. The first fracture of each individual was included, and the fractures were used as time-dependent variables (Collett 2003). The results were presented using Hazard Ratios (HR) with their 95% confidence intervals (95% CI). All analyses were made separately for men and women.

A gender-specific external validation of mortality between the study subjects and persons over 65 in the total Finnish population in 1991 was analysed using mortality data derived from the Finnish Cause of Death Statistics. Age-standardised mortality was calculated with the direct method by grouping persons into three age categories (65-74, 75-84, 85+) by gender.



Figure 7. Sustained fractures in the Lieto Study of fractures.

## 6. RESULTS

#### 6.1 Background data

A follow-up of 12 years (1991-2002) in 1177 participants was used for analysing the incidences and predictors of fractures and the association of fractures with excess mortality. An 8-year follow-up was used for analysing the impact of fractures on functional abilities in 616 survivors who had participated in both examinations. The full background characteristics of the subjects in studies I-II and IV (n=1177) and in study III (n=616) at baseline are presented in appendices (Table appendices 1-4).

Among the participants in the 12-year follow-up, the mean age of the 1177 participants was 72.4 years (standard deviation, SD 6.6) in men and 73.8 (SD 7.0) in women (range of both genders 65-97) at baseline. The median number of diagnosed diseases in men was 5.0 (lower – upper quartile: 3-7) and in women 5.0 (3-8), and the median number of drugs used 2.0 (0-4) and 3.0 (1-5), respectively.

In the 616 participants included in the analyses for functional decline during the 8-year follow-up, the mean age was 70.2 years (standard deviation, SD 5.2) in men and 71.4 (SD 5.7) in women (range in both genders 64-92) at baseline.

#### 6.2 Sustained fractures

#### 6.2.1 During the 8- and 12-year follow-ups

#### The 12-year follow-up

Altogether 307 (26%) persons (83 [17%] men and 224 [32%] women) sustained 425 fractures during the 12-year follow-up (Table 6, Figure 7). Women sustained 77% of all fractures. One fracture was sustained by 222 (19%) subjects (men 15%, women 22%), and two or more fractures by 85 (7.2%) subjects (men 2.3%, women 10%). The total number of all fractures was highest among persons aged 75 to 84 years and it was especially high among those from 80 to 84 years (Figure 8).

Out of 425 fractures, 79% were sustained by fall-induced injuries, 7.5% by serious high-impact injuries, and 3.5% by extremely serious high-impact injuries. The external cause of injury causing 10% of the fractures was unknown. The place of sustaining fracture was indoors in 44% and outdoors in 20% of the cases (Table 7). The place was not mentioned in 36% of the cases.

	12-year		8-year**	
Fracture type	Men n (%)	Women n (%)	Long-term <sup>§</sup> follow-up n (%)	Short-term* follow-up n (%)
Hip	27 (28)	73 (22)	10 (13)	10 (21)
Femoral neck (S72.0)	17 (63)	38 (52)	6 (60)	8 (80)
Pertrochanter (S72.1)	9 (33)	32 (44)	4 (40)	2 (20)
Subtrochanter (S72.2)	1 (4)	3 (4)	-	-
Forearm and wrist	9 (9)	95 (29)	23 (31)	12 (25)
Tibial and ankle	13 (13)	28 (8)	7 (9)	6 (13)
Proximal humerus	4 (4)	25 (8)	7 (9)	1 (2)
Rib(s)	20 (21)	22 ( 7)	11 (15)	5 (10)
Vertebral compression	6 ( 6)	22 (7)		
Miscellanneous	18 (19)	63 (19)	17 (23)	14 (29)
	n= 97	n=328	n=75	n=48

**Table 6.** Number and distribution of fracture types by follow-up period and gender.

\*\* Includes both genders.

The eight-year follow-up period is divided into two periods: long-term (1991 - 1996)<sup>§</sup> and short-term (1997 - 1999)<sup>\*</sup>.



Figure 8. Number of fractures by age and gender between 1990 and 2002.

	Place of occurrence								
Type of fracture	Indoors n (%)	<b>Outside</b> n (%)	Not recorded n (%)	Total n (%)					
Hip	67 (67)	11 (11)	22 (22)	100 (24)					
Forearm and wrist	31 (30)	31 (30)	42 (40)	104 (24)					
Proximal humerus	10 (35)	7 (24)	12 (41)	29 ( 7)					
Ankle and tibia	13 (32)	10 (24)	18 (44)	41 (10)					
Rib(s)	24 (57)	8 (19)	10 (24)	42 (10)					
Vertebral compression	8 (29)	2 (7)	18 (64)	28 (7)					
Miscellaneous	34 (42)	17 (20)	30 (37)	81 (19)					
Total	187 (44)	86 (20)	152 (36)	425 (100)					

**Table 7.** Number and distribution of fractures (n=425) by type and place of occurrence.

Altogether, 68 (16%) fractures occurred in long-term institutional care (men 9%, women 18%) and the rest of the fractures occurred in the aged living in their homes or sheltered housing (Table 8). There were no significant differences in the occurrence of fractures by season in either men (p=0.105) or women (p=0.482). Nor did seasonal numbers differ between institutionalised persons and home-dwellers in men (p=0.448) or women (p=0.085).

**Table 8.** Numbers and distributions of fractures by type of dwelling and season.

Season/ Dwelling	Winter n (%)	Spring n (%)	Summer n (%)	Autumn n (%)	Total n (%)
Institution	14 (21)	15 (22)	24 (35)	15 (22)	68 (100)
At own home or sheltered housing	103 (29)	85 (24)	74 (21)	95 (27)	357 (100)
Total	117 (27.5)	100 (23.5)	98 (23)	110 (26)	425 (100)

In analysing the predictors (risk factors) of fractures and the impact of fractures on excess mortality (Studies II and IV), the fractures caused by extremely serious high-impact injuries were excluded from the data. In this data, 295 persons (74 men [15% of all men] and 221 women [32% of all women]) had sustained at least one fracture. Of the first fracture of each individual, 21 (28%) in men and 44 (20%) in women were hip fractures, while 7 (10%) and 73 (33%) were wrist fractures, 11 (15%) and 22 (10%) tibial and ankle fractures, 4 (5%) and 20 (9%) proximal humerus fractures, 16 (22%) and 11 (5%) rib(s) fractures, 5 (7%), and 14 (6%) vertebral compression fractures and 10 (13%) and 37 (17%) "miscellaneous" fractures, respectively.

#### The 8-year follow-up

Among the population for the 8-year follow-up (Study III), 112 persons (28 men [12% of all men], 84 women [22% of all women]) sustained altogether 147 fractures (Figure 7, Table 7). Of the subjects, 11 persons sustained fractures during both 1991-1996 (long-term) and 1997-1999 (short-term) follow-ups. Altogether 123 fractures were included in the final analyses. The long-term follow-up contained 75 fractures (10 hip, 23 wrist, 7 proximal humerus, 7 tibial or ankle, 11 ribs and 17 other fractures) which were categorised to 28 (37%) lower body fractures and 47 (63%) upper body fractures. The corresponding number for the short-term follow-up period was 48 fractures (10 hip, 12 wrist, 1 proximal humerus, 6 tibial or ankle, 5 ribs and 14 other fractures), which were categorised to 23 (48%) lower body fractures and 25 (52%) upper body fractures.

#### 6.2.2 Before the baseline

Altogether 319 (27%) persons had sustained a total of 395 fractures during their previous lifespan before the baseline in 1991-99 (Figure 7). Of the previous fractures, 11 (7%) in men and 20 (8%) in women were hip fractures, 16 (11%) and 109 (44%) wrist fractures, 35 (24%) and 41 (17%) tibial and ankle fractures, 6 (4%) and 10 (4%) proximal humerus fractures, 37 (25%) and 15 (6%) rib(s) fractures, 6 (4%), and 15 (6%) vertebral compression fractures, and 36 (25%) and 38 (15%) "miscellaneous" fractures, respectively. The median period between the previous fracture and the baseline examination was 7 years (from 0 to 74). A total of 279 persons (87 men and 192 women) sustained at least one fracture after the age of 45 years but before the baseline examination (1990-91).

#### 6.2.3 During the whole lifespan

At the end of 2002, 45% of all subjects had sustained at least one fracture during their whole lifespan. Among participants who had not sustained a fracture before the follow-up started, 24% (men 17%, women 30%) sustained at least one fracture during the follow-up. The corresponding proportion was 30% (men 19%, women 38%) among those who had sustained at least one fracture before the beginning of follow-up.

#### 6.3 Incidence of fractures (Study I)

A total of 10 040 PY were observed for calculating the incidences of all fractures (3892 in men, 6148 in women). The overall incidence rate of all fractures was 24.9 per 1000 PY with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) 20.4-30.4 in men, and 53.4 per 1000 PY (95% CI 47.9-59.5) in women (Table 9, Figure 9). Age-specific incidence increased with age in both men and women, and fractures were more common in women than in men in all age groups.

	MEN				WOMEN		
	Number of	DV	Incide	ence	Number of	DV	Incidence
	rractures	FI	(95%)	CI)/1000 P Y	fractures	FI	(95%CI)/1000 PY
All fractures	97	3892	24.9	(20.4 - 30.4)	328	6148	53.4 (47.9 - 59.5)
65-69	7	600	11.7	( 5.6 - 24.5)	25	687	36.4 (24.6 - 53.8)
70-74	21	1143	18.4	(12.0 - 28.2)	57	1494	38.2 (29.4 - 49.5)
75-79	25	1076	23.2	(15.7 - 34.4)	80	1755	45.6 (36.6 - 56.8)
80-84	24	679	35.4	(23.7 - 52.7)	97	1246	77.9 (63.8 - 95.0)
85+	20	394	50.7	(32.7 - 78.6)	69	966	71.4 (56.4 - 90.4)
Hip fractures*	27	3892	6.9	(4.8-10.1)	73	6148	11.9 ( 9.4 - 14.9)
65-69	0	600	0		0	687	0
70-74	3	1143	2.6	( 0.8 - 8.1)	8	1494	5.4 ( 2.7 - 10.7)
75-79	9	1076	8.4	( 4.4 - 16.1)	14	1755	8.0 ( 4.7 - 13.5)
80-84	8	679	11.8	( 5.9 - 23.6)	27	1246	21.7 (14.9 - 31.6)
85+	7	394	17.8	( 8.5 - 37.2)	24	966	24.8 (16.7 - 37.1)
Proximal humerus fractures	4	3892	1.0	(0.4 - 2.7)	25	6148	4.1 ( 2.7 - 6.0)
65-69	0	600	0		2	687	2.9 ( 0.7 - 11.6)
70-74	0	1143	0		5	1494	3.3 ( 1.4 - 8.0)
75-79	3	1076	2.8	(0.9 - 8.6)	8	1755	4.6 ( 2.3 - 9.1)
80-84	1	679	1.5	(0.2 - 10.5)	5	1246	4.0 (1.7 - 9.6)
85+	0	394	0	. ,	5	966	5.2 ( 2.2 - 12.4)
Forearm and wrist fractures	9	3892	2.3	(1.2 - 4.4)	95	6148	15.5 (12.6 - 18.9)
65-69	0	600	0		12	687	17.5 ( 9.9 - 30.7)
70-74	2	1143	1.8	(0.4 - 7.0)	22	1494	14.7 ( 9.7 - 22.4)
75-79	4	1076	3.7	(1.4 - 9.9)	29	1755	16.5 (11.5 - 23.8)
80-84	3	679	44	(14 - 13.7)	22	1246	17.7 (11.6 - 26.8)
85+	0	394	0	()	10	966	10.4 ( 5.6 - 19.2)
Vertebral compression fractures	6	3892	1.5	( 0.7 - 3.4)	22	6148	3.6 ( 2.4 - 5.4)
65-69	1	600	1.7	(0.2 - 11.8)	1	687	1.5 ( 0.2 - 10.3)
70-74	2	1143	1.8	(0.4 - 7.0)	4	1494	2.7 ( 1.0 - 7.1)
75-79	1	1076	0.9	(0.1 - 6.6)	8	1755	4.6 (2.3 - 9.1)
80-84	1	679	1.5	(0.2 - 10.5)	3	1246	2.4 (0.8 - 7.5)
85+	1	394	2.5	( 0.4 - 18.0)	6	966	6.2 ( 2.8 - 13.8)
Tibial and ankle fractures	13	3892	3.3	(1.9 - 5.8)	28	6148	4.6 ( 3.1 - 6.6)
65-69	2	600	3.3	(0.8 - 13.3)	2	687	2.9 ( 0.7 - 11.6)
70-74	4	1143	3.5	(1.3 - 9.3)	8	1494	5.4 ( 2.7 - 10.7)
75-79	1	1076	0.9	(0.1 - 6.6)	5	1755	2.8 (1.2 - 6.8)
80-84	3	679	4.4	(1.4 - 13.7)	7	1246	5.6 ( 2.7 - 11.8)
85+	3	394	7.6	( 2.5 - 23.6)	6	966	6.2 ( 2.8 - 13.8)
Rib(s) fractures	20	3892	5.1	(3.3 - 8.0)	22	6148	3.6 (2.4 - 5.4)
65-69	3	600	5.0	(1.6 - 15.5)	2	687	2.9 (0.7 - 11.6)
70-74	5	1143	4.4	(1.8 - 10.5)	3	1494	2.0 ( 0.6 - 6.2)
75-79	3	1076	2.8	(0.9 - 8.6)	1	1755	0.6 (0.1 - 4.0)
80-84	3	679	4.4	(1.4 - 13.7)	12	1246	9.6 ( 5.5 - 17.0)
85+	6	394	15.2	( 6.8 - 33.9)	4	966	4.1 ( 1.6 - 11.0)
Other fractures*	18	3892	4.6	(2.9 - 7.3)	63	6148	10.2 ( 8.0 - 13.1)
65-69	1	600	1.7	(0.2 - 11.8)	6	687	8.7 ( 3.9 - 19.4)
70-74	5	1143	4.4	(1.8 - 10.5)	7	1494	4.7 (2.2 - 9.8)
75-79	4	1076	3.7	(1.4 - 9.9)	15	1755	8.5 ( 5.2 - 14.2)
80-84	5	679	74	(3.1 - 17.7)	21	1246	16.9 (11.0 - 25.8)
85+	3	394	7.6	(2.5 - 23.6)	14	966	14.5 ( 8.6 - 24.5)

**Table 9.** Number of fractures, person-years (PY), age-specific incidence and 95% confidence intervals (95%CI) by type of fracture in men and women aged 65 years or older in the Lieto study of fractures, 1991-2002.

\* Incidence: 3 hip fractures transferred from other fractures to hip fractures (paper I)



Figure 9. Age-specific incidence rates of all fractures by gender.

#### 6.3.1 Incidence of the first fracture

The incidence of the first fracture of any kind sustained by subjects during the follow-up period was also calculated. The crude incidence of first fracture during follow-up was 23.2 per 1000 PY (95%CI: 18.7 to 28.7) in men and 44.0 per 1000 PY (95%CI: 38.6 to 50.1) in women.

#### 6.3.2 Incidence of upper limb fractures

Proximal humerus fractures were uncommon in men compared with women (ratio 1:5) (Table 9, Figure 10). The crude incidence was 1.0 per 1000 PY (0.4 to 2.7) in men and 4.1 per 1000 PY (2.7 to 6.0) in women. In women, age-specific incidence tended to be highest in the age group of 85 years and over but in average the incidence rate was stable in all age groups.

Forearm and wrist fractures were far more common in women compared with men (ratio 10:1) (Table 9, Figure 10). The crude incidence of wrist factures was 2.3 per 1000 PY (1.2 to 4.4) in men and 15.5 per 1000 PY (12.7 to 18.8) in women. Forearm and wrist fractures were more common among women than among men in all age groups. In women, incidence was not related to age. In men, no forearm or wrist fractures were observed in the youngest and oldest age groups.



**Figure 10.** Age-specific incidence rates of upper limb fractures per 1000 PY by gender.

#### 6.3.3 Incidence of lower limb fractures

The crude incidence of hip fractures was 6.9 per 1000 PY (4.8 to 10.1) in men and 11.9 per 1000 PY (9.4 to 14.9) in women (Table 9). Age-specific incidence tended to be higher among women than among men, especially in the age group of 80 years or over (Figure 11). Age-specific incidence increased with increasing age in both genders.

In general, tibial and ankle fractures were equally common in both genders and the age-specific incidence tended to be stable in all age groups (Table 9, Figure 11). The crude incidence of tibial and ankle factures was 3.3 per 1000 PY (1.9 to 5.8) in men and 4.6 per 1000 PY (3.1 to 6.6) in women.



**Figure 11.** Age-specific incidence rates of lower limb fractures per 1000 PY in men and in women.

6.3.4 Incidence of other fractures

The crude incidence of the diagnosed compression fractures in thoracic and upper lumbar vertebral fractures was 1.5 per 1000 PY (0.7 to 3.4) in men and 3.6 per 1000 PY (2.4 to 5.4) in women (Table 9). In men, the incidence rates of compression fractures were small in all age groups. In women, there was a rising tendency in incidence rates by increasing age.

Rib(s) fractures were more common in men compared with women, especially after the age of 85 years (Table 9). In men, the crude incidence of rib(s) factures was 5.1 per 1000 PY (3.3 to 8.0) and in women 3.6 per 1000 PY (2.4 to 5.4). In women, the incidence rate was especially high in the age group of 80 to 84 years of age.

The incidence rates of miscellaneous fractures rose with increasing age in both genders (Table 9).

6.3.5 Changes in number and incidence of fractures over time

The number of sustained fractures each year varied very little during the follow-up period (Figure 12, Table 10). The age-adjusted incidence of all fractures, calculated separately for each calendar year of follow-up, varied from 14.5 to 43.3 per 1000 PY among men and from 41.8 to 73.8 per 1000 PY among women (Table 10). There were no significant differences in age-adjusted incidences between calendar years in either men (p=0.145) or women (p=0.385).



Figure 12. Number of fractures among men and women between 1991 and 2002.

	MEN	I			WON	MEN		
Year	$\mathbf{N}^{\dagger}$	Fractures (n)	PY	Incidence <sup>‡</sup> (95% CI)	$\mathbf{N}^{\dagger}$	Fractures (n)	РҮ	Incidence <sup>‡</sup> (95% CI)
1991	482	10	338	33.9 (18.2 - 63.1)	695	32	474	73.8 (52.1 - 104.5)
1992	460	7	448	17.0 ( 8.1 - 35.6)	676	26	667	41.8 (28.4 - 61.4)
1993	437	12	421	30.0 (17.1 - 52.9)	656	34	636	56.3 (40.2 - 78.8)
1994	405	4	388	10.5 ( 3.9 - 28.0)	612	27	597	46.7 (32.0 - 68.1)
1995	376	6	362	16.2 (7.3 - 36.1)	583	26	574	45.6 (31.0 - 66.9)
1996	351	6	344	16.3 (7.3 - 36.4)	565	31	546	55.8 (39.2 - 79.4)
1997	338	8	326	22.2 (11.0 - 44.6)	527	23	514	43.0 (28.5 - 64.7)
1998	315	15	304	43.3 (25.8 - 72.6)	497	24	483	46.7 (31.2 - 69.8)
1999	288	12	276	37.2 (20.9 - 66.3)	468	22	456	44.5 (29.2 - 67.8)
2000	266	7	252	23.1 (10.9 - 49.1)	444	31	425	65.9 (46.1 - 94.2)
2001	234	4	223	14.5 ( 5.4 - 39.1)	412	22	401	48.6 (31.8 - 74.3)
2002	216	6	210	22.2 ( 9.8 - 50.2)	390	30	375	69.4 (48.1 - 100.2)
Total		97				328		

**Table 10.** Number of subjects 65 years or older and all fractures, person-years (PY), ageadjusted incidence of all fractures and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) by gender and year in the Lieto study of fractures, 1991-2002.

<sup>†</sup> Number (N) of male / female subjects alive at the beginning of the year in question.

<sup>\*</sup> Adjusted for age at the time of the fracture or age at the end of follow-up year.

#### 6.4 Predictors of fractures (Study II)

In age-adjusted Poisson regression analysis among women, handgrip strength <76 kPa, BMI scores <30, a previous fracture sustained after the age of 45 years but before the baseline, and a compression fracture in one or more thoracic or upper lumbar vertebra were significantly related to the risk of fractures. Among men, significant predictors were a large number of depressive symptoms (ZSDS score 45 or over) and a compression fracture in one or upper lumbar vertebra at baseline.

The variables showing significant association with fractures in age-adjusted analyses were selected to be adjusted in gender-specific multivariate Poisson regression analyses (Table 11). In the analyses, reduced handgrip strength and body mass index (BMI) <30 among women, and a large number of depressive symptoms among men were identified as predictors of fractures during the 12-year follow-up. A compression fracture in one or more thoracic or upper lumbar vertebra on chest radiography at baseline was associated with fractures in both genders.

Predicting factor**	Men *		Women <sup>#</sup>	
	RR (95% CI)	p-value	RR (95% CI)	p-value
Handgrip strength (kPa) 76+ 48- 75			1 16(11-23)	0.021
≤47			2.2(1.4 - 3.5)	0.004
Body mass index (BMI) ≥30 25-29.9 <25			1 1.9 (1.3 – 2.7) 2.0 (1.4 – 2.9)	0.0003 0.0004
<b>ZSDS score</b> 20-44 45-80	1 2.1 (1.2 – 3.6)	0.012		
Previous fracture after age of 45 years ## no yes			1 1.1 (0.8 – 1.5)	0.428
<b>Compression fracture/s in thoracic or upper lumbar vertebrae</b> no yes	1 3.5 (1.9 – 6.7)	<0.0001	1 2.0 (1.3 – 3.0)	0.0006

**Table 11.** Predicting factors and relative risks (RR) with their 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) for fractures in multivariate Poisson regression analyses among men\* and women<sup>#</sup> who sustained at least one fracture during the 12-year follow-up.

\* Age (a continuous variable), ZSDS and compression of thoracic or upper lumbar vertebrae were included in multivariate Poisson regression model in men.

<sup>#</sup> Age (a continuous variable), handgrip strength, BMI, occurrence of a previous fracture after 45 years of age and compression of thoracic or upper lumbar vertebrae were included in multivariate Poisson regression model in women.

\*\* Include variables showing significant association (p < 0.05) with fractures in gender-specific age-adjusted analyses.

## At least one registered fracture after the age of 45 years but before baseline (1990-19

#### 6.5 Functional ability in the 8-year follow-up

#### 6.5.1 Change in functional ability

During the eight-year follow-up, the proportion of those who reported difficulties or dependence in tasks increased from 29.7% to 63.4 % in mobility, from 13% to 38.9% in ADL tasks, and from 35.4% to 75.6% in IADL tasks (Appendix Tables 5-7).

Gender, cognitive ability, leisure-time physical exercise, handgrip strength, body mass index (BMI), number of drugs, depressive symptoms and fractures sustained during

either follow-up periods (2 years or 6 years) significantly predicted a decline in mobility or in managing ADL or IADL tasks after adjusting for age and functional abilities at baseline, and were therefore chosen to be controlled and analysed in the multivariate analyses.

#### 6.5.2 Fractures and functional decline (Study III)

In the multivariate analyses, lower body fractures predicted decline in mobility (p<0.001) and in ADL functions (p=0.012) in the short-term follow-up, whereas upper body fractures did not (Table 12). In the long-term follow-up, lower body fractures predicted decline in mobility (p=0.029) and in ADL functions (p<0.001). In addition, upper body fractures predicted decline in ADL functions (p=0.009). Sustained fractures were not related to a decrease in managing IADL tasks in short-term or longer-term follow-ups.

#### 6.5.3 Other predictors of functional decline (Study III)

There were several other variables that were statistically significantly associated with the functional decline during the 8-year follow-up (Table 12). High age, inactivity in leisure-time physical exercise and difficulties or dependency in mobility or ADL or IADL tasks at baseline were related to all three dimensions of functional decline (mobility, ADL and IADL).

#### 6.5.4 Drop-out analysis

There were 147 subjects (19%) (50 men and 97 women) who were alive in 1998-1999 but who did not participate in the Lieto Study II (Figure 7). Of the drop-out persons, 100 (68%) cancelled their participation or did not participate in a re-examination without telling a specific reason, 23 (16%) were not invited, 19 (13%) were too tired to participate, 3 had moved and were not reached, and 2 did not participate because their relatives did not allow them to participate.

There were only minor differences between participants (n=616) and non-participants (drop-outs=147) in re-examinations. Drop-outs had more difficulties or were more dependent in moving outdoors (p=0.034), walking at least 400 metres (p=0.039) and carrying a 5-kg load at least 100 metres (p=0.014). In addition, a greater share of drop-outs had elevated diastolic blood pressure (over 90 mmHg) (p=0.016) and belonged to the highest quartile in systolic blood pressure categorisation (over 168 mmHg in men and 170 mmHg in women) (p=0.027) compared with those participating in the study. The proportions of those with a diagnosed cardiovascular disease were equal in both groups.

Characteristics <sup>†</sup>	Mobility	ADL tasks	IADL tasks
	(n=594)	(n=590)	(n=598)
	COR (95% CI)	COR (95% CI)	COR (95% CI)
At least one fracture during the			
short-term follow-up (1997-99)			
- no	1	1	1
– lower body	47(19 - 117)	$\frac{1}{31(13-76)}$	34(09-124)
- upper body	16(07 - 36)	14(06-34)	18(07 - 49)
- upper oody	1.0 (0.7 - 5.0)	1.4 (0.0 – 5.4)	1.0 (0.7 – 4.9)
At least one fracture during the			
long-term follow-up (1991-96)			
- no	1	1	1
– lower body	2.6(1.1-6.2)	4.7(2.0 - 11.4)	0.7(0.2 - 1.8)
– upper body	1.7(0.9 - 3.2)	2.5(1.3 - 4.8)	1.8(0.8 - 3.9)
			,
Gender			
– male	1	1	1
– female	1.3 (0.9 – 1.8)	0.8 (0.5 – 1.2)	1.5 (1.0 – 2.2)
Cognitive ability (MMSE)			
- 24-30	1	1	1
_<24 -<24	18(09 - 36)	$\frac{1}{37(18-78)}$	13(05-33)
24	1.0 (0.9 5.0)	0.7 (1.0 7.0)	1.5 (0.5 5.5)
Leisure-time physical exercise			
– yes	1	1	1
- no	2.3 (1.6 – 3.4)	1.9 (1.3 – 2.9)	1.8 (1.2 – 2.7)
Sumvariable of mobility or ADL			
tasks or IADI tasks at baseline			
independent in all tasks	1	1	1
- independent in an tasks	1 - 20(10 - 48)	1 - 2 (1 - 2 - 2)	$\frac{1}{26(14,46)}$
- difficulties in at least one task	5.0(1.9 - 4.8) 5.7 (2.6 12.2)	2.3(1.2 - 4.2) 7.8(1.2 45.0)	2.0(1.4 - 4.0)
- dependent in at least one task	5.7 (2.0 - 12.2)	7.8 (1.3 – 45.9)	20.5 (0.1 - 114.0)
Handgrip strength (kPa)			
(M=men; W=women)			
- M 86 + W 76 +	1	1	1
– M 55 -85 W 48 -75	1.1(0.7 - 1.5)	1.3(0.8-2.0)	1.1(0.7 - 1.6)
$-M \le 54$ $W \le 47$	1.5 (0.8 – 2.7)	2.4 (1.3 – 4.5)	1.9 (0.9 – 3.9)
Body mass index (BMI)			
-<25	1	1	1
- 25 - 29.9	1.4 (0.9 – 2.2)	0.8(0.5-1.4)	1.5(0.9 - 2.4)
- 30 +	1.7 (1.1 – 2.8)	1.1 (0.6 – 1.9)	2.3 (1.3 – 4.1)
Number of prescribed drugs			
- 0	1	1	1
- 1-5	1.6(1.1 - 2.4)	2.7(1.6 - 4.4)	$\frac{1}{1.1(0.7-1.7)}$
- ≥6	16(08-29)	21(10-43)	18(07 - 47)

**Table 12.** Relationships between variables and the risk of functional decline during the 8-year follow-up. Cumulative odds ratios (COR) with their 95% confidence intervals (95%CI) in the multivariate cumulative logistic regression analyses\* (n=616).

\* Adjusted with age, gender, cognitive abilities (Mini Mental State Examination), leisure time physical exercise, level of mobility or managing in activities of daily living or instrumental activities of daily living, handgrip strength, body mass index, number of prescription drugs in use, depressive symptoms (Zung Self-rating Depression Scale) at baseline, and sustained fractures by site during the follow-up periods.

<sup>†</sup> Only variables showing a significant (p-values <0.05) association with decline of mobility or in managing ADL or IADL functions in multivariate analyses are shown. COR > 1 indicates decline in functioning.

### 6.6 Mortality (Study IV)

At the end of 2002, 608 people (52%) out of 1177 (277 men and 331 women) had died. Age-adjusted mortality was higher in men than in women (HR 1.6, 95% CI: 1.4-1.9).

The main causes of death in both genders were cardio- and cerebro-vascular diseases. More men died due to coronary heart disease and myocardial infarction (p=0.003) and pulmonary diseases (p=0.011) compared with women (Study IV). In women, dying due to mental disorder was more common compared with men (p=0.019).

In hip fracture patients, coronary heart disease and myocardial infarction were significantly more common causes of death in men than in women (52% vs. 10%, p=0.0019). There were no other gender-specific differences in the main causes of deaths by fracture type.

6.6.1 General predictors of excess mortality

Several variables were related to excess mortality in the gender-specific and ageadjusted analyses. In the multivariate analyses, being single (HR 1.4, 95% CI: 1.1 -1.9), or having difficulties at least in one mobility, ADL, or IADL tasks (HR 1.7, 95% CI: 1.2 - 2.5) predicted death in women, while cognitive impairment (MMSE <17) (HR 5.7, 95% CI: 1.6 - 20.0) and ex-smoking (HR 1.4, 95% CI: 1.0 - 2.0) predicted death in men. In addition, current smoking (men: HR 2.0, 95% CI: 1.3 - 3.2), (women: HR 2.2, 95% CI:1.1 - 4.7); the use of prescribed drugs (men: HR 1.7-2.1, 95% CI: 1.2 - 3.4); (women: HR 2.0, 95% CI: 1.2 - 3.2) and lack of leisure-time physical exercise (men: HR 1.5, 95% CI: 1.1 - 2.1); (women: HR 1.6, 95% CI: 1.1 - 2.2) were independently associated with increased mortality both in men and women.

#### 6.6.2 Fractures as predictors of excess mortality

In 1991, age-standardised mortality per 1000 persons in Lieto among persons 65 years or older was 41.3 (95% CI 22.5-60.0) in men and 29.2 (95% CI 16.0-42.4) in women. Among men, mortality was 62% (n=46) in those sustaining at least one fracture during the follow-up compared with 57% (n=231) in those without any fractures (p=ns). In women, the corresponding figures were 49% (n=231) and 45% (n=100) (p=ns). In the follow-up period of six months to three years after a sustained hip fracture, the proportion of dead patients was higher in men than in women (57-81 vs. 18- 43%, respectively), (p<0.007).

In the age-adjusted analyses, sustaining any kind of fracture was associated with excess mortality in both men (HR 2.2, 95% CI: 1.6-3.1) and women (HR 1.6, 95% CI: 1.3-2.1) during the 12-year follow-up. In addition, vertebral compression fractures at baseline predicted death both in men and in women, but previous fractures sustained before the baseline did not predict excess mortality in either gender (Table 13). In fracture-specific analyses, hip fractures in both genders and proximal humerus fractures in men predicted mortality.

In the multivariate analyses, sustaining any kind of fracture was associated with the excess mortality in both genders during the 12-year follow-up: men (HR 2.1, 95% CI: 1.5-3.1) and women (HR 1.5, 95% CI: 1.1-2.0) (Table 13). In fracture-specific analyses, sustaining a hip fracture was an independent risk factor for mortality both in men (HR 8.1, 95% CI: 4.4-14.9) and in women (HR 3.0, 95% CI: 1.9-4.9), whereas proximal humerus fractures were associated with excess mortality only in men (HR 5.4, 95% CI: 1.6-17.7). Other fracture types sustained during the follow-up or vertebral compression fractures at baseline did not predict excess mortality.

**Table 13.** Prediction of death by an occurrence of fracture during the 12-year follow-up in the Lieto study of fractures. Gender-specific Hazards Ratios (HR) with their 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) in the age-adjusted and multivariate Cox Proportional Hazards regression analyses.

	Men		Women	
Fracture	Age-adjusted HR (95% CI)	Multivariate* HR (95% CI)	Age-adjusted HR (95% CI)	Multivariate* HR (95% CI)
At least one previous fracture				
after age of 45 years but before				
baseline				
- no	1		1	
– yes	1.0 (0.8 - 1.4)		1.9 (0.7 – 1.2)	
At least one fracture during follow-up <sup>†</sup>				
– no fracture	1	1	1	1
– hip	6.6 (4.0 - 10.8)	8.1 (4.4 – 14.9)	2.7 (1.8 - 3.9)	3.0 (1.9 - 4.9)
- forearm or wrist	1.9 (0.6 - 5.8)	1.5 (0.4 – 6.4)	1.3 (0.8 – 2.0)	1.3 (0.8 – 2.1)
– tibial or ankle	1.6 (0.8 - 3.5)	1.8 (0.8 - 4.0)	1.3 (0.6 – 2.5)	1.2 (0.6 – 2.3)
- proximal humerus	6.6 (2.1 – 20.7)	5.4 (1.6 – 17.7)	1.5 (0.8 – 2.9)	1.0 (0.4 - 2.3)
$-\operatorname{rib}(s)$	0.6 (0.2 – 1.6)	0.5 (0.1 – 1.5)	1.4 (0.6 – 3.2)	1.8 (0.8 - 4.2)
- vertebral compression	3.6 (1.3 – 9.6)	2.1 (0.6 - 6.8)	1.0 (0.3 – 3.1)	0.6 (0.1 – 2.3)
– other	1.6 (0.7 – 3.5)	1.9 (0.7 – 4.8)	1.6 (1.0 – 2.5)	1.6 (0.9 - 2.8)
- any	2.2 (1.6 – 3.1)	2.1 (1.5 – 3.1)	1.6 (1.3 – 2.1)	1.5 (1.1 – 2.0)
Vertebral compression fracture/ s at besaling				
- no	1	1	1	1
– yes	1.6 (1.1 – 2.4)	1.4 (0.8 - 2.2)	1.6 (1.2 – 2.2)	1.3 (0.9 - 2.0)

\* Age (continuous variable), marital status, education, mobility, ADL tasks, IADL tasks, MMSE score, smoking, leisure-time physical exercise, hand grip strength, body mass index, drug use, depressive symptoms, fractures during the follow-up, and compression fractures at baseline were included in multivariate analyses.

<sup>†</sup> Fractures sustained during the 12-year follow-up were analysed as time-dependent variables.

ADL=activities of daily living, IADL= instrumental activities of daily living, kPa= kiloPascals, MMSE= Mini-Mental State Examination, ZSDS = Zung Self-rating Depression Scale.

## 7. DISCUSSION

7.1 Strengths and limitations of the study

The Lieto Study is a population-based cohort study with a 93% participation rate at baseline and a 98% participation rate in fracture collection ensuring an unselected population. Differences in health care systems and registers may decrease comparability of study results in different countries. In this work, studies with population-based or cohort studies are favoured, when our results are compared with other published studies. The long follow-up time and detailed and verified information in older adults, morbidity, functional status and mortality in older men and women increase the validity of the Lieto Study.

The internal validity is determined by how well the design, data collection and analyses are carried out or threatened by selection, measurement or confounding biases (Fletcher & Fletcher 2005). External validity (generalisability) refers to the extent to which the results achieved hold true in other settings (Fletcher & Fletcher 2005). In a population-based cohort study where a cohort is representative of a well-defined population (by geographic boundaries or by other criteria), selection bias is minimised and the external validity is high (Szklo 1998). Because the sampling, recruitment, data collection and follow-up of the participants were exhaustive in the Lieto Study, at least three advantages have been achieved: 1) estimation of distributions and prevalence rates of relevant variables in the reference population, 2) risk factor distributions measured at baseline in the Lieto Study and periodic examinations of the cohort allow comparison with distributions in future cross sectional samples to assess risk factor trends over time, and 3) a representative sample that "is the ideal setting in which to carry out unbiased evaluations of relations, not only of confounders to exposures and outcomes, but also among any other variables of interest, even those which were not specified in the original study hypotheses" (Szklo 1998).

Majority of measurements used in data collection in the Lieto Study have been assessed internationally as valid and reliable. This decreases the possibilities of measurement biases. The wide and detailed baseline and follow-up data provided also a possibility to adjust for confounding variables related both to mortality and functional decline, especially to morbidity and functional limitations. The data on participants' health status used in the adjusted analyses were collected in the beginning of the study, 1990-1991. In follow-up studies, changes in health status may take place after the baseline examination (Gill et al. 2004). These changes may have affected the individual's survival and the development of functional limitations also in the Lieto Study. In the Lieto Study, the baseline variables were collected during years 1990-91 and the consequences of fractures were assessed for fractures sustained in 1991-2002. It is obvious that there have been changes in health and functional ability between the baseline measurements and the occurrence of fractures. Hence the cumulative odds

ratios for the impact of fractures on functional decline are only approximations. However, the baseline data was used in a way which is common in prospective epidemiological studies.

Population-based follow-up studies are expensive, and thus multiple hypotheses are included in their plans (Szklo 1998). This was also true in the Lieto Study. The Lieto Study was designed in order to describe and analyse occurrences and risk factors of several common health disorders among the aged (Isoaho et al. 1994a; Isoaho et al. 1994b; Ahto et al. 1998; Linjakumpu et al. 2002). It was not originally designed for describing and analysing the occurrence and risk factors of fractures. Despite of comprehensive data collection, some previously reported risk factors of fractures (bone mineral density, calcium and vitamin D intake, family history of fractures, height loss, alcohol consumption, leanness, body balance, and strength of lower extremities) were not included in the baseline measurements. Several risk factors of fractures differ by type of fracture (Honkanen et al. 1998; Hippisley-Cox & Coupland 2009; Kelsey & Samelson 2009; Jokinen et al. 2010) but the risk factors of fractures were analysed for all fractures only in Lieto. Unfortunately the small number of fractures did not allow fracture-specific analyses in Study III. Thus the association between fractures and functional limitation was analysed in two major groups: upper and lower body fractures. Fractures were categorised due to their association to mobility. In addition, none of our results were adjusted by amount or quality of rehabilitation after a fracture. Thus, confounding may always be present in observational studies. However, the best available statistical methods and a careful assessment of statistical power as well as careful consideration of the variables from the clinical perspective have been used in developing the multivariate models and in analysing the results.

#### Fracture data

We used the data on fractures collected from three sources: baseline examination (1990-1991), second wave of the Lieto Study (1998-99), and follow-up data collected from the registers. Previously sustained fractures were asked from the participants and reported during the Lieto Study II in 1998-1999. Altogether, 616 of the 1177 subjects participating in the first wave of the Lieto Study in 1990-1991 (baseline) also participated in the second wave during 1998-1999. The fracture data was collected individually from the health records for the present study and it was compared with the self-reported information collected during Lieto Study II in 616 participants; no diagnosed fractures that had occurred in these 616 participants were missed. However, only one third of vertebral fractures are diagnosed clinically (Haczynski & Jakimiuk 2001; Old & Calvert 2004). In addition, the Genant's classification (Genant et al. 1993) was not used in diagnosing compression fractures in Lieto at baseline and mainly only moderate to severe wedge-shaped deformities were included. Furthermore, in most cases a compressed fracture in upper lumbar vertebra was diagnosed from the L1 level only. It is most likely that the sensitivity of diagnosing all vertebral compression fractures has been poor. However, it has been shown that the agreement of diagnosing a vertebral compression fracture is higher in severe compression fractures (Härmä et al. 1986; Gehlbach et al. 2000). In Lieto, a deformity of a vertebra was diagnosed only if it was obviously compressed to a wedge shape (Genant's classification at least moderate). Thus, the specificity of diagnosing osteoporotic vertebral fractures is high in Lieto. It is probable that vertebral compression factures are underreported in Lieto, but otherwise, the data cover nearly 100% of all fractures sustained in 1991-2002.

Even though it has been shown that the accuracy of coding fractures in health registers is high (93-98%) (Mönkkönen et al. 1989; Lüthje et al. 1995b; Sund et al. 2007), it is possible that the registers used may have contained inaccuracies in coding fractures. However, in Lieto all fractures were collected individually with their ICD codes and written information about the fracture. The codes were double-checked in relation to written information and patient records. When transferring ICD-9 codes into ICD-10 codes, the written information about the type and site of fracture was carefully taken into account. The fracture data of the present study were collected and coded by a single collector with particular care; thus the data accuracy should be of high quality.

Lieto is a semi-rural municipality. There is evidence that the incidence of hip fractures is higher in urban residents than in their rural counterparts (Brennan et al. 2010). The reason for the difference is unknown. However, the difference in hip fracture incidence ratios between rural and urban populations has not been reported in all studies (Lüthje et al. 1995c). It is noticeable that information is scarce about differences in incidence rates of other types of fractures by living area. It is possible that the lower fracture incidence in rural areas might be true also for other fracture types.

In the Lieto Study, the numbers of individual fracture types were rather small leading to wide confidence intervals of risk ratios and limiting the power of statistical analyses. Especially low numbers of fractures were detected among those over 80 years of age, which decreases the accuracy of age-specific incidences among the oldest-old population.

#### Mortality data

Statistics Finland produces statistics on causes of death and on the change of mortality in the Finnish population. The causes of death are compiled from data obtained from death certificates and supplemented with data from the population information system of the Population Register Centre. The databases cover all the persons who died in Finland or abroad during the calendar year and who were domiciled in Finland at the time of death (Statistics Finland 2009). The quality and coverage of the Statistics on Deaths database is high (Statistics Finland 2010).

In the Lieto Study, causes of death among persons with fractures were compared with causes of death among persons without sustained fractures. In many cohort studies, mortality is evaluated by calculating the difference between the observed number of dead persons and the number of dead persons in a general population with similar age and gender during the follow-up period (expected death) (Bliuc et al. 2009). Usually

standard life-table methods applied to population-based data with age- and genderspecific mortality is used (Haentjens et al. 2010). However, in their meta-analysis Haentjens and colleagues (2010) summarised that in many studies, the data are not stratified or adjusted by important risk factors for death (Haentjens et al. 2010). This raises the value of the Lieto Study; the data are both valid and adjusted by important risk factors of excess mortality. Other fractures sustained are also included in the multivariate analyses in the Lieto Study.

The age-standardised mortality in 1991 was 1.6 times higher in the total Finnish population aged 65 years or older than in the corresponding Lieto population. In Lieto, the mortality was 41.3 in men and 29.2 in women compared with 65.5 per 1000 persons in men and 48.9 in women in 1991 in the total Finnish population. This finding is supported by the results of previous Finnish epidemiological studies which have shown the rate of coronary heart disease mortality to be lower in south-western Finland compared with the north-eastern areas (Pekkanen et al. 1992). This difference is explained by differences in socioeconomic, nutritional and genetic factors (Mähönen et al. 2000).

7.2 Results

#### 7.2.1 All fractures

The results showed that fractures are common among an older Finnish population and as many as every fourth person aged 65 years or older sustains at least one fracture later in life.

#### *Incidence of fractures*

The overall incidence rate of sustaining any kind of fracture was 53.4 per 1000 PY in women and 24.9 per 1000 PY in men. Thus the fracture risk in older women was 2-fold compared with older men. The incidence of fractures in older women has been reported to be higher compared with older men also in other studies (Baron et al. 1996; Gullberg et al. 1997; Sanders et al. 1999). The male fracture rate in Lieto was 39% lower than that in Iceland (Jonsson et al. 2004), but 30% higher in men and 64% higher in women than among persons aged 60 years or older living in Australia (Jones et al. 1994). In the Australian Dubbo Study (Jones et al. 1994; Chang et al. 2004), only the first fractures were taken into account. When the incidence is calculated for the first fractures only, the rate remains lower than when all fractures are taken into account.

Seasonal variation was not found in the incidence rate of all fractures in Lieto. No statistically significant differences were observed in seasonal incidence rates in distal radius, hip or proximal humerus fractures in Japan, either (Hagino et al. 1999). Opposite results have also been reported suggesting that fractures occur more frequently during the autumn or winter months (Bulajic-Kopjar 2000; O'Neill et al.
2001; Thompson et al. 2004; Mirchandani et al. 2005; Bischoff-Ferrari et al. 2007; Sund 2007; Flinkkilä et al. 2010). These differences may be explained by the differences of the age structure of the subjects and by the differences in types or the severity of fractures included in analyses. For example, in the study of Kaukonen et al. (1985) the seasonal variation (higher number in winter) was found only among outpatient distal forearm patients, not in hospitalised cases. In addition, Sund et al. (2007) reported that the number of hip fractures was higher in winter/ spring season compared with that of hip fractures in summer/ autumn season in non-institutionalised persons. It has also been shown that hip fractures have a smaller winter/ summer difference than those of distal forearm, proximal humerus or ankle fractures (Bischoff-Ferrari et al. 2007). The winter-summer variation in fracture rates has also been reported to be higher in men than women, and winter peaks appear to be more pronounced in those younger than 80 years of age (Bischoff-Ferrari et al. 2007). However, it is possible that the use of seasonal division in our study had an effect on our results; in Finland snowfalls are common even in March. Unfortunately, the small number of fractures did not allow analysing seasonal variation by the types of fractures.

#### Trend of fracture incidences

The trend in the age-adjusted incidence of all fractures was stable from 1991 to 2002 in Lieto. Unfortunately, the amount of fractures was too small to analyse fracture-specific trends. The trend of hip fractures has been studied widely, most likely because hip fractures are easily derived from registers. There is evidence that the incidence of hip fractures has increased among older persons in Central Finland (Lönnroos et al. 2006). However, an overall declining trend of hip fractures has been reported covering Finland as a whole (Kannus et al. 2006; Sund 2011 unpublished data). Globally, the age-adjusted incidence of hip fracture seems to be stabilised (Lofthus et al. 2001) or declined among the aged during the last decade (Kannus et al. 2006; Fisher et al. 2009; Leslie et al. 2009; Melton et al. 2009). This decline has been noticed especially in older women (Kannus et al. 2006; Fisher et al. 2009; Leslie et al. 2009; Melton et al. 2009). Among older men, there is also evidence that the incidence trend is increasing in Germany and that the annual incidence of hip fractures has risen in very old persons (≥90 years) in Sweden (Bergström et al. 2009).

It is possible that older people in high-income countries are healthier and have improved functional abilities and reduced risk of injurious falls compared with earlier cohorts (Kannus et al. 2006). The risen average body weight and body mass index may contribute higher bone density, aromatisation of oestrogen and padding over the trochanter reducing the fracture rates (Leslie et al. 2009). It is also possible that preventive actions, such as non-smoking and physical activity and fall prevention interventions, and improvement in calcium and vitamin D intake as well as the use of hip protectors have affected the hip fracture rates at the population level (Kannus et al. 2006; Gates et al. 2008; Leslie et al. 2009). However, if the amount of very old people keeps increasing and the trend of hip fractures keeps shifting more and more towards

the oldest old people all over the western world, future healthcare will face major challenges (Bergström et al. 2009).

#### Predictors of fractures

A predictor is a characteristic associated with the increased rate of a subsequently occurring disease/injury; causality may or may not be implied (Dorland's illustrated medical dictionary 2000). It is noticeable that the predictors are always related to the population from which they are derived. The possibility to use wide-based confounders in analysing independent risk factors for fractures in other studies is limited compared with the Lieto Study. The use of confounding variables may explain the difference in some of the results of the present study compared with other studies.

The risk factors for fractures found in this study were similar to the risk factors of both falls and bone fragility identified also in several previous studies (Hippisley-Cox & Coupland 2009; Karinkanta et al. 2010). However, in screening people with specific risk of fractures, the differences in the predictors (risk factors) of fractures between genders need to be noticed. In the Lieto study, variables associated with an increased risk of fractures differed between men and women. Even though men and women share many of the risk factors for fractures (White et al. 2006; Hippisley-Cox & Coupland 2009), gender differences have been noticed in the variables associated with both falls (Campbell et al. 1989) and fractures (White et al. 2006; Hippisley-Cox & Coupland 2009).

In Lieto, prior fractures were not associated with future fractures. In former studies, not only prior forearm fractures (Cuddihy et al. 1999; Honkanen et al. 2000) but also prior vertebral fractures (Melton et al. 1999a; Johnell et al. 2004b) and prior hip fractures (Johnell et al. 2004b) have been shown to be associated with future fractures, in both genders (Kanis et al. 2004b). However, in a Swedish study (Johnell et al. 2004b) prior spine and hip fractures were not associated with future forearm fractures in older women. There is also strong evidence that parental history of fracture, especially a family history of hip fracture, is related to the risk of future fractures (Kanis et al. 2004a). In Lieto, the information on parental history of fractures was not available.

The explanation for the association between prior and future fractures has been searched from bone strength. Low BMD has been shown to be one of the risk factors for osteoporosis and fragility fractures (Cheng et al. 1997; Albrand et al. 2003; Johnell et al. 2005; Cummings et al. 2006). However, not all persons with a low BMD value sustain a fracture after a fall (Sambrook & Cooper 2006; Järvinen et al. 2008). There is also evidence that falling accidents and fall-related factors predict fractures independently regardless of BMD values (Kaptoge et al. 2005; Schwartz et al. 2005). Thus, the importance of the falling accident itself has been emphasised (Kanis et al. 2005a; Kannus et al. 2005b; Järvinen et al. 2008). In Lieto, BMD was not measured but vertebral compression at baseline was used as an indicator of bone fragility. It is noticeable that compression fractures predicted future fractures both in men and in

women in Lieto. It is likely that the impact of prior fractures (and low BMD) on sustaining future fractures vary by the type of fracture and it is evident that bone quality has also an important impact if a fracture is sustained after a fall, especially in advanced age (Bouxsein 2008; Kelsey & Samelson 2009). In future studies more emphasis need to be focused especially on the falling mechanism and bone quality.

Smoking impairs formation of new bone, absorption of calcium and adversely affects hormones and enzymes involved in bone regulation leading to decreased bone mass (Nieves 2008). Thus, smoking has been identified as a significant risk factor for both osteoporosis (Nieves 2008) and many fracture types (Vestergaard & Mosekilde 2003; Kanis et al. 2005c; Nieves 2008; Hippisley-Cox & Coupland 2009). However, smoking was not associated with the risk of fracture in Lieto. One explanation for the difference in this result compared with previous studies is that smoking has more impact on hip and spine fractures (fragility fractures) compared with other fracture types (Vestergaard & Mosekilde 2003). On the other hand, it has been shown that smoking is also associated with ankle fractures in women (Valtola et al. 2002). In Lieto, a majority of the fractures were other than typical fragility fractures, and the proportion of hip, spine and proximal humerus fractures was only 37% of all fractures. Another explanation is related to smoking cessation and the small proportion of smokers in Lieto. It has been shown that cessation of smoking decreases the risk of fractures (Vestergaard & Mosekilde 2003; Nieves 2008). The proportion of smokers who have stopped smoking is high among the elderly in Finland (Laitalainen et al. 2008).

A BMI value <30 at baseline predicted a new fracture in women in Lieto. Low BMI is a well-documented risk factor for future fractures, but the significance of BMI as a risk factor depends on BMD and varies according to the classification of BMI (De Laet et al. 2005). In older people, low BMI predicts an overall poor health status and mortality (Klenk et al. 2009) as well as an increased risk for falls and fractures (Karinkanta et al. 2010). According to a meta-analysis of 12 prospective population-based studies (De Laet et al. 2005), low BMI predisposes to fracture and this finding is independent of age and gender, but dependent on BMD. However, in the meta-analysis of De Laet et al. (2005), no other risk factors than age, BMI and BMD were adjusted in evaluating the risk factors for fractures. Thus, the importance of low BMI as an independent risk factor for fractures can only be speculated.

The protecting factor behind high BMI is likely the high amount of muscle mass instead of overweight itself (Beck et al. 2009). Poor muscle strength has also been proven to be an independent risk factor for falls (The American Geriatrics Society 2010; Tinetti & Kumar 2010). There is evidence that overweight serves as a risk factor for ankle fracture in middle-aged women (Valtola et al. 2002), and obesity is associated with higher all-cause mortality in both genders (Klenk et al. 2009). In the elderly women, a decrease in BMI value may, however, serve as an alarm signal for increased risk of fractures and thus, the weight of older persons should be regularly followed. Poor muscle strength, low handgrip strength as an indicator in this study, predicted fractures in women. It is likely that especially aging women need to take care of their muscle strength both in order to prevent fractures and severe consequences after an injury.

The Lieto study showed that depressive symptoms measured with ZSDS independently predicted fractures in men but not in women. This result is opposite to that obtained in a Norwegian study (Søgaard et al. 2005), where long-term mental distress was associated with a risk of all non-vertebral fractures and osteoporotic fractures in middle-aged women, but not in men. Although the association between depressive symptoms and fractures has been shown especially in women (Whooley et al. 1999; Mussolino 2005; Søgaard et al. 2005), the overall association between depressive symptoms and BMD decrease or fractures has not been shown in all prospective cohort studies (Whitson et al. 2008). In a recent meta-analysis (Wu et al. 2009), depression was associated with a significant decrease in mean BMD of spine and hip both in men and women. Furthermore, a substantially greater BMD decrease was observed in depressed women and in those with diagnosed clinical depression.

However, there is previous evidence that depressive symptoms are related to falls in both genders (Whooley et al. 1999; Biderman et al. 2002; Tinetti & Kumar 2010). A low quality of life measured with the SF-36 physical component summary score has been reported to predict fractures in menopausal women (Papaioannou et al. 2005). A large number of depressive symptoms in addition to cognitive impairment has been shown to be a risk factor for functional decline (Mehta et al. 2002). Depressed persons may be passive in physical exercise and they may have poor appetite, which may lead to a decrease in BMD, muscle strength and body balance. Depression is associated with poor physical health both in older men and women (Päivärinta et al. 1999). Thus, the high risk of sustaining fractures may be explained by these factors. However, the negative impact of depressive symptoms on BMD has been shown to be independent of body weight or other behavioural factors such as calcium compliance or exercise in postmenopausal women (Milliken et al. 2006). It is possible that mental distress influences bone metabolism both directly and indirectly via health behaviour and functional decline (Mezuk et al. 2008).

#### Functional decline

Older women report more disabilities and functional limitations in ADL tasks than older men (Merrill et al. 1997). In the Lieto study, no clear gender differences were observed in managing mobility- or ADL-related tasks in the 616 surviving participants but more women were more often than men dependent in at least one IADL-related task both in 1990-1991 and 1998-1999 examinations. Several reasons for gender differences in functioning have been proposed. One hypothesis is that women have more nonfatal but disabling conditions and diseases. A Dutch population-based subcohort study with one-year follow-up showed that neither men nor women regained their pre-injury levels of ADL functioning after an injury (Kempen et al. 2003). In the present study, older men were able to reach their pre-injury level. Men who survived

an injury needed up to 12 months to recover, whereas women's recovery ceased at 5 months after injury. In a short-term follow-up (up to 5 months), recovery does not seem to be influenced by gender but rather, by the severity of the injury and high age.

The Lieto data shows that fractures have an impact on the development of impairments both in short- and longer perspectives. The results support and bring new evidence for the previously reported studies (Willig et al. 2001; Nurmi et al. 2004; Gerdhem et al. 2006; Tsuboi et al. 2007). The participants in this study represented an unselected population with a great variability in health status and functioning. The functional tests might not be sensitive for minor changes in functioning among the healthiest participants, but they are sensitive for major limitations and dependences. A decline in self-reported mobility and in self-reported ADL performance after a fracture, which were used as functional outcomes, may thus be an underestimate of functional decline among older fracture patients. It is also likely that the variables assessing functional tasks were not sensitive in analysing the impact of fractures on hobby-related tasks.

Functional decline is usually defined as a reduced ability to perform basic mobility tasks, e.g. walking, and daily tasks, such as eating, washing and cleaning (Inouye et al. 2000). In this study, leisure-time physical inactivity in exercise predicted increased risk of functional decline and mortality independently of other predictors, which supports earlier reports (Stuck et al. 1999). Most ADL functions are based on walking and require balance and muscle strength. After a fracture, physical exercise, especially progressive resistance training, is important in reducing physical disability and ADL limitations (Binder et al. 2004).

Also psychosocial factors are associated with the development of disabilities, especially in older persons (Kempen et al. 2005). Positive self-efficacy, perceived control, positive life attitude and belief of having control over own health (internal locus of control) seems to have positive effects on recovery after injurious falls and even in chronic conditions (Kempen et al. 2003; Proctor et al. 2008). There is evidence that a falling accident increases the fear of falling (Lord et al. 2001). It is therefore likely that many old persons limit also their social activities after a fracture. Patients with fear of falling or unrealistic expectations on their recovery (overexertion) or patients underestimating their capabilities are at risk of anxiety, frustration, and reduced motivation for physical activation. In addition, they are at risk of negative self-efficacy and excess disability (Proctor et al. 2008). Fractures and consequences of fractures may also narrow social roles and increase depressive symptoms (Greendale & Barrett-Connor 2008).

Personal resources and ability to benefit from social support seem to promote patients' recovery from fall-related injuries (Kempen et al. 2001). Persons with stronger support cope better with their situation after a hip fracture (Johansson et al. 1998). The assessment of patients' cognitions and beliefs about their recovery is essential for the rehabilitation process of fracture patients. In addition to setting realistic goals for the

rehabilitation process, it is important to increase patients' feelings of self-efficacy and control over the process of rehabilitation (Proctor et al. 2008).

#### Mortality

Sustaining any kind of fracture was associated with excess mortality both in men and women in the Lieto Study. However, it is likely that the impact of fracture on mortality risk varies by the type of fracture.

# 7.2.2 Hip fractures

### Incidence rates

The crude incidence of hip fractures in both genders was quite similar to the results obtained in persons aged 60 years or older in Australia (Chang et al. 2004). In previous studies (Jones et al. 1994; Kannus et al. 1999; Sanders et al. 1999; Lofthus et al. 2001; Boufous et al. 2004), the age-specific incidences have been quite similar to the results of this study among persons younger than 80 years, but among the population 85 years of age or older, the incidence of hip fractures was lower in this study. In Sweden (Kanis et al. 2000), the incidence in older men was quite similar to the results of this study, but the rate among women 75 years or older was higher in every age group compared with Lieto. In Mexican Americans, and in Africa and Asia, the incidence rates of hip fractures are reported to be lower in both genders compared with the results of this study (Espino et al. 2000; Lau et al. 2001; Zebaze & Seeman 2003). The reasons for gender-specific rate difference between countries can only be speculated but differences in life-style, health behaviour and genetic factors cannot be ruled out (Moayyeri et al. 2006).

The female/male incidence ratio of hip fracture was 1.7. Age-adjusted female/male incidence ratios of hip fracture have varied in different populations across the world from 0.9 to 2.9 (Moayyeri et al. 2006). In the majority of studies, including information from the last two decades, the female/male ratio of hip fracture incidence is approximately 2.5. In the Finnish PERFECT data in the years 2005, 2006 and 2007, the ratios have been 2.4, 2.3 and 2.1, respectively (Sund et al. 2008). Thus, the ratio in the present study was somewhat lower compared with those reported previously (Moayyeri et al. 2006; Sund et al. 2008). The incidence of hip fractures is higher in some Asian men (Middle-East and China) compared with men in European and North-American countries.

# Predictors

Specific predictors for hip fractures were not analysed in this study. A majority of hip fractures are sustained indoors (Lofthus et al. 2001), and this was also true in the Lieto Study, in which about 70% of the hip fractures were sustained indoors. Factors affecting hip fracture incidence differ between urban populations within a restricted geographical region (Falch et al. 1995). Predictors of hip fractures vary even between

countries geographically close to each other and among populations representing people of similar race and social structures (Falch et al. 1995; Moayyeri et al. 2006). This may be due to different registration systems, but more focus should also be directed on genetic and life-style factors in analysing predictors for hip fractures (Moayyeri et al. 2006).

The latitude and seasonal variation have been discussed as potential reasons for the high fracture incidence in the Scandinavian countries (Bulajic-Kopjar 2000; Lofthus et al. 2001). Seasonal variations of fractures were not analysed by type of fracture in the Lieto Study. However, in Lieto, every fourth fracture was a hip fracture, and no seasonal variation in any kind of fractures was found either in men or in women. Similarly, no seasonal variations in the incidence rates of hip fractures were found in Oslo, Norway (Lofthus et al. 2001), in Birmingham, the United Kingdom (Parker & Martin 1994) or in Rochester, Minnesota, USA (Jacobsen et al. 1995). However, considerable seasonal variation in the hip fracture incidence has been observed in a number of other studies (Bulajic-Kopjar 2000; Bischoff-Ferrari et al. 2007; Grønskag et al. 2010). It is possible that the nonexistence of the seasonal variation is due to the small number of fractures and grouping of months into seasons in Lieto. However, ice and snow are related to hip fractures among women 45 to 74 years of age but not among those aged 75 years and older (Jacobsen et al. 1995). It has also been shown that hip fractures have a smaller winter/summer difference than other fractures (Bischoff-Ferrari et al. 2007). Thus, it is understandable that the oldest old people fall and sustain hip fractures for other reasons than icv conditions (Bischoff-Ferrari et al. 2007).

However, reduced sunlight during the winter periods in Northern parts of the world reduces the synthesis of vitamin D (Bulajic-Kopjar 2000) and there is evidence that half of the patients with hip fracture suffer from hypovitaminosis D (Nurmi et al. 2005). The winter season and cold weather may also decrease physical activity and increase bone loss (Bergstralh et al. 1990). All these factors increase the risk of fractures, especially the risk of hip fracture and thus winter may increase the risk of sustaining a hip fracture, especially in those active and moving outside their homes in all seasons of the year. However, at least in patients with a history of recurrent falling ( $\geq$ 3 previous falls), intrinsic risk factors are likely to be more important than extrinsic risk factors for sustaining a hip fracture (Formiga et al. 2008).

#### Functional decline

The relationship between hip fracture and functional decline was not analysed in the Lieto Study. However, it has been shown that hip fractures are highly associated with loss of quality of life (Borgström et al. 2006). Thus, it is assumed that hip fractures had the greatest impact on the results regarding the effect of lower-body fractures.

In another Finnish study, only 36% of the hip fracture patients were able to move independently outdoors compared with 79% of their age- and gender-matched controls

after a mean of 7 years follow-up (Willig et al. 2001). More hip fracture patients needed walking aids, had difficulties in managing ADLs and required home help than the controls (Willig et al. 2001). In a 12- month follow-up, only 36% of male hip fracture patients could walk independently compared with 84% of the controls without a hip fracture (Pande et al. 2006). During a 2-year follow- up, 58% of women who sustained a hip fracture were unable to walk 100 yards unaided compared with 11.5% of the controls (at baseline: 13.6% and 6.3%, respectively) (Kirke et al. 2002).

In the previous studies, the results are adjusted only by age and gender. There is some evidence about the independent relationship of hip fractures on functional decline in 12 and 24 month follow-ups (Magaziner et al. 2003). The long-term findings of this study give new evidence compared with previous reports; lower-body fractures are independent risk factors for decreased mobility and ADL functioning.

Dementia, delirium and depression are common in older persons admitted to hospitals due to a hip fracture (Magaziner et al. 2000; Givens et al. 2008). These symptoms, alone and in combinations, debilitate recovery after a fracture (Givens et al. 2008). In the Lieto Study, no information about cognitive and mood disorders at the time of hip fracture was available, but adjustments could be made with the baseline information about depressive symptoms and cognitive ability. The MMSE score <24 and a high amount of depressive symptoms at baseline were related to a decline in ADL abilities during the 8-year follow-up even without fractures. It is likely that all of these factors together inflate the poor outcome after a fracture.

In hip fracture patients, muscle strength may remain persistently poor. An asymmetrical leg extension power impairs stair-climbing, a mobility task requiring unilateral force production (Portegijs et al. 2008b). It is likely that lower body fractures lead to reduced muscle strength that impairs ability to perform ADL functions requiring balance and gait. The first six months after the trauma are the most rapid recovery time for femur fracture patients (Magaziner et al. 2000; Sanders et al. 2008). After a fracture, physical exercise, especially progressive resistance training, is important in the reduction of physical disability and ADL limitations (Binder et al. 2004). Intensive progressive resistance training may decrease self-reported difficulties in outdoor mobility even several years after a hip fracture (Portegijs et al. 2008a). A rather long follow-up with effective rehabilitation after sustained fracture, at least after a hip fracture, may be needed to avoid mobility problems and ADL dependence.

In addition to low muscle power, high level of interleukin-6 in serum, reflecting inflammation reaction, is associated with poor recovery of lower extremity function after hip fracture (Miller et al. 2006b). One explanation may be vitamin D deficiency at the time of hip fracture that can interact on higher serum interleukin-6 level (Miller et al. 2007). Low vitamin D level (Visser et al. 2003) and high interleukin-6 level (Miller et al. 2008) either alone or together can impair muscle strength and further impair lower extremity function. Anyhow, in addition to intensive physical rehabilitation (at least 60 minutes per day), a sufficient dose of vitamin D supplementation (Bischoff-

Ferrari et al. 2010; Nurmi-Lüthje et al. 2011 [Epub ahead of print]) can be recommended for hip fracture patients.

#### Mortality

A hip fracture was a powerful independent predictor of long-term excess mortality in both older men and women during the 12-year follow-up. It has been suggested that in people aged 50 years or more, 17-32% of all death cases associated with hip fracture may be causally related to the fracture itself (Kanis et al. 2003). Together with a Danish study (Vestergaard et al. 2007), the finding here supports that hip fracture, not the pre-existing co-morbidity alone, is an independent predictor of excess mortality. The relation between the type or severity of hip fracture and mortality was not analysed in the Lieto study. No differences in mortality rates between intra- and extracapsular hip fractures have been noticed in Finland (Sund et al. 2009). However, patients with extracapsular hip fractures have been reported to require longer total inpatient treatment and they are more likely transferred into long-term care (Sund et al. 2009). The type of hip fracture may have some impact on the functional recovery to performing activities of daily living after the fracture.

In Lieto, excess mortality after a hip fracture was particularly high in men in which the risk of death was eight-fold compared with men without a hip fracture. Overall, the risk of dying after a hip fracture has been reported to be about two times greater for men than for women (Center et al. 1999: Forsén et al. 1999: Kanis et al. 2003: Johnell et al. 2004c; Shortt & Robinson 2005). However, some studies have given opposite results: the female mortality after a hip fracture has been higher than the male mortality (Nurmi et al. 2004; Nurmi-Lüthje et al. 2009). The reason for this difference is unclear. It is noticeable that in Lieto, coronary heart disease and myocardial infarction were found to be significantly more common causes of death in male hip fracture patients than in female patients. Coronary heart disease is related with excess death in hip fracture patients also in another Finnish cohort study (Panula et al. 2009). However, the use of prescribed calcium plus vitamin D after a hip fracture has been reported to reduce three-year mortality especially in male hip fracture patients compared with female patients (Nurmi-Lüthje et al. 2009). In a recent nationwide Finnish study, the postfracture mortality was 26 per cent lower among males who used calcium plus vitamin D supplements than among those who did not. Among women the corresponding figure was 21%. There was a tendency to even better survival in both genders if calcium plus vitamin D or vitamin D supplements and anti-osteoporotic drugs were used simultaneously (Nurmi-Lüthje et al. 2011 [Epub ahead of print]).

A hip fracture is associated with substantial increases in proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-6 (Miller et al. 2008; Colon-Emeric et al. 2010). These elevated proinflammatory markers are associated with perioperative complications and worse long-term functional outcomes and are therefore hypothesised to explain the excess infections and cardiovascular events observed during the first two years after hip fracture. Men are more prone to postoperative complications such as pneumonia, arrhythmia, delirium and pulmonary embolism compared with women after a hip fracture (Endo et al. 2005). These postoperative complications themselves may increase the risk of death, and they may delay the rehabilitation process after a hip fracture and may indirectly increase the risk of death. Thus one speculative explanation for differences in mortality rates between men and women after a hip fracture may be associated with proinflammatory cytokines. Unfortunately, postoperative complications or proinflammatory markers were not recorded in the Lieto study.

Another explanation for men's higher mortality rate after a hip fracture may also be found in the care and rehabilitation process after a hip fracture and it is related to inflammation reactions after a hip fracture. No differences in practical rehabilitation interventions after hip fracture surgery have been reported between men and women (Lieberman & Lieberman 2004), but there is evidence that diagnosis and treatment of osteoporosis may be inadequate especially in men (Kiebzak et al. 2002; Riley et al. 2002; Nurmi-Lüthje et al. 2011 [Epub ahead of print]).

#### 7.2.3 Proximal humerus

Even though proximal humerus fractures are relatively common, especially among fit, home-dwelling older women (Court-Brown et al. 2001), little is known about the epidemiology of all kinds of proximal humerus fractures. This is because most of them (80%) are non-displaced or minimally displaced, and therefore, can be managed non-operatively. Thus, they are treated on an outpatient basis and only the most severe cases can be identified from the Hospital Discharge Register. The articles written by the specialists of shoulder traumas and surgery have focused on complex humerus fractures or their complications. For this reason, the epidemiology of all proximal humerus fractures has remained superficial at the population level.

#### Incidence

Proximal humerus fractures are one of the most frequent fracture types in elderly people (Baron et al. 1996; Ismail et al. 2002). In the Lieto Study, the age-specific incidence of proximal humerus fractures among women and men aged 65 years or over varied from 1.5 to 2.8 per 1000 PY in men and from 2.9 to 5.2 per 1000 PY in women. The incidence rate rose with age in women and was highest among those 85 years and older. The incidence rates in both genders in Lieto are higher compared with data collected in England (Court-Brown et al. 2001), in Tasmania (Cooley & Jones 2001) or Europe (Ismail et al. 2002). In another Finnish study among women 80 years and older who were admitted to hospital because of a proximal humerus fracture, the age-adjusted incidence was 3.0 per 1000 PY (298 per 100 000 PY) (Kannus et al. 2009b) and the rates were lower among men compared with women (Kannus 2010 unpublished data). The number of proximal humerus fractures was 4 in men and 25 in women in this study that will debilitate the generalisation of the results.

### Functional decline

The Lieto results support and give new evidence that upper body fractures predict difficulties in managing activities of daily living as long as eight years after a fracture. Proximal humerus fractures have most probably had the strongest influence on these results. Also a follow-up study of proximal humerus fracture patients in Sweden (Olsson et al. 2005) has shown negative consequences of proximal humerus fractures up to 13 years. The study of Olsson and colleagues (2005) did not have a control group or adjustments of other variables related to functional decline.

### Mortality

In the present study, proximal humerus fractures independently predicted long-term excess mortality in older men. Previously, proximal humerus fractures are shown to increase short-term mortality both in men and women (Johnell et al. 2004c; Shortt & Robinson 2005). There are only a few studies with long-term follow-up and data on other covariates associated with mortality (Browner et al. 1996). Sustaining a humerus fracture or a hip fracture may be indicative of remarkably poor underlying health, especially in men.

### 7.2.4 Other fractures

#### Forearm and wrist fractures

The incidence rates of forearm and wrist fractures have been reported to be higher among aged women than men (Kaukonen 1985; Jones et al. 1994; Melton et al. 1998; Kanis et al. 2000; O'Neill et al. 2001; Ismail et al. 2002; Thompson et al. 2004; Flinkkilä et al. 2010). The results in the Lieto Study support these findings. In addition, the age-specific incidence of wrist fractures among women and men aged 65 years or over in this study tended to be similar to those found in Sweden (Kanis et al. 2000) among all age groups, with the exception of women aged 65-79, for whom the rate in Finland was higher. In Australia (Jones et al. 1994), the UK (O'Neill et al. 2001; Thompson et al. 2004) and the USA (Melton et al. 1998), the rates were lower among both men and women over 65 years of age.

One fifth of the patients with non-surgically treated distal radius fractures have been reported to experience severe impairments in functional abilities sometimes even a decade after the trauma (Földhazy et al. 2007), but the results are inconsistent (Greendale et al. 2000). The study of Földhazy et al. (2007) was a case follow-up study without a control group without fractures or adjustments of other variables related to functional decline. In the study of Greendale et al. (2000), a follow-up of 7 years was used and the study was a case-control study with relevant adjustments, but in their study individuals with wrist fractures did not experience a statistically significant decline in any performance measure compared with the no fracture group. Therefore, the results of the present study give new findings: upper body fractures predicted difficulties in activities of daily life after 8 years. It was surprising that the decline in ADL functions was not found in short-term follow-ups. It is possible that the number

of upper-body fractures was too small, and statistical tests could not show the relationship. In addition, hand grip strength was not measured during the follow-up. However, wrist fractures seem to reduce quality of life, at least in a 1-year follow-up (Borgström et al. 2006).

Wrist and forearm fractures did not predict higher mortality in this study. This result is similar to the results from previous studies (Cooper et al. 1993; Johnell et al. 2004c). Wrist fracture patients are on average 10 years younger (average age 67.6 years) than hip fracture patients (average age 77.5 years) when sustaining a fracture (Endres et al. 2006). They also have less co-morbidities and better functional abilities compared with hip fracture patients (Endres et al. 2006).

#### *Vertebral compression fractures*

It is reported that only 30% of all vertebral fractures are diagnosed clinically (Haczynski & Jakimiuk 2001; Old & Calvert 2004). Thus, it is likely that vertebral fractures have been missed also in Lieto during the follow-up. The incidence of clinically diagnosed vertebral fractures was low in this study with only a slight increase with age. Previous studies have shown that vertebral fractures are associated with older age in both genders (Felsenberg et al. 2002).

In the present study, neither vertebral fractures at the baseline nor new vertebral fractures during the follow-up predicted increased mortality. The follow-ups of the previous studies have been shorter and the number of confounding variables has been more restricted (Cooper et al. 1993; Center et al. 1999; van Staa et al. 2001; Johnell et al. 2004c) which may explain the differences between the results. The number of clinically detected vertebral fractures in this study was too small to allow subgroup analyses. When vertebral fractures at the baseline were entered into the multivariate analyses, no association between vertebral fractures and mortality during the follow-up was found. Even though, this study was underpowered to show association between vertebral fractures sustained during the follow-up, it seems that vertebral fractures are associated with mortality through other causes of death rather than being a direct cause. There is also evidence that this excess can be partly explained by an association with other health and lifestyle factors associated with death (Ismail et al. 1998). Short-term mortality after a fracture was not analysed here, which may explain some results contradictory to previous results (Cooper et al. 1993; Center et al. 1999; van Staa et al. 2001; Johnell et al. 2004c).

Almost one half of female patients with vertebral fractures have been reported to have recurrent back pain and impaired health status for as long as 12 years after the fracture (Hasserius et al. 2005). The consequences of vertebral fractures may include also compromised respiratory functions (Greendale & Barrett-Connor 2008). Unfortunately, the amount of vertebral fractures was too small in this study to allow analysing the associations of these fractures with the abilities of daily living. It is noticeable that vertebral fractures have considerable impact on the quality of life (Borgström et al. 2006).

### 7.3 Implications for further studies

The high incidence and severe consequences of fractures are major reasons that emphasize the importance of fracture prevention. Even though the trend of hip and proximal humerus fractures has been reported to have stabilised during the last decade (Kannus et al. 2006; Kannus et al. 2009b), these conclusions are based mainly on hospital-based records and Cause of Death Statistics. These records can be used only in analysing the change in the incidences of the most severe fractures needing inpatient hospital treatment. We do not know if the incidence rates of other fractures have changed. There is a need for several cross-sectional population-based studies assessing the changes in the incidence of fractures.

Risk factors vary by type of fracture (Honkanen et al. 1998; Hippisley-Cox & Coupland 2009; Kelsey & Samelson 2009; Jokinen et al. 2010). Thus, sustaining a fracture depends most likely on the gender and the individual risk profile. For determining these fracture-specific dependencies, a huge data including wide-range background data of the subjects and a long follow-up about the fractures are needed. This requires collaboration between researchers both nationally and internationally, for comparing data and conducting meta-analyses.

The true impact of fractures on functional decline is mostly unknown, especially in physically more active persons. Because older people are a highly heterogeneous group, more sensitive assessment tools should be developed in assessing the impact of fractures on functional capacities especially in the most active persons. In addition, we should assess the impact of different fractures as well as follow the results of the care and rehabilitation on functional abilities more regularly (van Beeck et al. 2007) and more individually, including also hobby-related tasks (Rockwood 2007).

The first task is to identify individuals at risk of falling and sustaining a fracture. Even though screening tools for identifying persons at high risk of fractures have been developed (Black et al. 2001; Kanis et al. 2008b), these tools do not specify gender differences. More focus should also be given on resolving individual genetic and life-style factors in analysing predictors for hip fractures (Moayyeri et al. 2006).

Besides positive evidence about fall prevention, less is known about the effectiveness of programs directed at the prevention of fall-related injuries and fractures. More information is needed regarding the effects of multifactorial interventions designed to focus on both fall prevention and bone strength. It is most likely that people who have both fragile bones (osteoporosis) and increased risk of falling should receive the highest priority for preventive actions (Kanis et al. 2002; Lee et al. 2002; Woolf & Åkesson 2003). In these actions, national-, race- and gender-specific individual risk factors should be taken into account. More specific risk calculator programmes could be useful in daily clinical use.

# 8. CONCLUSIONS

- 1. Fractures are a common public health problem among the elderly in Finland: every fourth person aged 65 years or older sustains at least one fracture during the 12-year follow-up. The majority of the fractures occur in women. The age-adjusted incidence of all fractures remained stable between 1991 and 2002.
- 2. In general, the incidence of fractures increased with age, except for forearm and wrist fractures.
- 3. Predictors of fractures differ between genders: reduced handgrip strength and low or normal body mass index predict fractures in women, whereas depressive symptoms predict fractures in men. Vertebral compression fracture predicts subsequent fractures in both genders.
- 4. A hip fracture predicts mortality both in men and women, whereas fracture of the proximal humerus predicts mortality only in men. The impact of hip and proximal fractures on mortality is stronger in men than in women.
- 5. Physical inactivity in leisure time predicts excess mortality and functional decline.
- 6. Fractures decrease functional ability. A lower body fracture predicts decline in mobility and in ADL functions while an upper body fracture predicts decline in ADL functions during a long-term follow-up.

# 9. RECOMMENDATIONS

- 1. Since fractures are common in older people and a costly problem for the public health sector, attention should be paid on the prevention of fractures. Even though the majority of fractures occur in women, attention should be focused also on fractures of older men.
- 2. Prevention of fractures requires the maintenance and promotion of physical activity, muscular strength and nutritional status, and the prevention of depression. Special attention needs to be focused on prevention of bone fragility.
- 3. Fractures decrease mobility and ability to maintain ADL functions. Thus, fracture patients should be followed more intensively until full recovery. Rehabilitation after a fracture is important.
- 4. In minimising the influence of fractures on functional decline and death, research about treatment and rehabilitation effect is needed.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out at the Institute of Clinical Medicine, Department of Family Medicine, University of Turku; the Unit of Family Medicine, Turku University Hospital; the Satakunta Central Hospital, Pori; the Turku City Hospital and the Härkätie Health Centre, Lieto, Finland in 2002-2011. The valuable support of all these institutions made this project possible.

I express my warm gratitude to all the older persons who participated in the Lieto Studies and the personnel who performed the initial examinations in 1990-1991 and 1998-1999, and to the many people who supported my work during the years.

I owe my deepest gratitude to my three supervisors: Professor Sirkka-Liisa Kivelä, Professor Raimo Isoaho and Professor Ismo Räihä. Their excellent knowledge in epidemiology and long clinician experience in geriatrics have been invaluable in preparing this thesis. The great enthusiasm towards scientific research of Professor Sirkka-Liisa Kivelä was the starting point for my research. She introduced me to the expiring scientific world, gave me an opportunity and arranged excellent working facilities. I keep admiring her excellence in writing and giving presentations for variety of audiences, not to mention her everlasting energy. I warmly thank her for all the arrangements she has made for me. Professor Raimo Isoaho guided and encouraged me on several occasions, especially at the beginning of the project. His vast knowledge in scientific research methodology and epidemiology gave a solid basic for my scientific journey. The endless support of Professor Ismo Räihä during the last years has been essential for finishing my study. Ismo's encouragement, harmony and common sense gave me strength and willpower to continue, especially during the vicissitudes along the way.

I warmly thank Adjunct Professor Ilona Nurmi-Lüthje and Adjunct Professor Risto Honkanen, the official reviewers of this thesis, for their constructive criticism, and valuable and educational comments. Their important contribution greatly improved the quality of this thesis.

Biostatician, MSc, Tero Vahlberg with his expertise and invaluable advice concerning statistical methods need to be especially acknowledged. His patience and assiduity for seeking new, more suitable methods for my constant needs for analysing the complex data. His positive attitude and encouragement have been endless. I am grateful to the trustful assistance of Teemu Kemppainen, ADP designer, both during the fracture data collection in Lieto Health Centre and his technical assistance in all computer-related solutions. While "hunting" the medical files in the Lieto Health Centre, Teemu actually cleaned and re-organised the whole registry room. I could not have survived without his help. Besides, Tero and Teemu, you both attested to the importance of the joy of life. There is no creativity without relaxation. With my inborn roots from the town of

Pori and love for sports such as ice hockey, I will carry and cherish "the spade of hearts" in my heart.

I am especially grateful to Jukka Saukkoriipi, System Analyst, for technical assistance in biostatistics and in preparing figures in the manuscripts. Your long experience as a member of the Lieto study group helped a great deal during the project. Thank you also for your cheering e-mails and talks during the Skype meetings. I want to thank also Seppo Niemi, ADP designer and research assistant in the UKK Institute, for his outstanding help in finishing figures, pictures and tables in this thesis. You are amazing.

In addition to my supervisors and biostatician, I want to express my gratitude to all the co-authors of the original publications included in this dissertation; Professor Pertti Aarnio, and Minna Löppönen (PhD, MD). Professor Harri Suominen, *Department of Health Sciences at the University of Jyväskylä*, and Adjunct Professor Kerttu Irjala are warmly acknowledged for commenting the article of the predictors of fractures. Especially I want to thank Minna Löppönen and her husband, Leo Nyqvist, Professor in Social Work, for their support and friendship during the years. On several occasions they arranged a place for me to sleep at their home during my visits in Turku.

I acknowledge the Lieto Health Centre and Turku Health Centre personnel for their positive attitude during the fracture data collections. I am grateful for the previous and present Head Physicians of the Härkätie Health Centre, Veli-Pekka Prinssi and Sirpa Rantanen for their supportive attitude toward research. I am especially indebted to all those persons who handled the baseline data collection of both study waves before my own participation in the study group. In addition, I want to thank my mother Eila Räisänen, retired health centre assistant nurse, for her assistance during the very last phase of the data collection. You are a real professional with medical files.

The research fellows and whole staff at the Unit of Family Medicine and at the Unit of Public Health have kindly assisted me in many ways during the years. I want to thank them all warmly. I am especially grateful to secretaries Ritva Kultalahti and Inger Vaihinen for their help and kindness with numerous matters during the years. Also secretary Selena Nitecki is acknowledged for her assistance in many practical matters, especially during the implementation of the Pysy Pystys project in Pori.

I have been honoured to belong to three different graduate schools; the Ageing, Wellbeing and Technology graduate school; the Nordic Geriatric-Gerontology graduate school and the Turku Graduate School of Clinical Sciences. The scholarships, seminars and support of these organisations are warmly acknowledged. Especially I want to thank Professor Kaisu Pitkälä, one of the head organisers of the Nordic Geriatric-Gerontology graduate school. Her own example as an active, creative and constructive researcher, as well as her personal positive and supportive attitude towards PhD students has been important for my scientific identity. I also want to thank Leif Svanström, Professor Emeritus in Social Medicine in the Karolinska Institut, for his passion towards global injury prevention and safety promotion. During the International PhD courses, held in Toila, Estonia and in Stockholm, Sweden, I have learned the concept of safe communities and that many of the problems in injury research are the same irrespective of the country we live in. From the inspiring teaching and guidance of Shrikant Bangdiwala, Research Professor in Biostatistics from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, I learned to use my own common sense in building multivariate models and in analysing the data. "Everything depends on something". Besides international co-operation, I learned that the true friendship carries across the world. My dear friend, research colleague, PhD in psychology Itsumi Kakefuda from Tokio, Japan, needs a big huge. We have talked, learned from each other, and shared even the feelings about the earthquakes in Japan. You have cheered me and my whole family with our existence. Thank you for your friendship and support; we will be injury research colleagues and friends forever.

I am deeply grateful for the Director of the UKK Institute, Professor Tommi Vasankari, the Administrative Manager Pekka Järvinen, and all the research fellows at the Bone Unit of the UKK Institute, Tampere for offering me facilities to finish my thesis and to continue scientific research after my dissertation in a high quality multidisciplinary team. I especially thank the Head of the Bone Unit, Adjunct Professor Harri Sievänen, Adjunct Professor and Chief Physician Pekka Kannus and Adjunct Professor Mika Palvanen for their support and for sheering their knowledge in injury epidemiology. I am grateful for all staff in the UKK institute for their positive attitudes and solidarity. Especially I want to thank Saija Karinkanta, my friend, colleague and research fellow of more than ten years' standing. In addition to journeys to scientific seminars in several countries, we have shared academic education, articles, and introduced our families to one another. It has been a privilege to work with you.

I express my warm gratitude for Pirkko Huuskonen, MA (transl.), for the revision of the language of most of my articles and this thesis.

From all associations I have been involved with, I want to mention the sports association of Tampereen Ilves, especially the football league for children and teenagers. The staff and voluntary persons have shown me the importance of voluntary work and solidarity to promote physical activity, health and well-being. None of us can survive alone; we all need a place where we can feel ourselves useful and important.

To remember my roots, I want to thank the Rehabilitation Centre of Ikaalinen Spa. The head of the Rehabilitation Unit, Martti Heinisuo, the then Chief Physician Timo Ruusila and the Chief Physiotherapist Anne Lemmetty together with the multidisciplinary staff of the Spa made the starting point of my academic carreer possible in 1998. I have been honoured to work with you and to rehabilitate older persons over a decade. As a descendant of Karelian evacuee people, I owe my deepest gratitude for the war veterans between 1939 and 1945 and for all evacuee people from the Karelia, especially to my late, dear grandmother Aili Lötjönen. I am proud of my Finnish roots.

My family, relatives and friends made this all worthwhile. My godmother Terttu Kippo and her late, beloved husband Pekka have been especially important people for me and my family. They have helped and encouraged me during this long journey. They were always available whatever happened to any member of my family. My sister Salla Lötjönen (soon Silvola), Doctor in medical law, showed me the way ahead and ensured that I follow good practice and ethic in my scientific work. I thank my father Toivo Lötjönen, retired vocational school teacher in electronics, for his wisdom during my childhood; he implemented "the teacher" in me. My dear friend Liisa Lehtonen, you actually introduced me to Professor Kivelä. Here we are! I am grateful for your deep and long lasting friendship, your energy and always optimistic attitude. I could not have had a better friend. For all my other friends; thank you for being around, letting me to be "scientific" and sometimes even unsocial. You all are dear to me.

Finally, I want to thank my dear husband Pauli Piirtola and our beautiful, prudent and joyful children; Eveliina and Eerik-Mikael. This journey was much longer and also harder than expected. We have shared both disappointments and great joys. Although I have spent a lot of time away from you, mentally or physically, you have always been the solid basis for my life. I am grateful that you wanted to share this journey with me, travel with me abroad and to open our home for our new friends from all over the world. I thank you all for your patience and understanding that this was a journey I needed to do. I love you all from the bottom of my heart.

The original Lieto study (baseline data for this thesis) was supported by the Academy of Finland, the Yrjö Jahnsson Foundation and the Finnish Anti-Tuberculosis Association. The financial support in collecting the fracture data, in analysing and writing the original articles as well as writing the thesis was received from the Finnish Cultural Foundation and the Regional Fund of Southwest Finland of the Finnish Cultural Foundation, the La Carita Fund, the Juho Vainio Foundation, the Emil Aaltonen Foundation, grants from the Härkätie Health Centre, Lieto Turku City Hospital, Hospital District of Southwest Finland and the Hospital District of Satakunta. In addition, I have received scholarships or travel grants from the Ageing, Wellbeing and Technology Graduate School, the Turku Graduate School of Clinical Sciences, the Post Graduate School of the University of Turku (Medical Faculty), the Turku University Foundation, the Association of Physiotherapists. They all are humbly and gratefully acknowledged.

Turku, May 2011

Hamit Purtela

# REFERENCES

Agresti A. Categorical Data Analysis. New York, John Wiley & Sons Inc; 2002.

- Ahlborg HG, Rosengren BE, Järvinen TL, Rogmark C, Nilsson JA, Sernbo I, Karlsson MK. Prevalence of osteoporosis and incidence of hip fracture in women-secular trends over 30 years. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2010;11:48.
- Ahmed LA, Schirmer H, Bjørnerem A, Emaus N, Jørgensen L, Størmer J, Joakimsen RM. The gender- and age-specific 10-year and lifetime absolute fracture risk in Tromsø, Norway. Eur J Epidemiol 2009;24:441-448.
- Ahto M, Isoaho R, Puolijoki H, Laippala P, Romo M, Kivelä SL. Prevalence of coronary heart disease, associated manifestations and electrocardiographic findings in elderly Finns. Age Ageing 1998;27:729-737.
- Albrand G, Munoz F, Sornay-Rendu E, DuBoeuf F, Delmas PD. Independent predictors of all osteoporosis-related fractures in healthy postmenopausal women: the OFELY study. Bone 2003;32:78-85.
- Alegre-Lopéz J, Cordero-Guevara J, Alonso-Valdivielso JL, Fernández-Melón J. Factors associated with mortality and functional disability after hip fracture: an inception cohort study. Osteoporos Int 2005;16:729-736.
- AO Foundation. Müller AO Classification of Fractures. Retrieved (5.8.2009 from http://www.aofoundation.org/wps/portal/!ut/p/c1/04\_SB8K8xLLM9MSSzPy8xBz9CP0os3h ng7BARydDRwOLAEM3AyNzF79gP0NTA4NQY6B8JLK8uQdI3tHC3S\_M28jAwIA03a 5BrgZGXsZ-

ZiYGnoYGBsYk6QYqAMo7mfobmgQHGBm4E7LbzyM\_N1W\_IDc0NKLcUREAodbP-Q!!/dl2/d1/L2dJQSEvUUt3QS9ZQnB3LzZfQzBWUUFCMUEwOEVSRTAySjNONjQwS TEwVDU!/?contentUrl=%2fser%2fpub%2fcla%2fao-classification.jsp.

- Aro H, Kettunen J. Luunmurtumat (Bone Fractures). In the book: Traumatologia (Traumatology). Edited: Kröger H, Aro H, Böstman O, Lassus J and Salo J. Helsinki, Kandidaattikustannus Oy, 2010: pages 211-236.
- Baron JA, Karagas M, Barrett J, Kniffin W, Malenka D, Mayor M, Keller RB. Basic epidemiology of fractures of the upper and lower limb among Americans over 65 years of age. Epidemiology 1996;7:612-618.
- Beaupre LA, Cinats JG, Jones CA, Scharfenberger AV, William CJD, Senthilselvan A, Saunders LD. Does functional recovery in elderly hip fracture patients differ between patients admitted from long-term care and the community? J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2007;62:1127-1133.
- Beck TJ, Looker AC, Ruff CB, Sievänen H, Wahner HW. Structural trends in the aging femoral neck and proximal shaft: analysis of the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry data. J Bone Miner Res 2000;15:2297-2304.
- Beck TJ, Petit MA, Wu G, LeBoff MS, Cauley JA, Chen Z. Does obesity really make the femur stronger? BMD, geometry, and fracture incidence in the women's health initiative-observational study. J Bone Miner Res 2009;24:1369-1379.
- Bentler SE, Liu L, Obrizan M, Cook EA, Wright KB, Geweke JF, Chrischilles EA, Pavlik CE, Wallace RB, Ohsfeldt RL, Jones MP, Rosenthal GE, Wolinsky FD. The aftermath of hip fracture: discharge placement, functional status change, and mortality. Am J Epidemiol 2009;170:1290-1299.
- Bergland A, Jarnlo GB, Laake K. Predictors of falls in the elderly by location. Aging Clin Exp Res 2003;15:43-50.
- Bergland A, Wyller TB. Risk factors for serious fall related injury in elderly women living at home. Inj Prev 2004;10:308-313.

- Bergstralh EJ, Sinaki M, Offord KP, Wahner HW, Melton LJ, 3rd. Effect of season on physical activity score, back extensor muscle strength, and lumbar bone mineral density. J Bone Miner Res 1990;5:371-377.
- Bergström U, Björnstig U, Stenlund H, Jonsson H, Svensson O. Fracture mechanisms and fracture pattern in men and women aged 50 years and older: a study of a 12-year population-based injury register, Umea, Sweden. Osteoporos Int 2008;19:1267-1273.
- Bergström U, Jonsson H, Gustafson Y, Pettersson U, Stenlund H, Svensson O. The hip fracture incidence curve is shifting to the right. Acta Orthop 2009;80:520-524.
- Biderman A, Cwikel J, Fried AV, Galinsky D. Depression and falls among community dwelling elderly people: a search for common risk factors. J Epidemiol Community Health 2002;56:631-636.
- Binder EF, Brown M, Sinacore DR, Steger-May K, Yarasheski KE, Schechtman KB. Effects of extended outpatient rehabilitation after hip fracture: a randomized controlled trial. Jama 2004;292:837-846.
- Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Orav JE, Barrett JA, Baron JA. Effect of seasonality and weather on fracture risk in individuals 65 years and older. Osteoporos Int 2007;18:1225-1233.
- Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Dawson-Hughes B, Platz A, Orav EJ, Stahelin HB, Willett WC, Can U, Egli A, Mueller NJ, Looser S, Bretscher B, Minder E, Vergopoulos A, Theiler R. Effect of high-dosage cholecalciferol and extended physiotherapy on complications after hip fracture: a randomized controlled trial. Arch Intern Med 2010;170:813-820.
- Bjålie J, Haug E, Sand O, Sjaastad Ø, Toverud K. Luusto (Skeleton). In the book: Ihminen, Fysiologia ja anatomia Edited: Helsinki, WSOY, 2008: pages 170-186.
- Black DM, Steinbuch M, Palermo L, Dargent-Molina P, Lindsay R, Hoseyni MS, Johnell O. An assessment tool for predicting fracture risk in postmenopausal women. Osteoporos Int 2001;12:519-528.
- Bliuc D, Nguyen ND, Milch VE, Nguyen TV, Eisman JA, Center JR. Mortality risk associated with low-trauma osteoporotic fracture and subsequent fracture in men and women. Jama 2009;301:513-521.
- Boonen S, Dejaeger E, Vanderschueren D, Venken K, Bogaerts A, Verschueren S, Milisen K. Osteoporosis and osteoporotic fracture occurrence and prevention in the elderly: a geriatric perspective. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008;22:765-785.
- Borgström F, Zethraeus N, Johnell O, Lidgren L, Ponzer S, Svensson O, Abdon P, Ornstein E, Lunsjö K, Thorngren KG, Sernbo I, Rehnberg C, Jönsson B. Costs and quality of life associated with osteoporosis-related fractures in Sweden. Osteoporos Int 2006;17:637-650.
- Boskey AL, Coleman R. Aging and bone. J Dent Res 2010;89:1333-1348.
- Boufous S, Finch CF, Lord SR. Incidence of hip fracture in New South Wales: are our efforts having an effect? Med J Aust 2004;180:623-626.
- Bouxsein M. Biomechanics of age-related fractures. In the book: Osteoporosis. Edited: Marcus R, Feldman D, Nelson D and R. C. San Diego, Elsevier Academic Press, 2008: pages 601-623.
- Braithwaite RS, Col NF, Wong JB. Estimating hip fracture morbidity, mortality and costs. J Am Geriatr Soc 2003;51:364-370.
- Brasel KJ, Guse CE, Layde P, Weigelt JA. Rib fractures: relationship with pneumonia and mortality. Crit Care Med 2006;34:1642-1646.
- Brauer CA, Coca-Perraillon M, Cutler DM, Rosen AB. Incidence and mortality of hip fractures in the United States. JAMA 2009;302:1573-1579.
- Brennan SL, Pasco JA, Urquhart DM, Oldenburg B, Hanna FS, Wluka AE. The association between urban or rural locality and hip fracture in community-based adults: a systematic review. J Epidemiol Community Health 2010;64:656-665.

- Breslow NE, Day NE. Statistical methods in cancer research. Volume II-The design and analysis of cohort studies. IARC Scientific Publications 1987;1-406.
- Brogren E, Petranek M, Atroshi I. Incidence and characteristics of distal radius fractures in a southern Swedish region. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2007;8:48.
- Browner WS, Pressman AR, Nevitt MC, Cummings SR. Mortality following fractures in older women. The study of osteoporotic fractures. Arch Intern Med 1996;156:1521-1525.
- Bruyere O, Brandi ML, Burlet N, Harvey N, Lyritis G, Minne H, Boonen S, Reginster JY, Rizzoli R, Åkesson K. Post-fracture management of patients with hip fracture: a perspective. Curr Med Res Opin 2008;24:2841-2851.
- Bulajic-Kopjar M. Seasonal variations in incidence of fractures among elderly people. Inj Prev 2000;6:16-19.
- Bulger EM, Arneson MA, Mock CN, Jurkovich GJ. Rib fractures in the elderly. J Trauma 2000;48:1040-1046; discussion 1046-1047.
- Burshell A, Victores S. Skeletal assessment. In the book: Atlas of clinical endocrinology, Osteoporosis. Edited: R. Marcus. Hong Kong, Paramount Printing Group Limited, 2000: pages 63-72.
- Campbell AJ, Borrie MJ, Spears GF. Risk factors for falls in a community-based prospective study of people 70 years and older. J Gerontol 1989;44:M112-117.
- Center JR, Nguyen TV, Schneider D, Sambrook PN, Eisman JA. Mortality after all major types of osteoporotic fracture in men and women: an observational study. Lancet 1999;353:878-882.
- Chang KP, Center JR, Nguyen TV, Eisman JA. Incidence of hip and other osteoporotic fractures in elderly men and women: Dubbo Osteoporosis Epidemiology Study. J Bone Miner Res 2004;19:532-536.
- Cheng S, Suominen H, Sakari-Rantala R, Laukkanen P, Avikainen V, Heikkinen E. Calcaneal bone mineral density predicts fracture occurrence: a five-year follow-up study in elderly people. J Bone Miner Res 1997;12:1075-1082.
- Chevalley T, Guilley E, Herrmann FR, Hoffmeyer P, Rapin CH, Rizzoli R. Incidence of hip fracture over a 10-year period (1991-2000): reversal of a secular trend. Bone 2007;40:1284-1289.
- Close JC. Falls in Older People: Risk Factors, Assessment and Intervention. IBMS BoneKEy [online]. 2009;6,10: 368-384: 10.1138/20090401.
- Collett D. Modelling Survival Data in Medical Research. London, Chapman & Hall; 2003.
- Colon-Emeric CS, Mesenbrink P, Lyles KW, Pieper CF, Boonen S, Delmas P, Eriksen EF, Magaziner J. Potential mediators of the mortality reduction with zoledronic acid after hip fracture. J Bone Miner Res 2010;25:91-97.
- Committee of the Institute of Medicine Division of Health Care Services. Hip Fracture: Setting Priorities for Effectiveness Research. (1990), 7.5.2008 from http://ezproxy.utu.fi:2191/lib/uniturku/Doc?id=10055068&ppg=1.
- Consensus development conference: diagnosis, prophylaxis, and treatment of osteoporosis. Am J Med 1993;94:646-650.
- Cooley H, Jones G. A population-based study of fracture incidence in southern Tasmania: lifetime fracture risk and evidence for geographic variations within the same country. Osteoporos Int 2001;12:124-130.
- Cooper C, Atkinson EJ, Jacobsen SJ, O'Fallon WM, Melton LJ, 3rd. Population-based study of survival after osteoporotic fractures. Am J Epidemiol 1993;137:1001-1005.
- Court-Brown CM, Garg A, McQueen MM. The epidemiology of proximal humeral fractures. Acta Orthop Scand 2001;72:365-371.
- Court-Brown CM, Caesar B. Epidemiology of adult fractures: A review. Injury 2006;37:691-697.

- Cuddihy MT, Gabriel SE, Crowson CS, O'Fallon WM, Melton LJ, 3rd. Forearm fractures as predictors of subsequent osteoporotic fractures. Osteoporos Int 1999;9:469-475.
- Cumming RG, Klineberg RJ. Fall frequency and characteristics and the risk of hip fractures. J Am Geriatr Soc 1994;42:774-778.
- Cummings SR, Black DM, Nevitt MC, Browner W, Cauley J, Ensrud K, Genant HK, Palermo L, Scott J, Vogt TM. Bone density at various sites for prediction of hip fractures. The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Lancet 1993;341:72-75.
- Cummings SR, Cawthon PM, Ensrud KE, Cauley JA, Fink HA, Orwoll ES. BMD and Risk of Hip and Nonvertebral Fractures in Older Men:A Prospective Study and Comparison With Older Women. J Bone Miner Res 2006;21:1550-1556.
- Currey JD. How well are bones designed to resist fracture? J Bone Miner Res 2003;18:591-598.
- De Laet C, Kanis JA, Oden A, Johanson H, Johnell O, Delmas P, Eisman JA, Kröger H, Fujiwara S, Garnero P, McCloskey EV, Mellström D, Melton LJ, 3rd, Meunier PJ, Pols HA, Reeve J, Silman A, Tenenhouse A. Body mass index as a predictor of fracture risk: a metaanalysis. Osteoporos Int 2005;16:1330-1338.
- Dorland's illustrated medical dictionary. Philadelphia, W.B. Saunders Company, A Harcourt Health Sciences Company; 2000.
- Endo Y, Aharonoff GB, Zuckerman JD, Egol KA, Koval KJ. Gender differences in patients with hip fracture: a greater risk of morbidity and mortality in men. J Orthop Trauma 2005;19:29-35.
- Endres HG, Dasch B, Lungenhausen M, Maier C, Smektala R, Trampisch HJ, Pientka L. Patients with femoral or distal forearm fracture in Germany: a prospective observational study on health care situation and outcome. BMC Public Health 2006;6:87.
- Espallargues M, Sampietro-Colom L, Estrada MD, Solá M, del Rio L, Setoain J, Granados A. Identifying bone-mass-related risk factors for fracture to guide bone densitometry measurements: a systematic review of the literature. Osteoporos Int 2001;12:811-822.
- Espino DV, Palmer RF, Miles TP, Mouton CP, Wood RC, Bayne NS, Markides KP. Prevalence, incidence, and risk factors associated with hip fractures in community-dwelling older Mexican Americans: results of the Hispanic EPESE study. Establish Population for the Epidemiologic Study for the Elderly. J Am Geriatr Soc 2000;48:1252-1260.
- Falch JA, Aho H, Berglund K, Düppe H, Finsen V, Hagström I, Järvinen M, Johnell O, Kaastad TS, Lauritzen JB, Lund B, Lüthje P, Löfman O, Mellström D, Mowinckel P, Rossvoll I, Sernbo I, Witsø E, Zetterberg C. Hip fractures in Nordic cities: difference in incidence. Ann Chir Gynaecol 1995;84:286-290.
- Felsenberg D, Silman A, Lunt M, Armbrecht G, Ismail A, Finn J, Cockerill W, Banzer D, Benevolenskaya L, Bhalla A, Bruges Armas J, Cannata J, Cooper C, Dequeker J, Eastell R, Felsch B, Gowin W, Havelka S, Hoszowski K, Jajic I, Janott J, Johnell O, Kanis J, Kragl G, Lopes Vaz A, Lorenc R, Lyritis G, Masaryk P, Matthis C, al. e. Incidence of vertebral fracture in Europe: results from the European Prospective Osteoporosis Study (EPOS). J Bone Miner Res 2002;17:716-724.
- Ferrar L, Jiang G, Adams J, Eastell R. Identification of vertebral fractures: an update. Osteoporos Int 2005;16:717-728.
- Ferrari S, Ringe J. Pathophysiology of postmenopausal osteoporosis. Bone macro- and microarchitecture. In the book: Atlas of postemenopausal osteoporosis. Edited: R. Rizzoli. London, Current Medicine Group, 2010: pages 1-31.
- Ferrucci L, Guralnik JM, Simonsick E, Salive ME, Corti C, Langlois J. Progressive versus catastrophic disability: a longitudinal view of the disablement process. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 1996;51:M123-130.
- Fisher AA, O'Brien ED, Davis MW. Trends in hip fracture epidemiology in Australia: possible impact of bisphosphonates and hormone replacement therapy. Bone 2009;45:246-253.

- Fletcher RW, Fletcher SW (2005). Clinical Epidemiology. The essentials Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Flinkkilä T, Sirniö K, Hippi M, Hartonen S, Ruuhela R, Ohtonen P, Hyvönen P, Leppilahti J. Epidemiology and seasonal variation of distal radius fractures in Oulu, Finland. Osteoporos Int 2010;
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res 1975;12:189-198.
- Formiga F, Rivera A, Nolla JM, Pujol R. Characteristics of falls producing hip fracture in an elderly population. Gerontology 2004;50:118-119.
- Formiga F, Navarro M, Duaso E, Chivite D, Ruiz D, Perez-Castejon JM, Lopez-Soto A, Pujol R. Factors associated with hip fracture-related falls among patients with a history of recurrent falling. Bone 2008;43:941-944.
- Forsén L, Søgaard AJ, Meyer HE, Edna T, Kopjar B. Survival after hip fracture: short- and long-term excess mortality according to age and gender. Osteoporos Int 1999;10:73-78.
- Freedman VA, Martin LG, Schoeni RF. Recent trends in disability and functioning among older adults in the United States: a systematic review. JAMA 2002;288:3137-3146.
- Földhazy Z, Törnkvist H, Elmstedt E, Andersson G, Hagsten B, Ahrengart L. Long-term outcome of nonsurgically treated distal radius fractures. J Hand Surg [Am] 2007;32:1374-1384.
- Gaebler C, McQueen MM, Court-Brown CM. Minimally displaced proximal humeral fractures: epidemiology and outcome in 507 cases. Acta Orthop Scand 2003;74:580-585.
- Ganz DA, Bao Y, Shekelle PG, Rubenstein LZ. Will my patient fall? Jama 2007;297:77-86.
- Gates S, Fisher JD, Cooke MW, Carter YH, Lamb SE. Multifactorial assessment and targeted intervention for preventing falls and injuries among older people in community and emergency care settings: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 2008;336:130-133.
- Gehlbach SH, Bigelow C, Heimisdottir M, May S, Walker M, Kirkwood JR. Recognition of vertebral fracture in a clinical setting. Osteoporos Int 2000;11:577-582.
- Genant HK, Wu CY, van Kuijk C, Nevitt MC. Vertebral fracture assessment using a semiquantitative technique. J Bone Miner Res 1993;8:1137-1148.
- Gerdhem P, Ringsberg KA, Åkesson K. The relation between previous fractures and physical performance in elderly women. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2006;87:914-917.
- German PS. Measuring functional disability in the older population. Am J Public Health 1981;71:1197-1199.
- Gill TM, Kurland B. The burden and patterns of disability in activities of daily living among community-living older persons. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2003;58:70-75.
- Gill TM, Allore HG, Holford TR, Guo Z. Hospitalization, restricted activity, and the development of disability among older persons. Jama 2004;292:2115-2124.
- Gillespie LD, Robertson MC, Gillespie WJ, Lamb SE, Gates S, Cumming RG, Rowe BH. Interventions for preventing falls in older people living in the community. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2009;CD007146.
- Gillespie WJ. Extracts from "clinical evidence": hip fracture. BMJ 2001;322:968-975.
- Givens JL, Sanft TB, Marcantonio ER. Functional recovery after hip fracture: the combined effects of depressive symptoms, cognitive impairment, and delirium. J Am Geriatr Soc 2008;56:1075-1079.
- Greendale G, Barrett-Connor E. Outcomes of osteoporotic fractures. In the book: Osteoporosis. Edited: Marcus R, Feldman D and Kelsey J. San Diego, Elsevier Academic Press, 2008: pages 959-972.
- Greendale GA, DeAmicis TA, Bucur A, Bretsky P, Rowe JW, Reuben DB, Seeman T. A prospective study of the effect of fracture on measured physical performance: results from the MacArthur Study-MAC. J Am Geriatr Soc 2000;48:546-549.

- Greenspan SL, Myers ER, Maitland LA, Resnick NM, Hayes WC. Fall severity and bone mineral density as risk factors for hip fracture in ambulatory elderly. Jama 1994;271:128-133.
- Greenspan SL, Myers ER, Kiel DP, Parker RA, Hayes WC, Resnick NM. Fall direction, bone mineral density, and function: risk factors for hip fracture in frail nursing home elderly. Am J Med 1998;104:539-545.
- Gruber R, Koch H, Doll BA, Tegtmeier F, Einhorn TA, Hollinger JO. Fracture healing in the elderly patient. Exp Gerontol 2006;41:1080-1093.
- Grønskag AB, Forsmo S, Romundstad P, Langhammer A, Schei B. Incidence and seasonal variation in hip fracture incidence among elderly women in Norway. The HUNT Study. Bone 2010;46:1294-1298.
- Gullberg B, Johnell O, Kanis JA. World-wide projections for hip fracture. Osteoporos Int 1997;7:407-413.
- Haczynski J, Jakimiuk A. Vertebral fractures: a hidden problem of osteoporosis. Med Sci Monit 2001;7:1108-1117.
- Haentjens P, Autier P, Barette M, Venken K, Vanderschueren D, Boonen S. Survival and functional outcome according to hip fracture type: a one-year prospective cohort study in elderly women with an intertrochanteric or femoral neck fracture. Bone 2007;41:958-964.
- Haentjens P, Magaziner J, Colon-Emeric CS, Vanderschueren D, Milisen K, Velkeniers B, Boonen S. Meta-analysis: excess mortality after hip fracture among older women and men. Ann Intern Med 2010;152:380-390.
- Hagino H, Yamamoto K, Ohshiro H, Nakamura T, Kishimoto H, Nose T. Changing incidence of hip, distal radius, and proximal humerus fractures in Tottori Prefecture, Japan. Bone 1999;24:265-270.
- Haleem S, Lutchman L, Mayahi R, Grice JE, Parker MJ. Mortality following hip fracture: trends and geographical variations over the last 40 years. Injury 2008;39:1157-1163.
- Handoll HH, Huntley JS, Madhok R. External fixation versus conservative treatment for distal radial fractures in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2007;CD006194.
- Hannan EL, Magaziner J, Wang JJ, Eastwood EA, Silberzweig SB, Gilbert M, Morrison RS, McLaughlin MA, Orosz GM, Siu AL. Mortality and locomotion 6 months after hospitalization for hip fracture: risk factors and risk-adjusted hospital outcomes. Jama 2001;285:2736-2742.
- Hasserius R, Karlsson MK, Nilsson BE, Redlund-Johnell I, Johnell O. Prevalent vertebral deformities predict increased mortality and increased fracture rate in both men and women: a 10-year population-based study of 598 individuals from the Swedish cohort in the European Vertebral Osteoporosis Study. Osteoporos Int 2003;14:61-68.
- Hasserius R, Karlsson MK, Jonsson B, Redlund-Johnell I, Johnell O. Long-term morbidity and mortality after a clinically diagnosed vertebral fracture in the elderly- a 12- and 22-year follow-up of 257 patients. Calcif Tissue Int 2005;76:235-242.
- Hawkes WG, Wehren L, Orwig D, Hebel JR, Magaziner J. Gender differences in functioning after hip fracture. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2006;61:495-499.
- Hayes WC, Myers ER, Robinovitch SN, van Den Kroonenberg A, Courtney AC, McMahon TA. Etiology and prevention of age-related hip fractures. Bone 1996;18:77S-86S.
- Heikkinen E, Waters W, Brzeniński Z. The Elderly in Eleven Countries, A Sociomedical Survey. Publich Health in Europe 21 World Health Organization. Copenhagen. 1983.
- Hippisley-Cox J, Coupland C. Predicting risk of osteoporotic fracture in men and women in England and Wales: prospective derivation and validation of QFractureScores. BMJ 2009;339:b4229.

- Holt G, Smith R, Duncan K, Hutchison JD, Gregori A. Gender differences in epidemiology and outcome after hip fracture: evidence from the Scottish Hip Fracture Audit. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2008;90:480-483.
- Honkanen K, Honkanen R, Heikkinen L, Kröger H, Saarikoski S. Validity of self-reports of fractures in perimenopausal women. Am J Epidemiol 1999;150:511-516.
- Honkanen R. Hospitalization due to injuries in Finland in 1980. Publications of the University of Kuopio, Statistics and reviews of the department of community health 1/1990. Injury Research Project, Research Institute of Public Health, University of Kuopio. Kuopio. 1990.
- Honkanen R, Tuppurainen M, Kröger H, Alhava E, Puntila E. Associations of early premenopausal fractures with subsequent fractures vary by sites and mechanisms of fractures. Calcif Tissue Int 1997;60:327-331.
- Honkanen R, Tuppurainen M, Kröger H, Alhava E, Saarikoski S. Relationships between risk factors and fractures differ by type of fracture: a population-based study of 12,192 perimenopausal women. Osteoporos Int 1998;8:25-31.
- Honkanen RJ, Honkanen K, Kröger H, Alhava E, Tuppurainen M, Saarikoski S. Risk factors for perimenopausal distal forearm fracture. Osteoporos Int 2000;11:265-270.
- Huopio J, Kröger H, Honkanen R, Saarikoski S, Alhava E. Risk factors for perimenopausal fractures: a prospective study. Osteoporos Int 2000;11:219-227.
- Huusko TM, Karppi P, Avikainen V, Kautiainen H, Sulkava R. The changing picture of hip fractures: dramatic change in age distribution and no change in age-adjusted incidence within 10 years in Central Finland. Bone 1999;24:257-259.
- Härmä M, Heliövaara M, Aromaa A, Knekt P. Thoracic spine compression fractures in Finland. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1986;188-194.
- Icks A, Haastert B, Wildner M, Becker C, Meyer G. Trend of hip fracture incidence in Germany 1995-2004: a population-based study. Osteoporos Int 2008;19:1139-1145.
- Ingemarsson AH, Frändin K, Mellström D, Möller M. Walking ability and activity level after hip fracture in the elderly-a follow-up. J Rehabil Med 2003;35:76-83.
- Inouye SK, Bogardus ST, Jr., Baker DI, Leo-Summers L, Cooney LM, Jr. The Hospital Elder Life Program: a model of care to prevent cognitive and functional decline in older hospitalized patients. Hospital Elder Life Program. J Am Geriatr Soc 2000;48:1697-1706.
- Islam S, Liu Q, Chines A, Helzner E. Trend in incidence of osteoporosis-related fractures among 40- to 69-year-old women: analysis of a large insurance claims database, 2000-2005. Menopause 2009;16:77-83.
- Ismail AA, O'Neill TW, Cooper C, Finn JD, Bhalla AK, Cannata JB, Delmas P, Falch JA, Felsch B, Hoszowski K, Johnell O, Diaz-Lopez JB, Lopez Vaz A, Marchand F, Raspe H, Reid DM, Todd C, Weber K, Woolf A, Reeve J, Silman AJ. Mortality associated with vertebral deformity in men and women: results from the European Prospective Osteoporosis Study (EPOS). Osteoporos Int 1998;8:291-297.
- Ismail AA, Cooper C, Felsenberg D, Varlow J, Kanis JA, Silman AJ, O'Neill TW. Number and type of vertebral deformities: epidemiological characteristics and relation to back pain and height loss. European Vertebral Osteoporosis Study Group. Osteoporos Int 1999;9:206-213.
- Ismail AA, Pye SR, Cockerill WC, Lunt M, Silman AJ, Reeve J, Banzer D, Benevolenskaya LI, Bhalla A, Bruges Armas J, Cannata JB, Cooper C, Delmas PD, Dequeker J, Dilsen G, Falch JA, Felsch B, Felsenberg D, Finn JD, Gennari C, Hoszowski K, Jajic I, Janott J, Johnell O, Kanis JA, Kragl G, Lopez Vaz A, Lorenc R, Lyritis G, Marchand F, Masaryk P, Matthis C, Miazgowski T, Naves-Diaz M, Pols HA, Poor G, Rapado A, Raspe HH, Reid DM, Reisinger W, Scheidt-Nave C, Stepan J, Todd C, Weber K, Woolf AD, O'Neill TW. Incidence of limb fracture across Europe: results from the European Prospective Osteoporosis Study (EPOS). Osteoporos Int 2002;13:565-571.

- Isoaho R, Puolijoki H, Huhti E, Kivelä SL, Tala E. Prevalence of asthma in elderly Finns. J Clin Epidemiol 1994a;47:1109-1118.
- Isoaho R, Puolijoki H, Huhti E, Kivelä SL, Laippala P, Tala E. Prevalence of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in elderly Finns. Respir Med 1994b;88:571-580.
- Jacobsen SJ, Sargent DJ, Atkinson EJ, O'Fallon WM, Melton LJ, 3rd. Population-based study of the contribution of weather to hip fracture seasonality. Am J Epidemiol 1995;141:79-83.
- Jacobsen SJ, Sargent DJ, Atkinson EJ, O'Fallon WM, Melton LJ, 3rd. Contribution of weather to the seasonality of distal forearm fractures: a population-based study in Rochester, Minnesota. Osteoporos Int 1999;9:254-259.
- Jacqmin-Gadda H, Fourrier A, Commenges D, Dartigues JF. Risk factors for fractures in the elderly. Epidemiology 1998;9:417-423.
- Johansen A, Evans RJ, Stone MD, Richmond PW, Lo SV, Woodhouse KW. Fracture incidence in England and Wales: a study based on the population of Cardiff. Injury 1997;28:655-660.
- Johansen A, Harding K, Evans R, Stone M. Trauma in elderly people: what proportion of fractures are a consequence of bone fragility? Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2000;29:215-221.
- Johansson B. Fall injuries among elderly persons living at home. Scand J Caring Sci 1998;12:67-72.
- Johansson I, Larsson G, Hamrin E. Sense of coherence, quality of life, and function among elderly hip fracture patients. Aging (Milano) 1998;10:377-384.
- Johnell O, Kanis JA. An estimate of the worldwide prevalence, mortality and disability associated with hip fracture. Osteoporos Int 2004a;15:897-902.
- Johnell O, Kanis JA, Oden A, Sernbo I, Redlund-Johnell I, Petterson C, De Laet C, Jonsson B. Fracture risk following an osteoporotic fracture. Osteoporos Int 2004b;15:175-179.
- Johnell O, Kanis JA, Oden A, Sernbo I, Redlund-Johnell I, Petterson C, De Laet C, Jonsson B. Mortality after osteoporotic fractures. Osteoporos Int 2004c;15:38-42.
- Johnell O, Kanis JA, Oden A, Johansson H, De Laet C, Delmas P, Eisman JA, Fujiwara S, Kroger H, Mellstrom D, Meunier PJ, Melton LJ, 3rd, O'Neill T, Pols H, Reeve J, Silman A, Tenenhouse A. Predictive value of BMD for hip and other fractures. J Bone Miner Res 2005;20:1185-1194.
- Johnell O, Kanis JA. An estimate of the worldwide prevalence and disability associated with osteoporotic fractures. Osteoporos Int 2006;17:1726-1733.
- Jokinen H, Pulkkinen P, Korpelainen J, Heikkinen J, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi S, Jämsä T, Korpelainen R. Risk factors for cervical and trochanteric hip fractures in elderly women: a population-based 10-year follow-up study. Calcif Tissue Int 2010;87:44-51.
- Jones G, Nguyen T, Sambrook PN, Kelly PJ, Gilbert C, Eisman JA. Symptomatic fracture incidence in elderly men and women: the Dubbo Osteoporosis Epidemiology Study (DOES). Osteoporos Int 1994;4:277-282.
- Jonsson BY, Siggeirsdottir K, Mogensen B, Sigvaldason H, Sigursson G. Fracture rate in a population-based sample of men in Reykjavik. Acta Orthop Scand 2004;75:195-200.
- Järvinen TL, Sievänen H, Khan KM, Heinonen A, Kannus P. Shifting the focus in fracture prevention from osteoporosis to falls. BMJ 2008;336:124-126.
- Kanis JA, Melton LJ, 3rd, Christiansen C, Johnston CC, Khaltaev N. The diagnosis of osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res 1994;9:1137-1141.
- Kanis JA, Johnell O, Oden A, Sembo I, Redlund-Johnell I, Dawson A, De Laet C, Jonsson B. Long-term risk of osteoporotic fracture in Malmo. Osteoporos Int 2000;11:669-674.
- Kanis JA, Johnell O, Oden A, De Laet C, Jonsson B, Dawson A. Ten-year risk of osteoporotic fracture and the effect of risk factors on screening strategies. Bone 2002;30:251-258.
- Kanis JA, Oden A, Johnell O, De Laet C, Jonsson B, Oglesby AK. The components of excess mortality after hip fracture. Bone 2003;32:468-473.

- Kanis JA, Johansson H, Oden A, Johnell O, De Laet C, Eisman JA, McCloskey EV, Mellström D, Melton LJ, 3rd, Pols HA, Reeve J, Silman AJ, Tenenhouse A. A family history of fracture and fracture risk: a meta-analysis. Bone 2004a;35:1029-1037.
- Kanis JA, Johnell O, De Laet C, Johansson H, Oden A, Delmas P, Eisman J, Fujiwara S, Garnero P, Kroger H, McCloskey EV, Mellström D, Melton LJ, Pols H, Reeve J, Silman A, Tenenhouse A. A meta-analysis of previous fracture and subsequent fracture risk. Bone 2004b;35:375-382.
- Kanis JA, Borgström F, De Laet C, Johansson H, Johnell O, Jonsson B, Oden A, Zethraeus N, Pfleger B, Khaltaev N. Assessment of fracture risk. Osteoporos Int 2005a;16:581-589.
- Kanis JA, Johansson H, Johnell O, Oden A, De Laet C, Eisman JA, Pols H, Tenenhouse A. Alcohol intake as a risk factor for fracture. Osteoporos Int 2005b;16:737-742.
- Kanis JA, Johnell O, Oden A, Johansson H, De Laet C, Eisman JA, Fujiwara S, Kröger H, McCloskey EV, Mellstrom D, Melton LJ, Pols H, Reeve J, Silman A, Tenenhouse A. Smoking and fracture risk: a meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int 2005c;16:155-162.
- Kanis JA, Burlet N, Cooper C, Delmas PD, Reginster JY, Borgström F, Rizzoli R. European guidance for the diagnosis and management of osteoporosis in postmenopausal women. Osteoporos Int 2008a;19:399-428.
- Kanis JA, Johnell O, Oden A, Johansson H, McCloskey E. FRAX and the assessment of fracture probability in men and women from the UK. Osteoporos Int 2008b;19:385-397.
- Kannus P, Palvanen M, Niemi S, Parkkari J, Järvinen M, Vuori I. Increasing number and incidence of osteoporotic fractures of the proximal humerus in elderly people. BMJ 1996a;313:1051-1052.
- Kannus P, Parkkari J, Sievänen H, Heinonen A, Vuori I, Järvinen M. Epidemiology of hip fractures. Bone 1996b;18:57S-63S.
- Kannus P, Niemi S, Parkkari J, Palvanen M, Vuori I, Järvinen M. Hip fractures in Finland between 1970 and 1997 and predictions for the future. Lancet 1999;353:802-805.
- Kannus P, Sievänen H, Palvanen M, Järvinen T, Parkkari J. Prevention of falls and consequent injuries in elderly people. Lancet 2005a;366:1885-1893.
- Kannus P, Uusi-Rasi K, Palvanen M, Parkkari J. Non-pharmacological means to prevent fractures among older adults. Ann Med 2005b;37:303-310.
- Kannus P, Niemi S, Parkkari J, Palvanen M, Vuori I, Järvinen M. Nationwide decline in incidence of hip fracture. J Bone Miner Res 2006;21:1836-1838.
- Kannus P, Palvanen M, Niemi S, Parkkari J. Alarming rise in the number and incidence of fallinduced cervical spine injuries among older adults. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2007;62:180-183.
- Kannus P, Niemi S, Parkkari J, Sievänen H, Palvanen M. Declining incidence of low-trauma knee fractures in elderly women: nationwide statistics in Finland between 1970 and 2006. Osteoporos Int 2009a;20:43-46.
- Kannus P, Palvanen M, Niemi S, Sievänen H, Parkkari J. Rate of proximal humeral fractures in older Finnish women between 1970 and 2007. Bone 2009b;44:656-659.
- Kannus P, personal communication, 2010 unpublished data.
- Kaptoge S, Benevolenskaya LI, Bhalla AK, Cannata JB, Boonen S, Falch JA, Felsenberg D, Finn JD, Nuti R, Hoszowski K, Lorenc R, Miazgowski T, Jajic I, Lyritis G, Masaryk P, Naves-Diaz M, Poor G, Reid DM, Scheidt-Nave C, Stepan JJ, Todd CJ, Weber K, Woolf AD, Roy DK, Lunt M, Pye SR, O'Neill T W, Silman AJ, Reeve J. Low BMD is less predictive than reported falls for future limb fractures in women across Europe: results from the European Prospective Osteoporosis Study. Bone 2005;36:387-398.
- Karinkanta S, Piirtola M, Sievänen H, Uusi-Rasi K, Kannus P. Physical therapy approaches to reduce fall and fracture risk among older adults. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2010;6:396-407.

- Katz S, Ford AB, Moskowitz RW, Jackson BA, Jaffe MW. Studies of Illness in the Aged. the Index of Adl: a Standardized Measure of Biological and Psychosocial Function. Jama 1963;185:914-919.
- Kaukonen JP. Fractures of the distal forearm in the Helsinki district. Ann Chir Gynaecol 1985;74:19-21.
- Kaukonen JP, Karaharju EO, Porras M, Lüthje P, Jakobsson A. Functional recovery after fractures of the distal forearm. Analysis of radiographic and other factors affecting the outcome. Ann Chir Gynaecol 1988;77:27-31.
- Kelsey JL, Browner WS, Seeley DG, Nevitt MC, Cummings SR. Risk factors for fractures of the distal forearm and proximal humerus. The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Am J Epidemiol 1992;135:477-489.
- Kelsey JL, Samelson EJ. Variation in risk factors for fractures at different sites. Curr Osteoporos Rep 2009;7:127-133.
- Kempen GI, Scaf-Klomp W, Ranchor AV, Sanderman R, Ormel J. Social predictors of recovery in late middle-aged and older persons after injury to the extremities: a prospective study. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2001;56:S229-236.
- Kempen GI, Ormel J, Scaf-Klomp W, Van Sonderen E, Ranchor AV, Sanderman R. The role of perceived control in the process of older peoples' recovery of physical functions after fallrelated injuries: a prospective study. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2003;58:P35-41.
- Kempen GI, Sanderman R, Scaf-Klomp W, Ormel J. Gender differences in recovery from injuries to the extremities in older persons. A prospective study. Disabil Rehabil 2003;25:827-832.
- Kempen GI, Ranchor AV, Ormel J, van Sonderen E, van Jaarsveld C, Sanderman R. Perceived control and long-term changes in disability in late middle-aged and older persons: An eight-year follow-up study. Psychology and Health 2005;20:193-206.
- Khan KM, McKay H, Kannus P, Baile D, Wark J, Bennell K, Forwood M. Anatomy and Physiology. In the book: Physical activity and bone health. Edited: K. M. Khan, H. McKay, P. Kannus, D. Baile, J. Wark and K. Bennell. United States of America, Human Kinetics, 2001: pages 3-21.
- Kiebzak GM, Beinart GA, Perser K, Ambrose CG, Siff SJ, Heggeness MH. Undertreatment of osteoporosis in men with hip fracture. Arch Intern Med 2002;162:2217-2222.
- Kirke PN, Sutton M, Burke H, Daly L. Outcome of hip fracture in older Irish women: a 2-year follow-up of subjects in a case-control study. Injury 2002;33:387-391.
- Klenk J, Nagel G, Ulmer H, Strasak A, Concin H, Diem G, Rapp K. Body mass index and mortality: results of a cohort of 184,697 adults in Austria. Eur J Epidemiol 2009;24:83-91.
- Koski K, Luukinen H, Laippala P, Kivelä SL. Physiological factors and medications as predictors of injurious falls by elderly people: a prospective population-based study. Age Ageing 1996;25:29-38.
- Kröger H, Huopio J, Honkanen R, Tuppurainen M, Puntila E, Alhava E, Saarikoski S. Prediction of fracture risk using axial bone mineral density in a perimenopausal population: a prospective study. J Bone Miner Res 1995;10:302-306.
- Laitalainen E, Helakorpi S, Uutela A. Eläkeikäisen väestön terveyskäyttäytyminen ja terveys keväällä 2007 ja niiden muutokset 1993-2007 (Health Behaviour and Health among Finnish Elderly, Spring 2007, with trends 1993-2007). Kansanterveyslaitoksen julkaisuja (Publications of the National Publich Health Institute) B 14/2008. Kansanterveyslaitos (KTL-National Public Health Institute Finland). Helsinki. 2008.
- Langley J, Stephenson S, Cryer C, Borman B. Traps for the unwary in estimating person based injury incidence using hospital discharge data. Inj Prev 2002;8:332-337.

- Lau EM, Lee JK, Suriwongpaisal P, Saw SM, Das De S, Khir A, Sambrook P. The incidence of hip fracture in four Asian countries: the Asian Osteoporosis Study (AOS). Osteoporos Int 2001;12:239-243.
- Lawton MP, Brody EM. Assessment of older people: self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. Gerontologist 1969;9:179-186.
- Leclerc BS, Bégin C, Cadieux E, Goulet L, Leduc N, Kergoat MJ, Lebel P. Risk factors for falling among community-dwelling seniors using home-care services: an extended hazards model with time-dependent covariates and multiple events. Chronic Dis Can 2008;28:111-120.
- Leclerc BS, Bégin C, Cadieux E, Goulet L, Allaire JF, Meloche J, Leduc N, Kergoat MJ. Relationship between home hazards and falling among community-dwelling seniors using home-care services. Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique 2010;58:3-11.
- Lee SH, Dargent-Molina P, Breart G. Risk factors for fractures of the proximal humerus: results from the EPIDOS prospective study. J Bone Miner Res 2002;17:817-825.
- Leibson CL, Tosteson AN, Gabriel SE, Ransom JE, Melton LJ. Mortality, disability, and nursing home use for persons with and without hip fracture: a population-based study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2002;50:1644-1650.
- Leslie WD, O'Donnell S, Jean S, Lagace C, Walsh P, Bancej C, Morin S, Hanley DA, Papaioannou A. Trends in hip fracture rates in Canada. Jama 2009;302:883-889.
- Lieberman D, Lieberman D. Rehabilitation following hip fracture surgery: a comparative study of females and males. Disabil Rehabil 2004;26:85-90.
- Linjakumpu T, Hartikainen S, Klaukka T, Veijola J, Kivelä SL, Isoaho R. Use of medications and polypharmacy are increasing among the elderly. J Clin Epidemiol 2002;55:809-817.
- Lofthus CM, Osnes EK, Falch JA, Kaastad TS, Kristiansen IS, Nordsletten L, Stensvold I, Meyer HE. Epidemiology of hip fractures in Oslo, Norway. Bone 2001;29:413-418.
- Lofthus CM, Frihagen F, Meyer HE, Nordsletten L, Melhuus K, Falch JA. Epidemiology of distal forearm fractures in Oslo, Norway. Osteoporos Int 2008;19:781-786.
- Lord SR, McLean D, Stathers G. Physiological factors associated with injurious falls in older people living in the community. Gerontology 1992;38:338-346.
- Lord SR, Sherrington C, H M. Falls in older people. Risk factors and strategies for prevention. Cambridge, University Press; 2001.
- Lord SR, Menz HB, Sherrington C. Home environment risk factors for falls in older people and the efficacy of home modifications. Age Ageing 2006;35 Suppl 2:ii55-ii59.
- Luukinen H, Koski K, Hiltunen L, Kivelä SL. Incidence rate of falls in an aged population in northern Finland. J Clin Epidemiol 1994;47:843-850.
- Luukinen H, Koski K, Honkanen R, Kivelä SL. Incidence of injury-causing falls among older adults by place of residence: a population-based study. J Am Geriatr Soc 1995;43:871-876.
- Lüthje P, Kataja M, Nurmi I, Santavirta S, Avikainen V. Four-year survival after hip fracturesan analysis in two Finnish health care regions. Ann Chir Gynaecol 1995a;84:395-401.
- Lüthje P, Nurmi I, Kataja M, Heliovaara M, Santavirta S. Incidence of pelvic fractures in Finland in 1988. Acta Orthop Scand 1995b;66:245-248.
- Lüthje P, Peltonen A, Nurmi I, Kataja M, Santavirta S. No differences in the incidences of old people's hip fractures between urban and rural populations--a comparative study in two Finnish health care regions in 1989. Gerontology 1995c;41:39-44.
- Lönnroos E, Kautiainen H, Karppi P, Huusko T, Hartikainen S, Kiviranta I, Sulkava R. Increased incidence of hip fractures. A population based-study in Finland. Bone 2006;39:623-627.
- Löppönen M, Raihä I, Isoaho R, Vahlberg T, Kivelä SL. Diagnosing cognitive impairment and dementia in primary health care - a more active approach is needed. Age Ageing 2003;32:606-612.

- Magaziner J, Hawkes W, Hebel JR, Zimmerman SI, Fox KM, Dolan M, Felsenthal G, Kenzora J. Recovery from hip fracture in eight areas of function. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2000;55:M498-507.
- Magaziner J, Fredman L, Hawkes W, Hebel JR, Zimmerman S, Orwig DL, Wehren L. Changes in functional status attributable to hip fracture: a comparison of hip fracture patients to community-dwelling aged. Am J Epidemiol 2003;157:1023-1031.
- Mahoney FI, Barthel DW. Functional Evaluation: the Barthel Index. Md State Med J 1965;14:61-65.
- Marsh JL, Slongo TF, Agel J, Broderick JS, Creevey W, DeCoster TA, Prokuski L, Sirkin MS, Ziran B, Henley B, Audigé L. Fracture and dislocation classification compendium - 2007: Orthopaedic Trauma Association classification, database and outcomes committee. J Orthop Trauma 2007;21:S1-133.
- Mehta KM, Yaffe K, Covinsky KE. Cognitive impairment, depressive symptoms, and functional decline in older people. J Am Geriatr Soc 2002;50:1045-1050.
- Melton LJ, 3rd. Epidemiology of Fractures. In the book: Osteoporosis: Etiology, Diagnosis, and Management. Edited: B. L. Riggs and L. J. Melton, 3rd. Philadelphia, Lippincott-Raven Publishers, 1995: pages 225-247.
- Melton LJ, 3rd, Amadio PC, Crowson CS, O'Fallon WM. Long-term trends in the incidence of distal forearm fractures. Osteoporos Int 1998;8:341-348.
- Melton LJ, 3rd, Atkinson EJ, Cooper C, O'Fallon WM, Riggs BL. Vertebral fractures predict subsequent fractures. Osteoporos Int 1999a;10:214-221.
- Melton LJ, 3rd, Crowson CS, O'Fallon WM. Fracture incidence in Olmsted County, Minnesota: comparison of urban with rural rates and changes in urban rates over time. Osteoporos Int 1999b;9:29-37.
- Melton LJ, 3rd. Adverse outcomes of osteoporotic fractures in the general population. J Bone Miner Res 2003;18:1139-1141.
- Melton LJ, 3rd, Kearns AE, Atkinson EJ, Bolander ME, Achenbach SJ, Huddleston JM, Therneau TM, Leibson CL. Secular trends in hip fracture incidence and recurrence. Osteoporos Int 2009;20:687-694.
- Merrill SS, Seeman TE, Kasl SV, Berkman LF. Gender differences in the comparison of selfreported disability and performance measures. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 1997;52:M19-26.
- Mezuk B, Eaton WW, Golden SH. Depression and osteoporosis: epidemiology and potential mediating pathways. Osteoporos Int 2008;19:1-12.
- Miller PD. Guidelines for the diagnosis of osteoporosis: T-scores vs fractures. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 2006a;7:75-89.
- Miller RR, Cappola AR, Shardell MD, Hawkes WG, Yu-Yahiro JA, Hebel JR, Magaziner J. Persistent changes in interleukin-6 and lower extremity function following hip fracture. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2006b;61:1053-1058.
- Miller RR, Hicks GE, Shardell MD, Cappola AR, Hawkes WG, Yu-Yahiro JA, Keegan A, Magaziner J. Association of serum vitamin D levels with inflammatory response following hip fracture: the Baltimore Hip Studies. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2007;62:1402-1406.
- Miller RR, Shardell MD, Hicks GE, Cappola AR, Hawkes WG, Yu-Yahiro JA, Magaziner J. Association Between Interleukin-6 and Lower Extremity Function After Hip Fracture-The Role of Muscle Mass and Strength. J Am Geriatr Soc 2008;56:1050-1056.
- Milliken LA, Wilhelmy J, Martin CJ, Finkenthal N, Cussler E, Metcalfe L, Guido TA, Going SB, Lohman TG. Depressive symptoms and changes in body weight exert independent and site-specific effects on bone in postmenopausal women exercising for 1 year. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2006;61:488-494.

- Mirchandani S, Aharonoff GB, Hiebert R, Capla EL, Zuckerman JD, Koval KJ. The effects of weather and seasonality on hip fracture incidence in older adults. Orthopedics 2005;28:149-155.
- Moayyeri A, Soltani A, Larijani B, Naghavi M, Alaeddini F, Abolhassani F. Epidemiology of hip fracture in Iran: results from the Iranian Multicenter Study on Accidental Injuries. Osteoporos Int 2006;17:1252-1257.
- Morgan E, Barnes G, Einhorn T. The bone organ system: form and function. In the book: Osteoporosis. Edited: Marcus R, Feldman D, Nelson D and Rosen C. Amsterdam, Elsevier, 2008: pages 3-25.
- Morgan E, Bouxsein M. Biomechanics of bone and age-related fractures. In the book: Principles of bone biology, Two-Volume Set, 1-2. Edited: Bilezikian J, Raisz L and Martin TJ. The Uniteted States of America, Academic Press, 2008: pages 29-51.
- Mussolino ME. Depression and hip fracture risk: the NHANES I epidemiologic follow-up study. Public Health Rep 2005;120:71-75.
- Mähönen M, Salomaa V, Keskimäki I, Moltchanov V. The feasibility of routine mortality and morbidity register data linkage to study the occurrence of acute coronary heart disease events in Finland. The Finnish Cardiovascular Diseases Registers (CVDR) Project. Eur J Epidemiol 2000;16:701-711.
- Mönkkönen R, Poikonen M, Honkanen R. Vammojen tilastollisten indikaattoreiden käytön luotettavuus (Reliability of statistical indicators for nonfatal injuries). Publications of the University of Kuopio, Statistics and reviews of the department of community health 1/1989. Injury Research Project, Research Institute of Public Health, University of Kuopio. Kuopio. 1989.
- Nachreiner NM, Findorff MJ, Wyman JF, McCarthy TC. Circumstances and consequences of falls in community-dwelling older women. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2007;16:1437-1446.
- Neer CS, 2nd. Displaced proximal humeral fractures. I. Classification and evaluation. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1970;52:1077-1089.
- Nevitt MC, Cummings SR, Hudes ES. Risk factors for injurious falls: a prospective study. J Gerontol 1991;46:M164-170.
- Nguyen ND, Eisman JA, Center JR, Nguyen TV. Risk factors for fracture in nonosteoporotic men and women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007;92:955-962.
- Nieves J. Nonskeletal risk factors for osteoporosis and fractures. In the book: Osteoporosis. Edited: R. Marcus, Feldman, D., Nelson, D., Rosen, C. Amsterdam, Elsevier, 2008: pages 887-909.
- Nilsson G, Jonsson K, Ekdahl C, Eneroth M. Outcome and quality of life after surgically treated ankle fractures in patients 65 years or older. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2007;8:127.
- Nordin C. Reflections on Osteoporosis. In the book: Osteoporosis. Edited: R. Marcus, Feldman, D., Nelson, D., Rosen, C. Amsterdam, Elsevier, 2008: pages 47-69.
- Northridge ME, Nevitt MC, Kelsey JL, Link B. Home hazards and falls in the elderly: the role of health and functional status. Am J Public Health 1995;85:509-515.
- Nurmi-Lüthje I, Lüthje P, Kaukonen JP, Kataja M, Kuurne S, Naboulsi H, Karjalainen K. Postfracture prescribed calcium and vitamin D supplements alone or, in females, with concomitant anti-osteoporotic drugs is associated with lower mortality in elderly hip fracture patients: a prospective analysis. Drugs Aging 2009;26:409-421.
- Nurmi-Lüthje I, Sund R, Juntunen M, Lüthje P. Post-hip fracture use of prescribed calcium plus vitamin D or vitamin D supplements and anti-osteoporotic drugs are associated with lower mortality. A nationwide study in Finland. J Bone Miner Res 2011 [Epub ahead of print];Feb 23. Doi: 10.1002/jbmr.375.:
- Nurmi-Lüthje I, personal communication, 2011 unpublished data.

- Nurmi I, Narinen A, Lüthje P, Tanninen S. Cost analysis of hip fracture treatment among the elderly for the public health services: a 1-year prospective study in 106 consecutive patients. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 2003;123:551-554.
- Nurmi I, Narinen A, Lüthje P, Tanninen S. Functional outcome and survival after hip fracture in elderly: a prospective study of 106 consecutive patients. J Orthopaed Traumatol 2004;5:7-14.
- Nurmi I, Kaukonen JP, Lüthje P, Naboulsi H, Tanninen S, Kataja M, Kallio ML, Leppilampi M. Half of the patients with an acute hip fracture suffer from hypovitaminosis D: a prospective study in southeastern Finland. Osteoporos Int 2005;16:2018-2024.
- O'Neill TW, Felsenberg D, Varlow J, Cooper C, Kanis JA, Silman AJ. The prevalence of vertebral deformity in european men and women: the European Vertebral Osteoporosis Study. J Bone Miner Res 1996;11:1010-1018.
- O'Neill TW, Cooper C, Finn JD, Lunt M, Purdie D, Reid DM, Rowe R, Woolf AD, Wallace WA. Incidence of distal forearm fracture in British men and women. Osteoporos Int 2001;12:555-558.
- Old JL, Calvert M. Vertebral compression fractures in the elderly. Am Fam Physician 2004;69:111-116.
- Olsson C, Nordqvist A, Petersson CJ. Increased fragility in patients with fracture of the proximal humerus: a case control study. Bone 2004;34:1072-1077.
- Olsson C, Nordquist A, Petersson CJ. Long-term outcome of a proximal humerus fracture predicted after 1 year: a 13-year prospective population-based follow-up study of 47 patients. Acta Orthop 2005;76:397-402.
- Owens WD, Felts JA, Spitznagel EL, Jr. ASA physical status classifications: a study of consistency of ratings. Anesthesiology 1978;49:239-243.
- Palvanen M, Kannus P, Parkkari J, Pitkäjärvi T, Pasanen M, Vuori I, Järvinen M. The injury mechanisms of osteoporotic upper extremity fractures among older adults: a controlled study of 287 consecutive patients and their 108 controls. Osteoporos Int 2000;11:822-831.
- Pande I, Scott DL, O'Neill TW, Pritchard C, Woolf AD, Davis MJ. Quality of life, morbidity, and mortality after low trauma hip fracture in men. Ann Rheum Dis 2006;65:87-92.
- Panula J, Pihlajamäki H, Sävelä M, Jaatinen PT, Vahlberg T, Aarnio P, Kivelä SL. Cervical hip fracture in a Finnish population: incidence and mortality. Scand J Surg 2009;98:180-188.
- Papaioannou A, Joseph L, Ioannidis G, Berger C, Anastassiades T, Brown JP, Hanley DA, Hopman W, Josse RG, Kirkland S, Murray TM, Olszynski WP, Pickard L, Prior JC, Siminoski K, Adachi JD. Risk factors associated with incident clinical vertebral and nonvertebral fractures in postmenopausal women: the Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study (CaMos). Osteoporos Int 2005;16:568-578.
- Papaioannou A, Kennedy CC, Cranney A, Hawker G, Brown JP, Kaiser SM, Leslie WD, O'Brien CJ, Sawka AM, Khan A, Siminoski K, Tarulli G, Webster D, McGowan J, Adachi JD. Risk factors for low BMD in healthy men age 50 years or older: a systematic review. Osteoporos Int 2009;20:507-518.
- Parker MJ, Martin S. Falls, hip fractures and the weather. Eur J Epidemiol 1994;10:441-442.
- Parker MJ. Fractures of the neck of the femur. Trauma 2008;10:43-53.
- Parkkari J, Kannus P, Palvanen M, Natri A, Vainio J, Aho H, Vuori I, Järvinen M. Majority of hip fractures occur as a result of a fall and impact on the greater trochanter of the femur: a prospective controlled hip fracture study with 206 consecutive patients. Calcif Tissue Int 1999;65:183-187.
- Pearse EO, Redfern DJ, Sinha M, Edge AJ. Outcome following a second hip fracture. Injury 2003;34:518-521.

- Pekkanen J, Manton KG, Stallard E, Nissinen A, Karvonen MJ. Risk factor dynamics, mortality and life expectancy differences between eastern and western Finland: the Finnish Cohorts of the Seven Countries Study. Int J Epidemiol 1992;21:406-419.
- Perkins AJ, Kroenke K, Unutzer J, Katon W, Williams JW, Hope C, Callahan CM. Common comorbidity scales were similar in their ability to predict health care costs and mortality. J Clin Epidemiol 2004;57:1040-1048.
- Pietschmann P, Rauner M, Sipos W, Kerschan-Schindl K. Osteoporosis: an age-related and gender-specific disease--a mini-review. Gerontology 2008;55:3-12.
- Piirtola M, Hartikainen S, Akkanen J, Isoaho R, Ryynänen O-P, Kivelä S-L. Lääkärin hoitoa vaativat iäkkäiden kaatumisvammat (Injurious falls needing medical care in older population). Suomen Lääkärilehti 2001;57:4903-4907.
- Piirtola M, Sintonen H, Akkanen J, Isoaho R, Ryynänen O-P, Kivelä S-L. läkkäiden kaatumisvammojen akuuttihoidon kustannukset (The costs of acute care of fall injuries in older population). Suomen Lääkärilehti 2002;57:4841-4848.
- Pongchaiyakul C, Nguyen ND, Jones G, Center JR, Eisman JA, Nguyen TV. Asymptomatic vertebral deformity as a major risk factor for subsequent fractures and mortality: a long-term prospective study. J Bone Miner Res 2005;20:1349-1355.
- Portegijs E, Kallinen M, Rantanen T, Heinonen A, Sihvonen S, Alen M, Kiviranta I, Sipilä S. Effects of resistance training on lower-extremity impairments in older people with hip fracture. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2008a;89:1667-1674.
- Portegijs E, Sipilä S, Rantanen T, Lamb SE. Leg extension power deficit and mobility limitation in women recovering from hip fracture. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2008b;87:363-370.
- Proctor R, Wade R, Woodward Y, Pendleton N, Baldwin R, Tarrier N, Horan M, Burns A. The impact of psychological factors in recovery following surgery for hip fracture. Disabil Rehabil 2008;30:716-722.
- Päivärinta A, Verkkoniemi A, Niinistö L, Kivelä SL, Sulkava R. The prevalence and associates of depressive disorders in the oldest-old Finns. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 1999;34:352-359.
- Rainio A. Zungin lomakkeiston sensitiivisyys ja spesifisyys epidemiolgisessa tutkimuksessa [Sensitivity and spesificity of Zung Self-rating Depression Scale (ZSDS) in epidemiological studies]. University of Oulu, Department of Public Health Science and General Practise. Oulu, Finland. 1991.
- Rapp K, Cameron ID, Kurrle S, Klenk J, Kleiner A, Heinrich S, König HH, Becker C. Excess mortality after pelvic fractures in institutionalized older people. Osteoporos Int 2010;21:1835-1839.
- Riley RL, Carnes ML, Gudmundsson A, Elliott ME. Outcomes and secondary prevention strategies for male hip fractures. Ann Pharmacother 2002;36:17-23.
- Rissanen P, Noro A. Ikääntyvien potilaiden hoito- ja kotiuttamiskäytännöt : rekisteripohjainen analyysi aivohalvaus- ja lonkkamurtumapotilaista (The care and discharge of older patients: register-based analysis of stroke and hip fracture patients). Aiheita. Stakes 1999 ; 44. Stakes. 1999.
- Roberts SE, Goldacre MJ. Time trends and demography of mortality after fractured neck of femur in an English population, 1968-98: database study. BMJ 2003;327:771-775.
- Rockwood K. The measuring, meaning and importance of activities of daily living (ADLs) as an outcome. Int Psychogeriatr 2007;19:467-482.
- Rogmark C, Sernbo I, Johnell O, Nilsson JA. Incidence of hip fractures in Malmo, Sweden, 1992-1995. A trend-break. Acta Orthop Scand 1999;70:19-22.
- Rosell PA, Parker MJ. Functional outcome after hip fracture. A 1-year prospective outcome study of 275 patients. Injury 2003;34:529-532.

- Sakuma M, Endo N, Oinuma T, Endo E, Yazawa T, Watanabe K, Watanabe S. Incidence and outcome of osteoporotic fractures in 2004 in Sado City, Niigata Prefecture, Japan. J Bone Miner Metab 2008;26:373-378.
- Salminen M, Isoaho R, Vahlberg T, Ojanlatva A, Kivelä SL. Effects of a health advocacy, counselling, and activation programme on depressive symptoms in older coronary heart disease patients. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2005;20:552-558.

Sambrook P, Cooper C. Osteoporosis. Lancet 2006;367:2010-2018.

- Sambrook PN, Cameron ID, Chen JS, Cumming RG, Lord SR, March LM, Schwarz J, Seibel MJ, Simpson JM. Influence of fall related factors and bone strength on fracture risk in the frail elderly. Osteoporos Int 2007;18:603-610.
- Sanders DW, MacLeod M, Charyk-Stewart T, Lydestad J, Domonkos A, Tieszer C. Functional outcome and persistent disability after isolated fracture of the femur. Can J Surg 2008;51:366-370.
- Sanders KM, Pasco JA, Ugoni AM, Nicholson GC, Seeman E, Martin TJ, Skoric B, Panahi S, Kotowicz MA. The exclusion of high trauma fractures may underestimate the prevalence of bone fragility fractures in the community: the Geelong Osteoporosis Study. J Bone Miner Res 1998;13:1337-1342.
- Sanders KM, Seeman E, Ugoni AM, Pasco JA, Martin TJ, Skoric B, Nicholson GC, Kotowicz MA. Age- and gender-specific rate of fractures in Australia: a population-based study. Osteoporos Int 1999;10:240-247.
- Santavirta S, Konttinen YT, Heliövaara M, Knekt P, Lüthje P, Aromaa A. Determinants of osteoporotic thoracic vertebral fracture. Screening of 57,000 Finnish women and men. Acta Orthop Scand 1992;63:198-202.
- Schwartz AV, Kelsey JL, Maggi S, Tuttleman M, Ho SC, Jonsson PV, Poor G, Sisson de Castro JA, Xu L, Matkin CC, Nelson LM, Heyse SP. International variation in the incidence of hip fractures: cross-national project on osteoporosis for the World Health Organization Program for Research on Aging. Osteoporos Int 1999;9:242-253.
- Schwartz AV, Nevitt MC, Brown BW, Jr., Kelsey JL. Increased falling as a risk factor for fracture among older women: the study of osteoporotic fractures. Am J Epidemiol 2005;161:180-185.
- Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network. Management of hip fracture in older people. A national clinical guideline. Retrieved (5.2. 2010.), from www.sign.ac.uk.
- Seeley DG, Browner WS, Nevitt MC, Genant HK, Scott JC, Cummings SR. Which fractures are associated with low appendicular bone mass in elderly women? The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Ann Intern Med 1991;115:837-842.
- Seeley DG, Kelsey J, Jergas M, Nevitt MC. Predictors of ankle and foot fractures in older women. The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. J Bone Miner Res 1996;11:1347-1355.
- Seeman E. Modelling and remodellig. The cellular machinery responsible for the gain and loss of bone's material and structural strenght. In the book: Principles of bone biology, Two-Volume Set, 1-2. Edited: J. Bilezikian, L. Raisz and T. J. Martin. Academic Press, 2008: pages 3-28.
- Shortt NL, Robinson CM. Mortality after low-energy fractures in patients aged at least 45 years old. J Orthop Trauma 2005;19:396-400.
- Silva MJ. Biomechanics of osteoporotic fractures. Injury 2007;38 Suppl 3:S69-76.
- Sirmali M, Turut H, Topcu S, Gulhan E, Yazici U, Kaya S, Tastepe I. A comprehensive analysis of traumatic rib fractures: morbidity, mortality and management. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2003;24:133-138.
- Skoog A, Söderqvist A, Törnkvist H, Ponzer S. One-year outcome after tibial shaft fractures: results of a prospective fracture registry. J Orthop Trauma 2001;15:210-215.

- Statistics Finland. Causes of death. Retrieved (5.10. 2009), from http://www.stat.fi/meta/til/ksyyt en.html.
- Statistics Finland. Kuolemansyytilaston laatuseloste (Quality of statistics on causes of death ). Retrieved (2.7. 2010), from http://www.stat.fi/til/ksyyt/2008/ksyyt\_2008\_2010-02-16 laa 001.html.
- Stel VS, Pluijm SM, Deeg DJ, Smit JH, Bouter LM, Lips P. Functional limitations and poor physical performance as independent risk factors for self-reported fractures in older persons. Osteoporos Int 2004;15:742-750.
- Sterling DA, O'Connor JA, Bonadies J. Geriatric falls: injury severity is high and disproportionate to mechanism. J Trauma 2001;50:116-119.
- Stevens JA, Corso PS, Finkelstein EA, Miller TR. The costs of fatal and non-fatal falls among older adults. Inj Prev 2006;12:290-295.
- Stuck AE, Walthert JM, Nikolaus T, Bula CJ, Hohmann C, Beck JC. Risk factors for functional status decline in community-living elderly people: a systematic literature review. Soc Sci Med 1999;48:445-469.
- Sund R. Lonkkamurtumien ilmaantuvuus Suomessa 1998-2002 (The incidence of hip fractures in Finland during 1998-2002). Duodecim 2006;122:1085-1091.
- Sund R. Utilization of routinely collected administrative data in monitoring the incidence of aging dependent hip fracture. Epidemiol Perspect Innov 2007;4:2.
- Sund R, Nurmi-Lüthje I, Lüthje P, Tanninen S, Narinen A, Keskimäki I. Comparing properties of audit data and routinely collected register data in case of performance assessment of hip fracture treatment in Finland. Methods Inf Med 2007;46:558-566.
- Sund R, Juntunen M, Lüthje P, Huusko T, Mäkelä M, Linna M, Liski A, Häkkinen U. PERFECT Lonkkamurtuma. Hoitoketjun toimivuus, vaikuttavuus ja kustannukset lonkkamurtumapotilaalla (PERFECT- hip fracture). STAKES. Helsinki. 2008.
- Sund R, Riihimäki J, Mäkelä M, Vehtari A, Lüthje P, Huusko T, Häkkinen U. Modelling the length of the care episode after hip fracture: does the type of fracture matter? Scand J Surg 2009;98:169-174.
- Sund R, personal communication, 2011 unpublished data.
- Sweet MG, Sweet JM, Jeremiah MP, Galazka SS. Diagnosis and treatment of osteoporosis. Am Fam Physician 2009;79:193-200.
- Szklo M. Population-based cohort studies. Epidemiol Rev 1998;20:81-90.
- Söderqvist A, Ekström W, Ponzer S, Pettersson H, Cederholm T, Dalén N, Hedström M, Tidermark J. Prediction of mortality in elderly patients with hip fractures: a two-year prospective study of 1,944 patients. Gerontology 2009;55:496-504.
- Søgaard AJ, Joakimsen RM, Tverdal A, Fønnebø V, Magnus JH, Berntsen GK. Long-term mental distress, bone mineral density and non-vertebral fractures. The Tromsø Study. Osteoporos Int 2005;16:887-897.
- Tamayo-Orozco J, Arzac-Palumbo P, Peon-Vidales H, Mota-Bolfeta R, Fuentes F. Vertebral fractures associated with osteoporosis: patient management. Am J Med 1997;103:44S-48S; discussion 48S-50S.
- The American Geriatrics Society, British Geriatrics Society, and American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons Panel on Falls Prevention. Guideline for the prevention of falls in older persons. J Am Geriatr Soc 2001;49:664-672.
- The American Geriatrics Society. AGS/BGS clinical practice guideline: prevention of falls in older persons. Retrieved (30.3 2011), from http://www.americangeriatrics.org/health\_care\_professionals/clinical\_practice/clinical\_guid elines\_recommendations/2010/.
- The British Orhopaedic Association. The care of patients with fragility fracture (the Blue Book). (2007), 5.2.2010 from http://www.nhfd.co.uk/.
- The WHO. Tautiluokitus ICD-10 (International Classification of Diseases ICD-10). Rauma, Kirjapaino Oy West Point; 1995.
- The WHO. Prevention and management of osteoporosis. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser 2003;921:1-164.
- The WHO. (18.11.2009). International Classification of Diseases (ICD). from http://www.who.int/classifications/icd/en/.
- The WHO Study Group. Assessment of fracture risk and its application to screening for postmenopausal osteoporosis. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser 1994;843:1-129.
- Theander E, Jarnlo GB, Ornstein E, Karlsson M. Activities of daily living decrease similarly in hospital-treated patients with a hip fracture or a vertebral fracture: a one-year prospective study in 151 patients. Scand J Public Health 2004;32:356-360.
- Thompson PW, Taylor J, Dawson A. The annual incidence and seasonal variation of fractures of the distal radius in men and women over 25 years in Dorset, UK. Injury 2004;35:462-466.
- Tinetti ME, Speechley M, Ginter SF. Risk factors for falls among elderly persons living in the community. N Engl J Med 1988;319:1701-1707.
- Tinetti ME, Doucette J, Claus E, Marottoli R. Risk factors for serious injury during falls by older persons in the community. J Am Geriatr Soc 1995;43:1214-1221.
- Tinetti ME, Williams CS. Falls, injuries due to falls, and the risk of admission to a nursing home. N Engl J Med 1997;337:1279-1284.
- Tinetti ME, Kumar C. The patient who falls: "It's always a trade-off". Jama 2010;303:258-266.
- Tosteson AN, Gottlieb DJ, Radley DC, Fisher ES, Melton LJ, 3rd. Excess mortality following hip fracture: the role of underlying health status. Osteoporos Int 2007;18:1463-1472.
- Tromp AM, Smit JH, Deeg DJ, Bouter LM, Lips P. Predictors for falls and fractures in the Longitudinal Aging Study Amsterdam. J Bone Miner Res 1998;13:1932-1939.
- Tsuboi M, Hasegawa Y, Suzuki S, Wingstrand H, Thorngren KG. Mortality and mobility after hip fracture in Japan: a ten-year follow-up. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2007;89:461-466.
- Valtola A, Honkanen R, Kröger H, Tuppurainen M, Saarikoski S, Alhava E. Lifestyle and other factors predict ankle fractures in perimenopausal women: a population-based prospective cohort study. Bone 2002;30:238-242.
- van Beeck EF, Larsen CF, Lyons RA, Meerding WJ, Mulder S, Essink-Bot ML. Guidelines for the conduction of follow-up studies measuring injury-related disability. J Trauma 2007;62:534-550.
- van Bemmel T, Vandenbroucke JP, Westendorp RG, Gussekloo J. In an observational study elderly patients had an increased risk of falling due to home hazards. J Clin Epidemiol 2005;58:63-67.
- van Helden S, van Geel AC, Geusens PP, Kessels A, Nieuwenhuijzen Kruseman AC, Brink PR. Bone and fall-related fracture risks in women and men with a recent clinical fracture. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2008;90:241-248.
- van Staa TP, Dennison EM, Leufkens HG, Cooper C. Epidemiology of fractures in England and Wales. Bone 2001;29:517-522.
- Vandevenne J, Bergman G, Lang P. Radiology of osteoporotic fractures. In the book: Atlas of clinical endocrinology, Osteoporosis. Edited: R. Marcus. Hong Kong, Paramount Printing Group Limited, 2000: pages 53-61.
- Waters W, Heikkinen E, Dontas A. Health, Lifestyles and Services for the Elderly. Public Health in Europe 29. World Health Organization. Copenhagen. 1989.
- Waugh EJ, Lam MA, Hawker GA, McGowan J, Papaioannou A, Cheung AM, Hodsman AB, Leslie WD, Siminoski K, Jamal SA. Risk factors for low bone mass in healthy 40-60 year old women: a systematic review of the literature. Osteoporos Int 2009;20:1-21.
- Verbrugge LM, Jette AM. The disablement process. Soc Sci Med 1994;38:1-14.

- Vestergaard P, Mosekilde L. Fracture risk associated with smoking: a meta-analysis. J Intern Med 2003;254:572-583.
- Vestergaard P, Rejnmark L, Mosekilde L. Increased mortality in patients with a hip fractureeffect of pre-morbid conditions and post-fracture complications. Osteoporos Int 2007;18:1583-1593.
- White SC, Atchison KA, Gornbein JA, Nattiv A, Paganini-Hill A, Service SK. Risk factors for fractures in older men and women: The Leisure World Cohort Study. Gend Med 2006;3:110-123.
- Whitson HE, Sanders L, Pieper CF, Gold DT, Papaioannou A, Richards JB, Adachi JD, Lyles KW. Depressive symptomatology and fracture risk in community-dwelling older men and women. Aging Clin Exp Res 2008;20:585-592.
- Whooley MA, Kip KE, Cauley JA, Ensrud KE, Nevitt MC, Browner WS. Depression, falls, and risk of fracture in older women. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Arch Intern Med 1999;159:484-490.
- Willig R, Keinänen-Kiukaaniemi S, Jalovaara P. Mortality and quality of life after trochanteric hip fracture. Public Health 2001;115:323-327.
- Visser M, Deeg DJ, Lips P. Low vitamin D and high parathyroid hormone levels as determinants of loss of muscle strength and muscle mass (sarcopenia): the Longitudinal Aging Study Amsterdam. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003;88:5766-5772.
- Woolf AD, Åkesson K. Preventing fractures in elderly people. BMJ 2003;327:89-95.
- Wu Q, Magnus JH, Liu J, Bencaz AF, Hentz JG. Depression and low bone mineral density: a meta-analysis of epidemiologic studies. Osteoporos Int 2009;20:1309-1320.
- Young Y, Brant L, German P, Kenzora J, Magaziner J. A longitudinal examination of functional recovery among older people with subcapital hip fractures. J Am Geriatr Soc 1997;45:288-294.
- Zebaze RM, Seeman E. Epidemiology of hip and wrist fractures in Cameroon, Africa. Osteoporos Int 2003;14:301-305.
- Zung WW. A Self-Rating Depression Scale. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1965;12:63-70.

## **APPENDICES**

**Appendix Table 1.** Baseline characteristics of socio-demographic, education, occupation and economical factors among men and women during the 12-year (n=1177) and 8-year (n=616) follow-ups in the Lieto study of fractures.

Characteristics	Men		Women	
	<b>12 years</b> n=482 n (%)	<b>8 years</b> n=241 n (%)	<b>12 years</b> n=695 n (%)	<b>8 years</b> n=375 n (%)
Socio-demographic				
Age group at baseline - 64-74 - 75-84 - 85+	318 (66) 145 (30) 19 ( 4)	192 (80) 46 (19) 3 (1)	406 (58) 226 (33) 63 (9)	270 (72) 94 (25) 11 (3)
<ul> <li>Marital status</li> <li>married or co-habiting</li> <li>single, widowed, divorced or judicial separation</li> </ul>	361 (75) 121 (25)	197 (82) 44 (18)	288 (41) 407 (59)	182 (49) 193 (51)
Type of dwelling - own home or sheltered housing - with another person - alone - long-term institutional care	372 (77) 91 (19) 19 ( 4)	206 (85) 31 (13) 4 ( 2)	377 (54) 273 (39) 45 ( 6)	220 (59) 152 (41) 3 (1)
Education, occupation and economical status				
Education - more than basic - basic - less than basic	35 ( 7) 400 (83) 47 (10)	24 (10) 198 (82) 19 ( 8)	45 ( 7) 579 (83) 71 (10)	26 ( 7) 321 (86) 28 ( 7)
<ul> <li>Previous occupation</li> <li>teaching, administration, home work and work in office</li> <li>constructive, manual work in industry or farming</li> </ul>	396 (82) 86 (18)	44 (18) 197 (82)	447 (64) 248 (36)	134 (36) 241 (64)
Economical status - highest - middle - lowest	15 ( 3) 379 (79) 88 (18)	11 ( 5) 190 (79) 40 (17)	4 ( 1) 406 (58) 285 (41)	3 ( 1) 219 (58) 153 (41)

Appendix Table 2. Baseline characteristics of physical functional abilities among men and	
women during the 12-year (n=1177) and 8-year (n=616) follow-ups in the Lieto study of	
fractures.	

Characteristics	Men Women				
	<b>12 years</b> n=482 n (%)	<b>8 years</b> n=241 n (%)	<b>12 years</b> n=695 n (%)	<b>8 years</b> n=375 n (%)	
Managing in mobility, ADL and IADL tasks* (missing values 3)					
<ul> <li>independently with no difficulties in any task</li> </ul>	255 (53)	155 (64)	265 (38)	203 (54)	
- with difficulties or dependence in at least one task	227 (47)	86 (36)	427 (62)	172 (46)	
Mobility <sup>†</sup>					
- independent in all tasks	317 (66)	182 (76)	360 (52)	251 (67)	
- difficulties at least in one task, but not	92 (19)	42 (17)	180 (26)	90 (24)	
dependent in any task	73 (15)		155 (22)		
- dependent at least in one task		17 (7)		34 (9)	
$ADL^{\dagger\dagger}$					
- independent in all tasks	372 (77)	215 (89)	507 (73)	321 (86)	
- difficulties at least in one task, but not dependent in any task	59 (12)	23 (10)	94 (13,5)	41 (11)	
- dependent at least in one task	51 (11)	3 (1)	94 (13,5)	13 ( 3)	
- independent in all tasks	283 (59)	175 (73)	296 (43)	223 (59)	
- difficulties at least in one task, but not dependent in any task	69 (14)	36 (15)	107 (15)	57 (15)	
- dependent at least in one task	130 (27)	30 (12)	292 (42)	95 (25)	
Mobility aids (missing values 6)					
- no aids	410 (85)	224 (93)	546 (79)	337 (90)	
- walking aids	61 (13)	17 (7)	106 (15)	33 (9)	
- wheelchair or other	10 ( 2)	0 ( 0)	40 ( 6)	3 (1)	

\* Includes 14 questions about mobility (moving outdoors, walking between rooms, negotiating stairs, walking at least 400 metres), ADL (toileting, washing and bathing, dressing and undressing, getting in and out of bed, eating) and IADL (doing one's cooking, doing light housework, doing heavy housework, carrying a 5 kg load, cutting one's toe nails).

<sup>†</sup> Mobility functions include 4 questions about moving outdoors, walking between rooms, negotiating stairs, walking at least 400 metres. <sup>††</sup> ADL functions include 5 questions about toileting, washing and bathing, dressing and undressing, getting in and out of bed, eating. <sup>†††</sup> IADL functions includes 4 questions about doing one's cooking, doing light housework, doing heavy housework and carrying a 5 kg load.

Characteristics	Men		Women	Women		
	<b>12 years</b> n=482	<b>8 years</b> n=241	<b>12 years</b> n=695	<b>8 years</b> n=375		
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)		
Smoking (missing values 3)						
- non-smoker	148 (31)	81 (34)	629 (91)	341 (91)		
- ex-smoker	263 (55)	128 (53)	40 ( 6)	21 ( 6)		
- current smoker	71 (15)	32 (13)	23 (3)	13 (3)		
Self-reported leisure-time physical exercise (missing values 1)						
- yes	243 (51)	147 (61)	273 (39)	196 (52)		
- no	238 (49)	94 (39)	422 (61)	179 (48)		
Cognitive ability (MMSE score)						
(missing values 7)						
- 24-30	393 (82)	226 (94)	553 (80)	337 (90)		
- 18-23	61 (13)	12 (5)	84 (12)	31 (8)		
<ul> <li>≤ 17</li> </ul>	25 (5)	3(1)	54 (8)	6(2)		
Depressive symptoms (missing values 111) (ZSDS score)						
- 20-44	358 (82)	202 (86)	512 (81)	308 (84)		
- 45 -80	78 (18)	33 (14)	118 (19)	60 (16)		

**Appendix Table 3.** Baseline characteristics of health behaviour, cognitive ability and depressive symptoms among the men and women during the 12-year (n=1177) and 8-year (n=616) follow-ups in the Lieto study of fractures.

Appendix Table 4. Baseline characteristics of clinical and medical data among men and
women during the 12-year (n=1177) and 8-year (n=616) follow-ups in the Lieto study of
fractures.

Characteristics	Men		Women	
	12 years	8 years	12 years	8 years
	n=482	n=241	n=695	n=375
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)				
(M=men; W=women)				
- M 168+ W 170+	125 (26)	57 (24)	185 (27)	99 (26)
- M 136-167 W 140-169	237 (49)	121 (50)	350 (50)	195 (52)
- M <136 W <140	120 (25)	63 (26)	160 (23)	81 (22)
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)				
- 90+	168 (35)	92 (38)	234 (34)	120 (32)
- 78-89	215 (45)	105 (44)	304 (44)	182 (49)
- ≤77	99 (21)	44 (18)	157 (23)	73 (19)
Handgrip strength (kPa)				
(missing values 52)				
(M=men; W=women)				
- M 86 + W 76 +	120 (26)	79 (33)	169 (26)	112 (30)
- M 55 -85 W 48 -75	232 (50)	124 (52)	330 (50)	200 (54)
- $M \le 54$ $W \le 47$	116 (25)	36 (15)	158 (24)	60 (16)
Body mass index (BMI)				
(missing values 2)				
- 30+	96 (20)	49 (20)	228 (33)	121 (32)
- 25 - 29.9	234 (49)	135 (56)	271 (39)	167 (45)
- <25	151 (31)	57 (24)	195 (28)	87 (23)
Binocular sight				
- 0.3 +	448 (95)	234 (98)	613 (92)	357 (96)
- < 0.3	24 ( 5)	6 ( 2)	50 ( 8)	16 ( 4)
Ability to read printed text				
- yes	453 (96)	238 (100)	636 (95)	366 (98)
- no	20 ( 4)	1 ( 0)	36 (5)	8 (2)
Ability to hear whisper or talk within 1-5				
meters (bilateral) (missing values 5)				
- yes	455 (95)	233 (97)	662 (96)	370 (99)
- no	26 (5)	8 (3)	29 ( 4)	5(1)

Characteristics	Men		Women	
	<b>12 years</b> n=482	<b>8 years</b> n=241	<b>12 years</b> n=695	<b>8 years</b> n=375
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Number of prescribed drugs	124 (26)	78 (32)	127 (18)	87 (23)
- 0	279 (58)	142 (59)	398 (57)	233 (62)
- 1-5 - ≥6	16 (79)	21 ( 9)	170 (24)	55 ( 9)
Parkinson's disease				
- no	478 (99)	241 (100)	690 (99)	75 (100)
- yes	4(1)	0(0)	5(1)	0(0)
Diabetes				
- no	426 (88)	226 (94)	618 (89)	351 (94)
- yes	56 (12)	15 ( 6)	77(11)	24 ( 6)
Rheumatoid arthritis		/		
- no	471 (98)	237 (98)	680 (98)	370 (99)
- yes	11 ( 2)	4 ( 2)	15 ( 2)	5(1)
Osteoarthosis				
- no	363 (75)	171 (71)	423 (61)	233 (62)
- yes	119 (25)	70 (29)	272 (39)	142 (38)
Cardiovascular disease				
(missing values 51)	335 (77)	185 (78)	516 (78)	208 (83)
- 110 - Ves	133 (28)	51 (22)	142(22)	63 (17)
<i></i>	155 (20)	51 (22)	112 (22)	05 (17)
Cancer	152 (24)	221 (0.0)	(50 (05)	
- no	453 (94)	231 (96)	659 (95)	362 (97)
- yes	29(6)	10(4)	30(3)	13(3)
At least one previous fracture after the age of 45 years but before the baseline				
- no	395 (82)	196 (81)	503 (72)	265 (71)
- yes	87 (18)	45 (19)	192 (28)	110 (29)
Vertebral compression fracture/s on a chest radiogram at baseline (missing values 6)				
- no	445 (93)	228 (95)	612 (89)	350 (94)
- ves	36 (7)	13 (5)	78 (11)	24 ( 6)

## (Appendix Table 4 continues)

	Baseline	1990-91		Follow-up	1998-99		
	Men (n=241)	Women (n=375)	Total (n=616)	Men (n=241)	Women (n=375)	Total (n=616)	Mis
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n
All mobility tasks together*							
- independent	182 (75.5)	251 (66.9)	433 (70.3)	102 (43.0)	122 (32.6)	224 (36.7)	
- difficulties	42 (17.4)	90 (24.0)	132 (21.4)	94 (39.7)	141 (37.7)	235 (38.5)	
<ul> <li>dependent</li> </ul>	17 (7.1)	34 ( 9.1)	51 ( 8.3)	41 (17.3)	111 (29.7)	152 (24.9)	5
	p=	0.074		p=0	0.112		
Moving outdoors							
- independent	195 (80.9)	280 (74.7)	475 (77.1)	128 (53.1)	152 (40.5)	280 (45.5)	
- difficulties	44 (18.3)	89 (23.7)	133 (21.6)	92 (38.2)	157 (41.9)	249 (40.4)	
- dependent	2 (0.8)	6 (1.6)	8 (1.3)	21 ( 8.7)	66 (17.6)	87 (14.1)	
	p=	0.182		p=(	0.001		
Walking							
between rooms							
<ul> <li>independent</li> </ul>	209 (86.7)	309 (82.4)	518 (84.1)	175 (72.6)	232 (62.6)	407 (66.2)	
<ul> <li>difficulties</li> </ul>	32 (13.3)	64 (17.1)	96 (15.6)	57 (23.7)	117 (31.3)	174 (28.3)	
<ul> <li>dependent</li> </ul>	0	2 ( 0.5)	2(0.3)	9 ( 3.7)	25 ( 6.7)	34 ( 5.5)	1
	p=	0.313		p=0	0.020		
Negotiating stairs							
<ul> <li>independent</li> </ul>	188 (78.0)	256 (68.3)	444 (72.1)	118 (49.4)	140 (37.5)	224 (36.7)	
<ul> <li>difficulties</li> </ul>	47 (19.5)	100 (26.7)	147 (23.8)	94 (39.3)	144 (38.6)	235 (38.5)	
<ul> <li>dependent</li> </ul>	6 ( 2.5)	19 ( 5.1)	25 ( 4.1)	27 (11.3)	89 (23.9)	152 (24.9)	4
	p=	0.024		p<(	0.001		
Walking at least 400							
metres	102 (70.7)	276 (72.0)	1(9(7(0))	122 (55 7)	157 (41.0)	200 (47.2)	
- independent	192(19.7) 22(12.2)	2/0(/3.0) 72(10.2)	408 (70.0)	133(33.7) 71(207)	137(41.9) 120(24.4)	290 (47.2)	
- unneuties	32(13.3) 17(-7.0)	12(19.2)	104(10.9) 44(71)	(1 (29.7)) 25 (14.6)	129 (34.4) 80 (22 7)	200(32.0) 124(20.2)	2
- dependent	1/(/.0)	-0.152	44 ( 7.1)	33 (14.0) n=(	89 (23.7)	124 (20.2)	2
	p=	0.132		p=c	J.002		

**Appendix Table 5.** Change in independency in managing mobility-related tasks during the 8-year follow-up (1991-99) in the Lieto study of fractures (n=616).

\* All mobility tasks together include ability to move outdoors, walk between rooms, negotiate stairs and walk at least 400 metres and the sum variable was classified into three categories: 1) independent and no difficulties in any of the included tasks, 2) able to carry out the tasks independently but having difficulties at least in one task and 3) dependent on assistance at least in one task.

P-values are calculated with two-sided Chi-Square or Fisher's Exact Tests and represents differences between genders at time of the examination.

Mis= missing.

	Baseline	1990-1991		Follow-up	1998-1999		
	Men (n=241) n (%)	Women (n=375) n (%)	<b>Total</b> (n=616) n (%)	Men (n=241) n (%)	Women (n=375) n (%)	<b>Total</b> (n=616) n (%)	<b>Mis</b> n
All ADL tasks							
- independent - difficulties - dependent	215 (89.2) 23 (9.5) 3 (1.2)	321 (85.6) 41 (10.9) 13 ( 3.5)	536 (87.3) 64 (10.4) 16 ( 2.6)	152 (63.9) 47 (19.8) 39 (16.4)	219 (59.4) 67 (18.2) 83 (22.5) 0 186	371 (59.4) 114 (18.8) 122 (20.1)	9
	P	0.077		P	0.100		
Toileting - independent - difficulties - dependent	230 (95.4) 10 ( 4.2) 1 ( 0.4)	321 (85.6) 29 ( 7.7) 2 ( 0.5)	574 (93.2) 39 ( 6.3) 3 ( 0.5)	173 (71.8) 56 (23.2) 12 ( 5.0)	248 (66.5) 93 (24.9) 32 ( 8.6)	421 (68.5) 149 (24.3) 44 ( 7.2)	1
	p=	0.175		p=	0.181		
Washing and							
bathing - independent - difficulties - dependent	225 (93.4) 14 ( 5.8) 2 ( 0.8) p=	330 (88.0) 32 ( 8.5) 13 ( 3.5) 60.047	555 (90.1) 46 ( 7.5) 15 ( 2.4)	182 (75.5) 22 ( 9.1) 37 (15.4) p=	258 (69.0) 36 ( 9.6) 80 (21.4) 0.156	440 (71.6) 58 ( 9.4) 117 (19.0)	1
Drossing and							
undressing - independent - difficulties - dependent	226 (93.8) 14 ( 5.8) 1 ( 0.4) p=	343 (91.5) 30 ( 8.0) 2 ( 0.5) 0.609	569 (92.4) 44 ( 7.2) 3 ( 0.5)	189 (78.4) 25 (10.4) 27 (11.2) p=	276 (73.6) 54 (14.4) 45 (12.0) 0.303	465 (75.5) 79 (12.8) 72 (11.7)	
Getting in and out of							
bed - independent - difficulties - dependent	225 (93.4) 16 ( 6.6) 0	335 (89.3) 38 (10.1) 2 ( 0.5)	560 (90.9) 54 ( 8.8) 2 ( 0.3)	194 (81.5) 34 (14.3) 10 ( 4.2)	296 (79.8) 50 (13.5) 25 ( 6.7)	490 (80.5) 84 (13.8) 35 ( 5.8)	7
	p=	0.176		p=	0.418		
Eating - independent - difficulties - dependent	238 (98.8) 3 ( 1.2) 0	369 (98.4) 5 ( 1.3) 1 ( 0.3)	607 (98.5) 8 ( 1.3) 1 ( 0.2)	229 (95.4) 8 ( 3.3) 3 ( 1.3)	338 (90.6) 14 ( 3.8) 21 ( 5.6)	567 (92.5) 22 ( 3.6) 24 ( 3.9)	3

**Appendix Table 6.** Change in independency in managing ADL tasks during the 8-year followup (1991-99) in the Lieto study of fractures (n=616).

<sup>†</sup> All ADL tasks include ability to move outdoors, walk between rooms, negotiate stairs and walk at least 400 metres and the sum variable was classified into three categories: 1) independent and no difficulties in any of the included tasks, 2) able to carry out the tasks independently but having difficulties at least in one task and 3) dependent on assistance at least in one task.

P-values are calculated with two-sided Chi-Square or Fisher's Exact Tests and represents differences between genders at time of the examination.

ADL=Activities of daily living, Mis=missing.

	Baseline	1990-1991		Follow-up	1998-1999		
	Men (n=241) n (%)	Women (n=375) n (%)	<b>Total</b> (n=616) n (%)	Men (n=241) n (%)	Women (n=375) n (%)	<b>Total</b> (n=616) n (%)	<b>Mis</b> n
All IADL							
tasks							
- independent	175 (72.6)	223 (59.5)	398 (64 6)	81 (33.6)	69 (18 5)	150(244)	
- difficulties	36 (14.9)	57 (15.2)	93 (15.1)	39 (16.2)	57 (15.2)	96 (15.6)	
- dependent	30 (12.5)	95 (25.3)	125 (20.3)	121 (50.2)	248 (66.3)	369 (60.0)	1
	p<	0.001	( )	p<	0.001	( )	
Preparing							
meals							
- independent	219 (90.9)	326 (86.9)	545 (88.5)	128 (53.1)	243 (64.8)	371 (60.2)	
- difficulties	11 ( 4.6)	38 (10.1)	49 ( 8.0)	41 (17.0)	47 (12.5)	88 (14.3)	
- dependent	11 ( 4.0)	-0.020	22 ( 3.0)	72 (29.9)	85 (22.7)	157 (25.5)	
	P-	-0.029		p-	0.015		
Doing light							
housework							
<ul> <li>independent</li> </ul>	207 (85.9)	303 (80.8)	510 (82.8)	140 (58.1)	195 (52.1)	371 (59.4)	
- difficulties	25 (10.4)	55 (14.7)	80 (13.0)	30 (12.5)	72 (19.3)	102 (16.6)	
- dependent	9 ( 3.7)	17 ( 4.5)	26 ( 4.2)	71 (29.4)	107 (28.6)	178 (28.9)	1
	p=	0.251		p=	0.079		
Doing heavy							
housework							
- independent	182 (75.5)	241 (64.3)	423 (68.7)	101 (41.9)	91 (24.3)	91 (31.2)	
- difficulties	33 (13.7)	59 (15.7)	92 (14.9)	28 (11.6)	59 (15.7)	87 (14.1)	
<ul> <li>dependent</li> </ul>	26 (10.8)	75 (20.0)	101 (16.4)	112 (46.5)	225 (60.0)	337 (54.7)	
	p=	=0.005		p=<	<0.001		
Carrying							
a 5-kg load							
- independent	192 (79.7)	357 (68.5)	449 (72.9)	127 (52.7)	107 (28.6)	234 (38.1)	
- difficulties	33 (13.7)	47 (12.5)	80 (13.0)	43 (17.8)	66 (17.7)	109 (17.7)	
<ul> <li>dependent</li> </ul>	16 ( 6.6)	71 (18.9)	87 (14.1)	71 (29.5)	201 (53.7)	272 (44.2)	1
	p<	0.001		p<	0.001		
Cutting own							
toe nails	102 (80.1)	260 (71.7)	462 (75.0)	110 (45 6)	148 (20 6)	258 (42 0)	
- independent	193 (80.1)	209 (71.7)	402 (73.0)	110 (45.6)	148 (39.0)	238 (42.0) 134 (21.8)	
- dependent	27(11.2) 21(87)	44(11.7)	65 (10.6)	40 (17.9) 83 (34 4)	140(374)	223 (36 3)	1
acpendent	21(0.7) n=	=0.063	35 (10.0)	n=	0.319	-25 (50.5)	
	Р			P			

**Appendix Table 7.** Change in independency in managing IADL tasks during the 8-year followup (1991-99) in the Lieto study of fractures (n=616).

<sup>‡</sup> All IADL task together include ability to prepare meals, do light housework, do heavy housework and carry a 5-kg load and the sum variable was classified into three categories: 1) independent and no difficulties in any of the included tasks, 2) able to carry out the tasks independently but having difficulties at least in one task and 3) dependent on assistance at least in one task.

P-values are calculated with two-sided Chi-Square or Fisher's Exact Tests and represents differences between genders at time of the examination.

IADL= Instrumental activities of daily living, mis=missing.